## Effects of multiple stressors on the structure and function of stream benthic communities



Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of the University of Liverpool for the degree of Doctor in Philosophy

by

Noël Juvigny-Khenafou

Institute of Integrative Biology University of Liverpool May 2020 To Jeanne DECOSTAZ

### Declaration

I, Noël Juvigny-Khenafou, wish to declare that this thesis is my own independent work. It is being submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the award of the degree of PhD. I further declare that this work has never been submitted for any degree at this or any other University, and that the thesis is presented with the consent of my supervisor. Works by other authors, which served as information source, have been duly acknowledged by references to the authors. The views expressed are my own. I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for inter-library loan, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organizations.

along Signed:

Noël Juvigny-Khenafou 1st March 2020

#### Abstract

The development of human activities has intensified and diversified the pressures applied to freshwater ecosystems. Particularly, land use stressors have been very pervasive and widespread. As a result, most freshwater systems are now under the influence of anthropogenic stressors. For instance, agricultural development and urbanisation have elevated the nutrients levels, facilitated the accumulation of chemicals, modified the natural flow velocities and promoted runoffs and sediment loads. Further, stressors often interact with each other, complicating the prediction of their effects on communities and ecosystem functioning; flow velocity and discharge reduction facilitate the accumulation of chemical and fine sediments. In order to evaluate the effect of multiple stressors and inform decision makers, investigations have been conducted worldwide on different trophic levels and ecosystem processes. Most notably, microbes, algae and macroinvertebrates have often been studied in isolation using taxonomic and now molecular methods. However, communities are made of complex population dynamics involving all trophic levels over time, and emergent ecosystem properties such as decomposition or net productivity are the result of multiple interactions between biotic and abiotic parameters. This calls for more holistic approaches encompassing as many facets of biodiversity as possible.

To investigate the effect of multiple land use stressors associated with agriculture and urbanisation, a highly replicated streamside field mesocosm experiment was built and performed in a near-pristine montane environment. The work was conducted in Autumn 2018 in the Jiulongfeng Nature Reserve, Huangshan, Anhui (China) and consisted of 64 experimental units naturally colonised by stream organisms for 3 weeks. I used a 4-factor full-factorial design, manipulating fine sediment deposition, flow velocity and nutrient concentration at two sampling times (2 and 3 weeks of exposure). Linear models were then applied to analyse the temporal response of microbial communities associated with both leaf litter decay and benthic biofilm formation, as well as the benthic macroinvertebrate communities. Additionally, to infer the emergent properties and functional characteristics of the different communities, four commonly used functional indices were investigated: (i) leaf litter decomposition in Chapter 2, (ii) databased predicted functional profile in Chapter 3, (iii) functional traits and (iv) functional diversity in Chapter 4. I then expanded my reflection from

the knowledge acquired in the experimental side of my programme and outlined a novel framework to tackle multiple stressors interactions in riverine networks (Chapter 5).

The molecular analysis of microbial communities showed different impacts on species composition of the different stressors between microbes associated with leaf-litter decomposition and with biofilm development. Indeed, whilst nutrient enrichment and flow velocity reduction appeared to be the most pervasive factors affecting microbial decomposers communities on leaf substrates, fine sediment deposition and flow velocity reduction were most important for biofilm communities. Fine sediment deposition and flow velocity reduction were also the dominant factors driving macroinvertebrate community composition. Furthermore, both molecular analyses indicated that microbial clusters could be identified in response to the dominant stressors. In terms of interactions, 2-way interactions involving sediment and flow velocity reduction (sediment × flow velocity reduction) or nutrient enrichment and sediment (nutrient enrichment × sediment) were the most pervasive overall; 3way interactions involving nutrient enrichment, sediment deposition and flow velocity reduction (nutrient enrichment  $\times$  sediment  $\times$  flow velocity reduction) were also detected. Furthermore, temporal dynamics were also fairly widespread, highlighting the importance of integrating a temporal factor in multiple stressor studies. Finally, in accordance with the existing literature, changes in abiotic factors often led to functional rearrangements of the different communities underlying the environmental filtering and niche selection processes operating in the system.

From integrating the findings of this thesis into the wider subject area, I suggest ecosystem approach to multiple stressor interaction research. Specifically, I propose that future work adopt a spatiotemporal framework better integrating the energy fluxes across trophic levels and the flow of resources and material through riverine networks. Further, combining alpha diversity indices with functional traits aids understanding of the mechanisms that yield emergent ecosystem properties, such as productivity. Together, it is anticipated that spatiotemporal networks and functional measurements will facilitate prediction of the future stability of freshwater systems under stressor accumulation.

This page is left intentionally blank

## Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my grandmother, Jeanne Decostaz, who nurtured my passion for the environment and wildlife from my youngest age. Although you are not here to see this day, I know you carried me throughout the ups and downs of this endeavour.

I would also like to thank my supervisors, Yixin Zhang, David Atkinson, Jeremy 'Jay' Piggott and Naicheng Wu for their support and guidance. I learnt a lot from you all and enjoyed the journey we took together. Special thanks go to Jay for training me and assisting me during all the steps of the ExStream building and experimental design. Your words and personal drive have been inspiring.

I would also like to thank all the people that have assisted me in the fieldwork and lab work most notably Mr Xinhua Cao and all the Jiulongfeng Nature Research staff. None of this would have been possible without your kind help. A massive thank you goes to the lab technicians of the Department of Health and Environment Sciences of XJTLU, particularly Xiao Zhou, Yili Chen and Liangping Long who helped me with sample processing and logistics. Your patience with me has been remarkable.

Thank you to Christoph Matthaei for hosting me in New Zealand in the early days of my programme. I learnt a great deal from you, and you played a significant part in putting this thesis together. I also have a special mention for Akira Terui and Eric Harvey and the very interesting theoretical discussions that we have had this past year.

I would also like to thank my family and friends. To PeiZhi, I don't know what would have had happened without your love. You have been a pillar. Thank you for keeping me grounded and on track. To Mum and Dad, my appreciation goes beyond words and thank you for always believing in me. To my sister Maud, thanks for your encouragements and moral support. To Williamson Gustave, thanks for setting the example: we had a nice ride in China.

My work was supported by the Research Development Fund of Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University (RDF-15-01-50), by the Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu Province (BK20171238) and by a University of Otago 'Priming Partnerships' grant.

Finally, thanks to everyone who has joined me on this journey and is not mentioned here!

## Table of contents

Declarati	ion	III			
Abstract IV					
AcknowledgementsVII					
Table of o	Table of contents				
List of Figures					
List of Tables					
List of pu	List of publications				
Author's	s contribution	XVIII			
1. Chaj	apter 1: General Introduction	20			
1.1.	Stressors in freshwater systems	20			
1.2.	The complexity of interactions between stressors	22			
1.3.	Ecosystem functioning and multiple stressors	24			
1.4.	Taxonomic vs functional approaches to understand the effects of multiple stress 25	ssors			
1.5.	Considering the spatial and temporal context in multiple stressor assessments.	27			
1.6.	Thesis outline and aims	28			
2. Chap decaying	apter 2: Anthropogenic stressors affect fungal more than bacterial communities i g leaf litter: a stream mesocosm experiment	n 32			
2.1.	Abstract	32			
2.2.	Introduction	33			
2.3.	Methods	36			
2.3.1	.1. Study site	36			
2.3.2	.2. ExStream system and experimental design	36			
2.3.3	.3. Stressor manipulation	40			
2.3.4	.4. Leaf bag processing	41			
2.3.5	.5. DNA extraction, PCR amplification and sequencing	41			
2.3.6	.6. Statistical analysis	42			
2.4.	Results	43			
2.4.1	.1. Stressor and time effects on leaf decomposition	43			
2.4.2 treat	.2. Microbial community composition in the different microhabitats post atment exposure	46			
2.4.3	.3. Alpha diversity patterns	47			
2.4.4	.4. Community compositional changes	48			
2.4.5	.5. Persistence of terrestrial microbes after submersion	53			
2.5.	Discussion	53			

2.5.	1. The three stressors compared	54
2.5.	2. Stressor main effects and interactions across time	55
2.5.	3. Stochastic versus deterministic effects of stressors on microbial co	ommunity
com	nposition	
2.5.	4. The terrestrial microbial community matters	
2.5.	5. Limitations and Conclusions	
5. Cha	al profile more than nutrient enrichment	sition and60
3.1.	Abstract	60
3.2.	Introduction	61
3.3.	Methods	64
3.3.	1. Experimental system	64
3.3.	2. Experimental design	64
3.3.	3. Benthic biofilm sampling	64
3.3.	4. DNA extraction, PCR amplification and sequencing	64
3.3.	5. Data analysis	65
3.4.	Results	67
3.4.	1. Class-level microbial community composition	67
3.4.	2. Stressor effects on alpha diversity metrics	68
3.4.	3. Community compositional changes	70
3.4.	4. Correlation between abundant taxa	74
3.4.	5. Taxa responsible for most of the deviations from the control com	munity74
3.4.	.6. Predicted bacterial functions	75
3.5.	Discussion	78
3.5.	1. The three single stressors compared	78
3.5.	2. Stressor interactions and changes in the functional profile	79
3.5.	3. Non-random associations between the abundant taxa	81
3.5.	4. Management implications and conclusion	82
4. Cha	apter 4: Impacts of multiple anthropogenic stressors on stream macroinventive composition and functional diversity.	ertebrate 84
4.1.	Abstract	
4.2.	Introduction	
4.3.	Materials and methods	
4.3.	1. Experimental mesocosm system	87
4.3.	2. Experimental design	
4.3.	3. Macroinvertebrate sampling	
4.3.	4. Species trait data	
4.3.	5. Statistical analysis	90

4.4.	Results	91		
4.4.	1. Community-level metrics	91		
4.4.	2. Body size metrics	91		
4.4.	3. Common invertebrate taxa	93		
4.4.	4. Functional diversity and traits	98		
4.5.	Discussion	103		
4.5.	1. Stressor main effects on the invertebrate community	103		
4.5.	2. Stressor main effects on functional diversity and trait categories	104		
4.5.	3. Interactive effects on community and functionality	105		
4.5.	4. Trait and functional diversity vs. taxonomic and community-level	metrics .107		
5. Chapter 5: Disconnected: How to integrate spatiotemporal complexity in riverine				
multiple	stressor research	108		
5.1.	Abstract	108		
5.2.	From a static to a dynamic multiple stressors research framework	109		
5.3.	Spatiotemporal considerations in ecological networks under multiple st	ressors112		
5.4.	Adaptive bio-management of riverine systems	117		
5.5.	Final remarks	121		
6. Cha	pter 6: Synthesis and future work	122		
6.1.	Comparison among the three stressors	122		
6.2.	Stressor interactions	125		
6.3.	Temporal patterns	127		
6.4.	Merits of taxonomic and functional diversity assessments over time	128		
6.5.	Management implications and future research orientations	129		
References		132		
Appendices		157		
Chapter	2	157		
Chapter	3	172		
Chapter	4	200		

This page is left intentionally blank

## List of Figures

Figure 4.4: Nutrient main effects across sampling dates and three-stressor plots (averaged across both dates) for functional redundancy (Error Bars = +/- SE)......99

## List of Tables

Table 4.4: Summary (p-values and effect sizes) of linear model results of the functional diversity measurements. FRic = Functional richness; FEve = Functional evenness; FDiv = Functional divergence; FR = Functional redundancy. For all manipulated factors, main effects

are classified directionally as positive (+) or negative (–). P-values are bolded where p < 0.05. Effect sizes (partial- $\eta^2$  values; range 0–1) are shown in parentheses for all cases where p < 0.1.

## List of publications

This thesis is based on the following publications:

- I. Zhang, Y., Juvigny-Khenafou, N.P.D., Xiang, H., Lin, Q., Wu, Z. 2019. Multiple Stressors in China's Freshwater Ecoregions. in: Sabater, S., Elosegi, A., Ludwig, R. (Eds.), Multiple Stressors in River Ecosystems. Elsevier, pp. 193–204.
- II. Juvigny-Khenafou, N.P.D., Zhang, Y., Piggott, J.J., Atkinson, D., Matthaei, C.D., Van Bael, S.A., Wu. N. 2020. Anthropogenic stressors affect fungal more than bacterial communities in decaying leaf litter: a stream mesocosm experiment. Science of the Total Environment. *Published*. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135053
- III. Juvigny-Khenafou, N.P.D., Piggott, J.J., Atkinson, D., Zhang, Y., Wu. N., Matthaei, C.D. Fine sediment and flow velocity impact bacterial community and functional profile more than nutrient enrichment. Ecological Applications. *Under review*.
- IV. Juvigny-Khenafou, N.P.D., Piggott, J.J., Atkinson, D., Zhang, Y., Samuel J. Macaulay, S.J., Wu. N., Matthaei, C.D. Impacts of multiple anthropogenic stressors on stream macroinvertebrate community composition and functional diversity. Limnology and Oceanography. *Under review*.
- V. Juvigny-Khenafou, N.P.D., Harvey, E., Atkinson, D., Wu. N., Zhang, Y., Piggott, J.J. Integrating spatiotemporal complexity in riverine multiple stressor research. Oikos. *Under review*.

## Author's contribution

#### Paper I:

YZ conceived the idea. YZ, NJK, HX, QL lead the writing with contributions from ZW.

#### Paper II, III, IV:

NJK and JP conceived the studies with contributions from YZ. NJK collected data and ran the experiments with contributions from SM in paper IV. NJK and CM analysed and interpreted the data. NJK and CM lead the writing with contributions from JP, DA, YZ, NW and SVB (paper II), SM (paper III).

#### Paper V:

NJK and EH conceived the idea and lead the writing with contribution from JP, DA, NW and YZ.

#### Authors:

NJK: Noël Juvigny-Khenafou, JP: Jeremy Piggott, CM: Christoph Matthaei, DA: David Atkinson, YZ: EH: Eric Harvey, Yixin Zhang, NW: Naicheng Wu, SVB: Sunshine Van Bael, SM: Sam Macauley, HX: Hongyong Xiang, QL: Qiaoyan Lin, ZW: Zhijie Wu.

This page is left intentionally blank

## 1. Chapter 1: General Introduction

#### 1.1. Stressors in freshwater systems

Access to freshwater resources has always influenced human distribution and density across landscapes. As such, land use modifications have historically been dominant sources of stress for freshwater habitats (Dudgeon et al., 2006; Hering et al., 2015; Nõges et al., 2016; Reid et al., 2019). Indeed, human activities exploit freshwater resources - and their adjacent terrestrial environments - for food production (agriculture and fisheries), drinking water, energy and transport amongst others. In ecology, 'stressors' can be defined as any anthropogenic activity resulting in environmental change that will take the studied system outside of its normal operational range (Sabater et al., 2019). With the constant growth in human global population and activities, there is an increase in the diversity and the intensity of stressors applied to freshwater environments (Reid et al., 2019). Consequently, freshwater ecosystems are some of the most threatened ecosystems in the world with a rate of biodiversity loss higher than any other system (McRae et al., 2017). This is of particular concern considering that freshwater ecosystems harbour 6% of all described species despite only representing 0.01% of the World's waters and 0.8% of the Earth surface area (Dudgeon et al., 2006).

Freshwater biodiversity is modulated by physicochemical parameters that shape communities and regulate processes over time and space (Harvey and Altermatt, 2019; MacDougall et al., 2018; Widder et al., 2014). A modification of these environmental parameters leads to abundance and diversity changes (Mustonen et al., 2016; Piggott et al., 2015c; Salis et al., 2017). In return, ecological processes and functioning are being modified and new states are being reached (Gordon et al., 2008; Manning et al., 2018; Piggott et al., 2015a). Most notably, and central to this PhD thesis, stressors associated with urbanisation and agricultural intensification have elevated the inputs of dissolved nutrients, promoted the deposition of fine sediment and altered stream discharge and current velocity due to water diversion and channel modifications (Elbrecht et al., 2016; Matthaei et al., 2010; Wagenhoff et al., 2012). In this intricate network of biological, physical and chemical interactions, stressors upset the finely tuned balance in stream and river dynamics and generate complex responses sometimes referred to as 'ecological surprises' (Lindenmayer et al., 2010). The level of complexity

depends on the system being studied and is a function of the mode of action of the different stressors involved, which is likely to be exacerbated by the effects of global changes such as climate change (Mantyka-Pringle et al., 2019; Piggott et al., 2015c; Tiegs et al., 2019).

In China, the rapid economic, urban and agricultural intensification developments have put a lot of pressure on freshwater systems. As a result, most rivers and groundwater sources are polluted (Han et al., 2016; Liu and Diamond, 2005). For instance the transition from small traditional farmlands to large-scale industrialised farms relying on synthetic fertilisers has increased nutrient inputs to rivers by a factor 2 to 45 for country wide sub-basins between 1970 and 2000 (Strokal et al., 2016). Water abstraction is also a dominant stressor in Chinese streams and rivers with large dam and translocation projects being built across the country to supply energy and to bring water to regions with a shortage (Dudgeon, 2011; Wilson et al., 2017). There are more than 50,000 dams of a variety of sizes in the Yangtze River basin alone (Li et al., 2013) and China's South–North Water Transfer Project (SNWTP) has the potential to transfer as much as 4.48e10 m3.yr-1 of water from the Yangtze River basin to the Yellow River basin (Wilson et al., 2017). Finally, sediment deposition has been facilitated by the alteration of river flow regimes but also soil erosion as a result of land use modification and climatic events (Li et al., 2013; Zuo et al., 2016). For instance, approximately 162 Mt.yr-1 of sediment were trapped by the Three Gorges Dam between 2003 and 2007 (Hu et al., 2009).

Despite these pressing environmental issues, little research in China has sought to investigate the effects of multiple stressors on freshwater communities in comparison to the size of the country. For instance, an advance Web of Science search (Accessed 15/01/2020) using the function TS=(stress AND China) AND TS=(stream OR lake OR river OR freshwater), revealed that four of the largest and most research active countries in the European Union (Spain, Germany, Sweden and France) have published the equivalent of 68.8% of the total China multiple stressor research output despite representing only 19.3% of China's total area. Anthropogenic pressures associated with urbanisation and agriculture are particularly preponderant in eastern lands which are the most densely populated and concentrate the industrial and agricultural activity of the country (Zhang et al., 2019). Although concern for the management of freshwater resources is high (Han et al., 2016; Speed et al., 2016), stressor research in China suffers from having a patchy distribution of monitoring, and limited investigations of the interactive effects between stressors. Therefore, there is little

understanding of the synergistic or antagonist nature of the interactions, nor of their magnitude. Due to the complexity and unpredictability of the interactions between stressors, this represent a clear knowledge gap which may hinder the long-term success of managerial decisions (Côté et al., 2016; Crain et al., 2008; Nõges et al., 2016).

#### 1.2. The complexity of interactions between stressors

The origins of a biological response to changing conditions can be broad and multiple. As an example, eutrophication, which is characterised by an excessive plant and algal growth, can be triggered by changes in one or more limiting growth factors needed for photosynthesis (Chislock et al., 2013; Schindler, 2006); these can be sunlight, carbon dioxide, and nutrient fertilizers for instance. The effects that individual stressors have, and the responses of ecological processes and communities, are well studied. Taking the focal stressors of this thesis as examples, fine sediment deposition and suspension (< 2 mm, Rabení et al., 2005) reduces habitat heterogeneity by infilling the interstitial spaces in the benthos, reduces the O<sub>2</sub> availability, reduces light penetration, and smothers the gills of fish, invertebrates, algal filament stalks or biofilm formations (Piggott et al., 2015c; Wood and Armitage, 1997). This is particularly detrimental to organisms with exposed fragile breathing structures or high O<sub>2</sub> requirements (Wood and Armitage, 1997). Sediment deposition also changes the physical characteristics of the substratum on which biofilm can attach (Battin et al., 2016). Both sedimentation and reduced flow velocity limit the exchange of resources between the water column and benthic habitats by creating a physical barrier and increasing boundary layer thickness (Barker Jømgensen and Des Marais, 1990; Stevens and Kurd, 1997), whereas eutrophication favours the development of microbes associated with algal blooms (Piggott et al., 2015b). Eutrophication also produces subsidy-stress response gradients in invertebrate and microbial communities and activity (Güsewell and Gessner, 2009; Wagenhoff et al., 2012; Woodward et al., 2012). Finally, water scarcity modifies the physical habitat and the diffusion of material and resources through flow-velocity reduction (Calapez et al., 2018; Harvey et al., 2017a; Wu et al., 2019).

The challenge comes when one tries to predict the cumulative effect of stressors. The first step in studies of multiple stressors requires the development of a null model that best describes the mechanisms by which the stressors are thought to operate, i.e. the linear combination of the stressor individual effects in the absence of interaction (Schäfer and Piggott, 2018). The effect of stressor interactions is then assessed by comparing discrepancies from the null model. For statistical ease, the most commonly applied null model has been the additive model (when the response to stressors add to one another). Most reported cumulative effects deviate from the additive model and are called non-additive (Crain et al., 2008, Nõges et al., 2016). They are described as antagonistic when the cumulative impact is smaller than the expected product of the response of each stressor alone, and synergistic when it is higher (Crain et al., 2008; Folt et al., 1999). This basic description of the additive model interaction effects was later re-visited by Piggott et al. (2015d), highlighting the problems associated with individual stressors acting in opposite directions. In this particular, but not unusual, situation the definition used of synergism and antagonism becomes paradoxical as what is synergistic to one stressor is antagonistic to the other and *vice-versa*. As such the new concepts of positive and negative antagonisms/synergisms were introduced and summarised below:

- If an interaction of stressors is less positive than expected from the additive model, then it is *positive antagonistic*;
- If an interaction of stressors is less negative than expected from the additive model, then it is *negative antagonistic*;
- If an interaction of opposing stressors is more positive than expected from the additive model, then it is *positive synergistic*;
- If an interaction of stressors is more negative than expected from the additive model, then it is *positive antagonistic*.

The mechanisms involved between the interaction of stressors and the observed biological responses are particularly hard to unfold. Indeed, species may respond in various ways to different sets of stressors due to differences in evolutionarily or ecologically derived tolerances (Vinebrooke et al., 2004). The impact of stressors also can change in the presence of other stressors. For instance, nutrient enrichment effects on decomposition and spore production in fungal aquatic decomposers change along temperature gradients (Fernandes et al., 2014). Finally, whole community responses differ as a result of the changing interactions between species populations (Crain, 2008). For example, in a study on amphibian larvae survival rates, Sih et al. (2004) observed an increased mortality rate in some species to sub-lethal pesticide concentration when predatory cues were also found in the environment, whereas mortality rate of others seemed indifferent to the presence of such cues. Overall, the response of different species to a specific stressor is context-dependent and modulated by both the other species in the community and the presence of additional stressors (Bruder et al., 2017; Lenihan et al.,

2018; Saaristo et al., 2018). Therefore, the outcome of multiple stressors is highly diverse. To illustrate this diversity, a meta-analysis conducted on over 171 studies in marine and costal ecosystems found that the cumulative effects of stressors were additive in 26% of the cases, synergistic in 36% and antagonistic in 38% (Crain et al., 2008). Similar results were also found in freshwater studies (Nõges et al., 2016). Using their extended definition of antagonism and synergism, Piggott et al. (2015d) revisited the numbers from Crain et al. (2008) and found 43% of antagonism, 31% of synergism and 26% of additive interactions. Although the difference is minimal it highlights the need for the ecological community to find a consensus about the best framework to be used to make generalisation (Nõges et al., 2016; Schäfer and Piggott, 2018).

#### 1.3. Ecosystem functioning and multiple stressors

Ecological processes and functioning, such as organic matter (OM) decomposition, one focus of this thesis, are particularly sensitive to abiotic changes (Woodward et al., 2012). OM decomposition can be separated into four distinct processes: non-enzymatic chemical reactions, leaching and volatilization, comminution, and catabolism (Canhoto et al., 2016). In aquatic environments, leaching, comminution and catabolism are the most important drivers of decomposition. Indeed, leaching is a continuous process occurring when water flows through OM resulting in large organic compounds and inorganic ions losses whereas comminution results from physical abrasion (water flow, invertebrate action, freezing/thawing cycles) leading to a particle size reduction. Whilst leaching and comminution can be respectively exclusive and partially passive processes, catabolism is entirely mediated by the biological activity of microbes and invertebrates.

OM decomposition plays an important role in nutrient cycling but also regulates the bottomup energy transfer between trophic levels (Kuehn et al., 2011; Woodward et al., 2016, 2010). Central to OM decomposition are microbial and macroinvertebrate activities (Kuehn, 2016; Reiss et al., 2010). Indeed, leaf litter decomposition is modulated by microbial activity, via the production of Carbohydrate-Active-Enzymes (CAZymes) (Abdel-Raheem and Shearer, 2002; Canhoto et al., 2016; Romaní et al., 2006; Sinsabaugh and Findlay, 1995). These enzyme are then responsible for the degradation and modification of complex carbohydrates (cellulose and lignin) which condition the leaves prior to invertebrate consumption (Bärlocher, 2016). The ability of microbes to access stored and dissolved nutrients from decomposing OM and water respectively, thus creates a nutrient rich and easily digestible substrate on which higher trophic levels can easily feed on (Danger et al., 2016).

Many multiple stressor studies in stream systems have studied the combined effects of anthropogenic factors on microbial activity (Fernandes et al., 2014; Kominoski et al., 2015; Manning et al., 2018; Piggott et al., 2015a). Overall, stressors increasing the metabolic rates of microbes tend to enhance the microbial activity and the decomposition of leaf litter. However, one aspect that is less often investigated in such studies is the identity and structure of the microbial community. This potentially could limit our mechanistic understanding of organic matter decomposition under multiple stressors which often depends on microbial community identity and diversity (Gessner et al., 2010). Although the traditional theory stipulates that microbial communities have a high level of functional redundancy (Bell et al., 2005), there is still some debate around the part played by microbial biodiversity and ecosystem functions (Bender et al., 2016; Martínez and Canhoto, 2019; Tolkkinen et al., 2015a) Microbes thus occupy a pivotal role in nutrient and carbon cycling, most notably the energy transfer in the detrital food chain, yet the response of the 'microbial blackbox' to multiple stressors, and its consequences for OM decomposition, carbon and nutrient cycling, needs further evaluations.

# 1.4. Taxonomic vs functional approaches to understand the effects of multiple stressors

The high diversity of possible outcomes forces multiple stressor studies to investigate a wide range of metrics in order to make sense of this complexity and understand the biological mechanisms behind stressor interactions. Further, differences exist according to the level of taxonomic resolution used (community level, population level, trophic level) (Crain et al., 2008; Nõges et al., 2016). Therefore, in order to understand the interactions between stressors, multiple stressor studies strongly benefit from multi-layered and multitrophic assessment.

Multiple stressor research generally relies on structural response variables such as community composition and diversity measurements (Hering et al., 2006). Although very informative to evaluate the geographical distribution of populations facing different stressors, theses metrics provide little mechanistic insight into the actions of stressors. To improve this issue, a second category of measurements focuses on important ecosystem functions such as decomposition, respiration and primary production (Manning et al., 2018; Niyogi et al., 2003; Piggott et al.,

2015b). However, similarly to community metrics, ecosystem functioning measurements are aggregate features only allowing the overall activity of the community in response to stressors to be evaluated but not necessarily the pathways taken. One way to circumvent this problem is to simultaneously record both community structure and ecosystem functioning measurements (Piggott et al., 2015b). This way, one can directly assess change in community populations and overall structure as well as the matching ecosystem functioning response. However, there are a large number of functions and it is not possible to record all of them.

A very practical and cost-effective way to acquire functional knowledge about communities whilst recording structural changes has been the use of phenotypic trait-based biomonitoring approaches and trait databases (Ding et al., 2017; Hamilton et al., 2019). In this method, the selection of traits to measure usually derives from the consideration of the predictable effects of environmental constraints on biological traits. For instance, invertebrates that specialise in crawling versus swimming need very different sets of morphological adaptations and body structures due to mechanical differences of the two means of locomotion. Similarly, differences in feeding and life-history strategies and can relate to system productivity across trophic levels (Cummins, 2016). From the trait information obtained, a new suite of metrics can be calculated; referred to as functional diversity (Mason et al., 2013; Villéger et al., 2008). Whilst the concept of functional diversity has more often been applied to terrestrial environments (Mason and Pavoine, 2013), it can also be very useful to stressor research in revealing community assembly processes along a stressor gradient (Wu et al., 2019). Indeed, functional diversity measurements can link with stability, resistance and resilience of ecosystems to perturbations (Bruno et al., 2016). Understanding the stability patterns of communities can greatly improve our ability to implement successful stressor mitigation strategies, and therefore functional diversity measurement ought to occupy a more important place in stressor research. Trait and functional diversity approaches have the advantage of freeing our assessment of the effect of multiple stressors from species identity across temporal and spatial scales (Bêche et al., 2006; Menezes et al., 2010; Poff, 1997) and brings insight into the mechanisms underlying effects of stressors (Menezes et al., 2010; Statzner and Bêche, 2010; Townsend and Hildr, 1994). Indeed, trait responses to environmental variables highlight the functional significance of species emphasizing on the filtering role that stressors have on communities. Traits are also applicable to any locality, therefore trait responses from completely different places, and thus most likely from completely different taxonomic pools, can still be compared with no bias.

#### 1.5. Considering the spatial and temporal context in multiple stressor assessments

A central concept in ecological research is the environmental filtering concept where abiotic conditions select for species that are the most adapted to them (Poff, 1997). Stressors can indeed trigger spatially organised taxonomic and functional community shifts, modifying the functioning of ecosystems (Li et al., 2019). However, our interpretations of stressor effects on biodiversity are likely to be influenced by spatial and temporal patterns of both communities and stressors themselves (Harvey et al., 2019, 2018; Harvey and Altermatt, 2019). Indeed, the local community assembly of species depends on the regional taxon pool, the dispersal limitation of species, local habitat conditions and biotic interactions (Schuwirth et al., 2016). Thus, change in spatial abiotic heterogeneity influences the persistence of sensitive species over time if they are unable to find new suitable conditions (Tonkin et al., 2018). Further, communities are not only spatially connected but also temporally. Thus, there is a feedback loop created with communities resulting from past abiotic conditions influencing future biodiversity responses (Baumgartner and Robinson, 2015). Finally, stressor temporal regimes, i.e. their frequency, order of occurrence and time of exposure also influence the biodiversity responses observed (Davis et al., 2019). Indeed, taking the example of stressor frequency, chronic exposure does not allow the recovery of communities between events and therefore the biodiversity response will change between the two observations. All of the above biodiversity spatiotemporal considerations have a significant impact on how we perceive the effect of multiple interacting stressors and how we address them. They modify the stability of ecosystems under stress and as a result of biodiversity changes, important ecological functions may be lost or altered (Tilman and Downing, 1994).



Figure 1.1: PhD project conceptual model. From the species pool of our studied stream, we apply a filtering effect with the different stressors combinations which then influences the taxonomic and functional diversity (FD) of our three trophic levels (decomposers, producers and consumers) via identity and community structure changes. Ultimately this is reflected in the variations of the ecosystem functioning (EF). The different trophic levels are connected via feeding interactions where the decomposer microbes process the leaf litter and then the macroinvertebrates feed on both the decomposition litter and the biofilm.

#### 1.6. Thesis outline and aims

This thesis aims to investigate the individual and interactive ecological responses of benthic communities, populations and functions to abiotic land-use stressors, which co-occur and dominate lotic ecosystems worldwide; namely nutrient enrichment, sedimentation and flow-velocity reduction. The research will evaluate the frequency of stressor interactions between different trophic levels, their directionality and the effect of the length of exposure to the stressors. To address these aims we conducted three simultaneous mesocosm experiments looking at microbial decomposers, microbial biofilm and macroinvertebrates in a unique flow-through streamside field system. Each experiment targeted a critical layer of lotic ecosystem health and functioning which together can assist decision-makers in making holistic assessments of stream and river ecological responses to changing environments (Fig 1.1). Because each experiment occurred simultaneously in the same experimental units, the results are directly comparable giving an overall assessment of the whole-system response to the applied treatments. The data chapters are formatted in a paper-based style suitable for journal submission.

Chapter 2 – In headwater streams leaf litter input represents an important energy source to stream communities, providing nutrients and carbon supply to food webs, and modulating species dynamics. Microbial activity is a key process within the organic decomposition performed by stream ecosystems by making leaf litter substrates more labile to higher trophic levels but also by rendering resources that would otherwise remain trapped in cellulosic plant tissues accessible. Microbial activity and communities are known to be sensitive to environmental parameters, however little is known about their successional patterns under a multiple stressor scenario and the resulting impact on ecosystem function. In this chapter I used molecular techniques to investigate the single and combined effects of nutrients, sedimentation and flow velocity on bacterial and fungal communities associated with leaf litter decomposition. I addressed the following questions: (1) *Which of bacterial and fungal communities are more sensitive to stressor combinations?* (2) *Is time of exposure to stressors an important parameter to be considered?* (3) *Are the community patterns observed transcribed into the efficiency of leaf litter decomposition?* 

Chapter 3 – Bacterial biofilms have a central position in stream ecosystems, often being considered as the "skin" of rivers. Amongst others, biofilms are involved in the bioremediation of pollutants, nutrient cycling, essential ecosystem processes (whole respiration), but also provide an important food source to higher trophic levels such as macroinvertebrates for instance. Moreover, bacterial community assemblages result from a trade-off between filtering forces selecting for the most adapted species and evolutionary interaction forces such as competition, facilitation or inhibition. Despite their key positioning in the functioning of lotic ecosystems and trophic networks, our understanding of bacterial biofilm community dynamics under multiple stressor scenarios remains limited. Most notably, there is a lack of characterisations of community structure and how changes can be used to anticipate farreaching stream-wide changes in ecosystem functioning. In the chapter we also used molecular techniques to characterise bacterial community responses to interacting stressors, but also explored how population dynamics and assembly structure could be used to monitor stream functioning. We addressed the following questions: (1) Can groups of bacteria be isolated for the biomonitoring of multiple stressor interactions? (2) Can the population dynamics be extrapolated to stream-wide ecosystem processes?

Chapter 4 – In Chapter 4, the study progresses from the basal trophic-level responses investigated in chapters 2 and 3 to the next trophic level – the macroinvertebrates. Indeed,

macroinvertebrates feed on both decomposing litter and biofilm. Macroinvertebrates are also routinely used in stream biomonitoring schemes across the world. Most notably, groups of macroinvertebrates such as Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera, (EPT) are particularly sensitive to environmental changes and routinely used in biomonitoring programs (Bonada et al., 2006). Recently, there has been a surged in studies combining macroinvertebrates community structure with functional traits, enabling the evaluation of ecological niche breadths between lotic environments (Ding et al., 2017; Dolédec et al., 2011; Mor et al., 2019). However, macroinvertebrate functional diversity, which can be highly valuable for a mechanistic understanding of stream ecosystem functioning and stability, is less often considered and has seldom been assessed in a multiple stressor context. In this chapter I used a combination of taxonomic identification with literature-based functional trait evaluations to answer the following questions: (1) *Are community, taxonomy or trait metrics better suited to evaluate stressors effects and the frequency of interactions?* (2) *How can taxonomy-based and trait-based techniques complement each other to understand the effects of stressor interactions?* 

Chapter 5 – In the three previous data chapters we explored several facets of multiple stressor interactions on the integrity of lotic ecosystems. Multiple stressor research is a fairly new field although it has attracted a lot of attention over the last 10 years. Thus, there are many theoretical gaps that need to be explored, most notably to understand the biological mechanisms of stressor interactions. So far, most of the stressor research effort has been placed towards building a database of the responses to diversity and gradients of stressors in various combinations. However, the influence of spatial connectivity, temporal connectivity and biological connectivity in shaping the community response to multiple stressors remains an open field. In this chapter, using our experimental expertise and growing knowledge of multiple stressor research challenges, acquired throughout the PhD program, I propose a vision of how the state of the art can be improved. We explored the following question: *How can integrating spatial and temporal complexity into multiple stressor research further our understanding of stressors interactions?* 

Chapter 6 – In this general conclusion chapter I synthesised the findings and reflections of chapters 3-6 to place them in the wider context of multiple stressor research. Specifically, I show how our interpretation of multiple stressor interactions can be biased towards the study system. Based on our results from three distinct trophic levels and from three different ways to

evaluate ecological functions, I explain how multitrophic community assessments advance our understanding of interactions caused by multiple stressors in lotic ecosystems.

## 2. Chapter 2: Anthropogenic stressors affect fungal more than bacterial communities in decaying leaf litter: a stream mesocosm experiment

#### 2.1. Abstract

Despite the progress made in environmental microbiology techniques and knowledge, the succession and functional changes of the microbial community under multiple stressors are still poorly understood. This is a substantial knowledge gap as microbial communities regulate the biogeochemistry of stream ecosystems. Our study assessed the structural and temporal changes in stream fungal and bacterial communities associated with decomposing leaf litter under a multiple-stressor scenario. We conducted a fully crossed 4-factor experiment in 64 flow-through mesocosms fed by a pristine montane stream (21 days of colonisation, 21 days of manipulations) and investigated the effects of nutrient enrichment, flow velocity reduction and sedimentation after 2 and 3 weeks of stressor exposure. We used high-throughput sequencing and metabarcoding techniques (16S and 18S rRNA genes) to identify changes in microbial community composition. Our results indicate that (1) shifts in relative abundances of the pre-existing terrestrial microbial community, rather than changes in community identity, drove the observed responses to stressors; (2) changes in relative abundances within the microbial community paralleled decomposition rate patterns with time; (3) both fungal and bacterial communities had a certain resistance to stressors, as indicated by relatively minor changes in alpha diversity or multivariate community structure; (4) overall, stressor interactions were more common than stressor main effects when affecting microbial diversity metrics or abundant individual genera; and (5) stressor effects on microbes often changed from 2 weeks to 3 weeks of stressor exposure, with several response patterns being reversed. Our study suggests that future research should focus more on understanding the temporal dynamics of fungal and bacterial communities and how they relate to ecosystem processes to advance our understanding of the mechanisms associated with multiple-stressor interactions.

#### 2.2. Introduction

Microbial communities drive stream biogeochemistry by playing a crucial role in ecosystem processes, such as ecosystem respiration, organic matter decomposition and nutrient cycling (Bruder et al., 2016a; Kuehn, 2016; Manning et al., 2018). For example, microbial communities fix nutrients onto substrata and improve the palatability and quality of decomposing leaf litter, thus providing a high-nutrition food source for higher trophic levels (Kuehn, 2016). Their influence therefore starts at the bottom of the food chain, and then potentially shapes higher trophic-level communities along the river continuum. One of the central aims of microbial ecology is to understand how environmental changes drive the structure and function of communities (Herren et al., 2016). In ecology, 'stressors' can be defined as any anthropogenic activity resulting in environmental change that will take the studied system outside of its normal operational range (Sabater et al., 2019). Studies have previously revealed that microbial communities follow successional stages; however, the forces driving this progression are less well understood (Knelman et al., 2014). Indeed, community responses to environmental changes can either be stochastic or deterministic. Therefore, if the latter is true, then the microbial community's adaptation to stress can be predicted, always selecting for the species that are most adapted to the new conditions. However, the high functional redundancy within microbial species in a community (Bell et al., 2005) may lead to stochastic responses limiting the replicability of the observed patterns.

Stressors associated with agriculture and urbanization, for example sedimentation, reduced flow velocity and nutrient enrichment, are known to have significant effects on microbial assemblages, productivity and activities, and thus can lead to changes in ecosystem function such as altered decomposition rates (Pascoal and Cássio, 2004; Piggott et al., 2015a; Widder et al., 2014). Individually, sediment deposition and flow velocity reduction influence microbial community structure and diversity by creating physical barriers via an increase in boundary layer thickness (Barker Jømgensen and Des Marais, 1990; Stevens and Kurd, 1997) or a filtering action of the hyporheic zone (Cornut et al., 2014). Both processes limit the exchange of oxygen and nutrients between water column and biofilm but also modulate the dispersal-colonisation dynamics of the substratum (Besemer et al., 2007; Cornut et al., 2014). The effects of nutrient enrichment on litter-associated microbial communities are complex and can differ depending on microbial stoichiometry (Brosed et al., 2017), nutrient uptake rates (Gulis and Suberkropp, 2003), substratum stoichiometry (Manning et al., 2016), the environment's

reference conditions and enrichment magnitude (Ferreira et al., 2015). In general, however, moderate nutrient enrichment tends to promote microbial growth and activity.

Stressor effects are known to vary along disturbance gradients, sometimes taking unforeseen directions regarding the microbial community's structure and function (Romero et al., 2019b). For instance, stressors leading to changes in the physico-chemical (water chemistry, flow velocity, benthic substratum composition) and biological conditions along the river continuum are known to alter fungal presence, traits, life strategy and decay activities (Kuehn, 2016). Further, fungi and bacteria both co-habit the microbiome and play key roles in the decomposition of organic matter. During this process, complex biotic interactions between the two organism groups can occur. While it is generally agreed that both fungi and bacteria can influence each other's community structure, the questions of whether their interactions are predominantly facilitative or competitive, and how these interactions translate into ecosystem function, are still open and also context-dependent (Frey-Klett et al., 2011; Johnston et al., 2016; Romaní et al., 2006).

There has been some interest in the mechanisms which drive the spatial and temporal microbial community changes in response to stressors, including the interactions between bacteria and fungi. Several studies in terrestrial and aquatic environments have highlighted inter- and intrakingdom interactions and dynamics (Gessner et al., 2010; Purahong et al., 2016). Nevertheless, how stressors may perturb these dynamics has been assessed less often in streams. Further, incubation time has also been shown to be a strong determinant of microbial community structure (Newman et al., 2015). Indeed, as decomposition advances, more recalcitrant compounds remain, favouring the development of microbial species capable of metabolising such compounds (Gessner et al., 2010). Stressors and stressor combinations have the potential to disrupt these processes by accelerating or slowing down decomposition rates as well as altering microbial succession and activity. Thus, a clearer understanding of these processes requires temporal studies at a fine taxonomical resolution for both bacteria and fungi.

Understanding and making sense of the microbial diversity and functionality under stress is a hard task to implement. Indeed, manipulative experiments on multiple stressors require considerable logistical investment to set up, and much of the research linking bacteria and fungi to litter decomposition in freshwater systems has been conducted on sterile (autoclaved) substrata in laboratory settings (Fernandes et al., 2014; Ferreira and Chauvet, 2012; Gulis et

al., 2017). However, only a few microbes can be successfully reared and identified in laboratory conditions (Lloyd et al., 2018; Steen et al., 2019). Therefore, these studies provide a very simplified version of the natural environment (Johnston et al., 2016). Further, leaves falling into streams already come with their own set of microbes, as either endophytes (leaf interior) or phyllosphere (leaf surface) organisms, and several aquatic microbial genera are known to have a terrestrial stage in their life cycle (Mustonen et al., 2016; Röhl et al., 2017). Nevertheless, past research tends to overlook this initial community and how it could influence the successional trajectory of the microbial community during the leaves' aquatic decomposition. Recent advances in molecular techniques have enabled deeper investigation of the microbial "black box" in its natural environment (Cristescu, 2014). However, understanding global change effects on microbial communities and the resulting change in ecosystem function is still hindered by a lack of characterisation of communities (Antwis et al., 2017). Thus, questions about adaptation, functional redundancy, stochastic versus deterministic assembly patterns and temporal variations have been identified as some of the most prominent open questions in microbial ecology (Antwis et al., 2017).

Here we used field mesocosms to investigate the influence of nutrient enrichment, flow velocity reduction, increased sedimentation and their interactive effects on the microbial communities associated with decomposing leaf litter along a temporal gradient of three weeks. Through investigating the temporal dynamics of bacterial and fungal microbes, we aimed to show that stressor accumulation disrupts the natural microbial successional patterns, resulting in changed organic matter decomposition rates. We tested four specific hypotheses:

- By providing readily available extra resources, nutrient enrichment will enhance decomposition rates and enhance microbial diversity (Gulis and Suberkropp, 2004; Kerekes et al., 2013; Piggott et al., 2015a).
- (2) Flow velocity reduction will slow decomposition rates and change microbial community composition, due to an increase in boundary layer thickness reducing O<sub>2</sub> availability and nutrient availability (Barker Jømgensen and Des Marais, 1990; Bruder et al., 2016a; Stevens and Kurd, 1997).
- (3) Fine sediment will also decrease decomposition rates, by changing the microbial community's functionality (e.g. by reducing efficiency in enzymatic activity of change in metabolic pathways; Tank et al., 2013).
- (4) The positive nutrient effect on decomposition and microbial diversity will be counteracted by sedimentation and flow velocity reduction because both act as a

physical barrier limiting resource exchange between microbiome and water column, resulting in antagonistic two-way and three-way interactions.

#### 2.3. Methods

#### 2.3.1. Study site

Our study occurred in a streamside mesocosm setup (ExStream System) fed by the Yinxi Stream originating from the Jiulongfeng Nature Reserve, Anhui Province, China. The mesocosm site is located just downstream of the reserve boundary (30°07'07''N, 118°01'24''E, 330 m a.s.l.). The reserve covers a 2720 ha area (98% forested, 80% native vegetation) on the west side of the main Huangshan Mountain massif. The reserve's vegetation distribution displays an altitudinal gradient of evergreen broad-leaved forest, evergreen deciduous broad-leaved forest, deciduous broad-leaved forest, alpine short forest and alpine meadows (Jiulongfeng Nature Reserve Director, Mr. X. H. Cao, personal communication). Mean annual temperature and precipitation are 15.4°C and 1500-1600 mm, respectively (Huangshan District Government, http://www.hsq.gov.cn/; accessed August 2019).

Yinxi Stream is a near-pristine montane stream (N-NO<sub>3</sub>- $0.39\pm0.008$  [SE] mg/L, N-NH<sub>4+</sub>  $0.26\pm0.002$  mg/L, P-PO<sub>4+</sub> $0.01\pm0.001$  mg/L, pH 7.87±0.018, conductivity 46.45±0.029 SE  $\mu$ S/cm; four measurements each collected with a YSI (Professional Plus, YSI Incorporated, Yellow Springs, OH, USA) at the mesocosm system's water intake point on September 24<sub>th</sub> 2018). The stream is bordered by steep slopes with dense forest shading the streambed. The only human impact on the stream is a small hydrologic dam located approximately 2.8 km upstream.

#### 2.3.2. ExStream system and experimental design

The experiment ran for 42 days from October 1<sub>st</sub> to November 12<sub>th</sub> 2018. Since allochthonous carbon inputs can play an important role in stream dynamics (Gounand et al., 2018b), the experimental period was chosen to include one autumn leaf senescence event to maximise microbial diversity and productivity.

The study was conducted using a 64-unit outdoor stream mesocosm system (ExStream Systems Ltd., Dunedin, New Zealand, Fig. 2.1) similar to mesocosms setups previously used in New
Zealand (Piggott et al., 2015c), Germany (Elbrecht et al., 2016) and Ireland (Davis et al., 2018). Briefly, water and the associated drifting aquatic invertebrates, algae and microbes from the Yinxi Stream were continuously pumped (ACm150B2, Leo Group Co., LTD, Zhejiang, China) through a 4-mm mesh filter into four header tanks, each of which gravity-fed 16 circular mesocosms (outer diameter 24.5 cm, inner diameter 5.1 cm, volume 3 L, area 450 cm<sub>2</sub>; Microwave Ring Moulds, Interworld, Auckland, New Zealand). The experiment comprised a 21-day colonisation period followed by a 21-day manipulation phase.

We used a full factorial  $2\times2\times2$  design with eight replicates for each stressor combination: nutrients (ambient versus increased N-NO<sub>3</sub>- and P-PO<sub>4+</sub>), flow velocity (control versus reduced) and fine sediment (control versus added). To assess temporal variation in the microbial responses, the system was sampled on two occasions (Days 14 and 21). On each occasion, 32 mesocosms from two randomly selected header tanks were sampled (four replicates per treatment combination). Each mesocosm was sampled only once during the experiment.

The water flow through each mesocosm was maintained at a constant rate of 2 L/min and recalibrated daily. Water leaving the mesocosms flowed through their inner circular opening, allowing natural emigration of stream invertebrates and microbes by drift. Temperature and light intensity were monitored every 5 min in one randomly selected mesocosm per header tank block using a HOBO pendant MX2202 data logger (Onset, USA). Mean water temperature over the length of the experiment was  $16.14 \pm 2.13$  [SD] °C compared to  $15.60 \pm 1.72$  [SD] °C at the pump intake in the river. Each mesocosm received 500 mL of coarse substratum (> 2 mm), ten 3-4 cm surface stones and one large stone (> 6 cm). This substratum composition represented similar habitat heterogeneity as reported in Chinese streams and rivers (Liu et al., 2016). The substratum was collected from a nearby, dry floodplain section of the Yinxi Stream.

Leaves from *Cinnamomum camphora* (camphor tree) were collected from a single street stretch in Suzhou, Jiangsu, China (31°16'17.96''N, 120°44'33.86''E) and air-dried in the laboratory for at least 2 weeks before being stored in the dark. *C. camphora* is an evergreen tree endemic to the southern Yangtze regions and one of the most widespread tree species across China. It is commonly used as an ornamental tree in cities and rural areas and is also being found near our study area (N.P.D. Juvigny-Khenafou, personal observation). Leaf bags consisted of  $2.5 \pm$ 0.01 [SD] g of dried leaf material placed into 4-mm mesh bags. To each mesocosm, two leaf bags containing dried *C. camphora* leaves were added on Day-7 to allow microbial colonisation. Leaf bags were pinned to the side of the mesocosms and kept flat on the substratum using surface stones, similar to real-life situations when leaves get trapped under surface rocks. An additional 5 g of the original litter, hereafter referred as terrestrial litter, was also stored at -20 °C to determine the original microbial community present in and on the leaves before the experiment started (Röhl et al., 2017).

Water flow and drift colonisation of the mesocosms started on 1 October 2018 (Day-21). On Day-4, macroinvertebrates were collected from the Yinxi Stream upstream of the pump intake from eight similar riffle environments using kick-net sampling for 3 min of a ~0.36 m<sup>2</sup> area (comparable to the benthic surface area of eight mesocosms). These invertebrates were added to the mesocosms to supplement natural colonisation by taxa underrepresented in the drift (Elbrecht et al., 2016; Piggott et al., 2015b). Following collection, each kick-net sample was divided into eight equal portions using a subsampler and then randomly distributed to individual mesocosms (one portion per mesocosm) following Elbrecht et al. (2016).



Figure 2.1: Schematic of the experimental design and timeline of the experiment.

#### 2.3.3. Stressor manipulation

Stressor combinations were randomly assigned within each block on  $22_{nd}$  October 2018 (Day-0). For the sediment treatment, flow in 32 mesocosms was interrupted for 5 min and 300 mL of fine sediment were added. This sediment had been collected from a dry floodplain downstream of the system, air-dried for one week and then sieved (mesh size 0.5 mm, D<sub>50</sub> = 411.6 µm, Bettersize BT-2900, China) prior to addition. This treatment resulted in 100% sediment cover of the mesocosm substratum on Day-1, consistent with high sediment cover levels observed in catchment-scale stream and river surveys in China (Liu et al., 2016). However, due to the thickness of the leaf bags only the topmost leaves were fully covered by fine sediment, similar to leaves piling up and anchored by a few surface stones in real streams.

For the flow velocity reduction treatment, the inflow jets were removed and the inlet pointed downwards in 32 mesocosms, to decrease flow velocity whilst keeping identical discharge. This avoided confounding effects on nutrient concentrations and on unmanipulated physicochemical (e.g. water temperature, dissolved oxygen) and biological variables (e.g. drift of stream biota). Near-bed flow velocities in all mesocosms were recorded weekly (Days -20, -14, -5, 3, 10, 18) using an electromagnetic flow meter (MF Pro, OTT HydroMet GmbH, Germany). Achieved velocities were  $0.10 \pm 0.008$  [SE] m.s-1 in the control treatment and zero (below the instrument's detection limit) in the reduced velocity treatment. Similar near-bed flow velocities have been obtained in previous experiments using the same mesocosm system in other countries (New-Zealand and Germany), and resulted in considerable differences for the measured biological response variables (Beermann et al., 2018a; Bruder et al., 2016a; Elbrecht et al., 2016).

Nutrient enrichment was achieved by continuously injecting a concentrated solution of NaNO<sub>3</sub> and KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> into 32 mesocosms using a fluid-metering pump (CK15, Kamoer, Shanghai, China). Nutrient concentrations were determined on Days 1, 8, 15 and 18 (n = 192, only 32 mesocosms remained on the last two dates) using standard methods (APHA, 1998). Sample aliquots were analysed with a Lachat flow injection analyser (QuickChem 8500, Hach, USA). Achieved concentrations were 2.19  $\pm$  0.09 [SE] mg/L N-NO<sub>3</sub>- and 0.12  $\pm$  0.005 mg/L P-PO<sub>4+</sub> in the enriched treatment compared to 0.57  $\pm$  0.02 [SE] mg/L N-NO<sub>3</sub>- and 0.01  $\pm$  0.001 [SE] mg/L P-PO<sub>4+</sub> in the ambient treatment. Enrichment levels were chosen to remain in the enriched water quality category according to the 6-class water quality classification (GB 3838-

2002) of the Ministry of Environmental Protection of the People's Republic of China (MEP, 2002), while also representing recognisably enriched levels according to other countries' frameworks (e.g. European Environment Agency, 2015). Further, they represented realistic enrichments in Chinese waterways following agricultural intensification; between 1970 and 2000 TDN and TDP increased 8- and 22-fold, respectively, at the river basin scale (Strokal et al., 2016).

# 2.3.4. Leaf bag processing

On Days 14 and 21, leaf bags were collected carefully, placed into individual ziplock bags and kept on ice before being frozen at -20°C within 2 hrs of collection. Back in the laboratory, one leaf bag per mesocosm was thawed overnight at 2°C and gently rinsed under running deionised water to remove sediments, invertebrates and other organic matter debris (Graça et al., 2005). All leaf materials were then freeze-dried for 48 hrs in sterile tubes and weighed to the nearest 0.001 mg to estimate the mass loss (Gessner, 1991) before being sent to Sangon Biotech Co., Ltd, (Shanghai, China) for downstream processing.

# 2.3.5. DNA extraction, PCR amplification and sequencing

The whole content of each leaf sample was homogenised in liquid nitrogen and 250 mg of the material was used for DNA extraction using the Mag-Bind Soil DNA Kit (Omega E.Z.N.A.<sup>™</sup>, Omega Bio-Tek, Norcross, GA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. All samples were later processed by next-generation sequencing (Illumina MiSeq) using the PCR primer pairs (forward/reverse) 341F/805R (Du et al., 2018) and NS1/GCfung (Maza-Márquez et al., 2016), targeting the V3-V4 region of bacterial 16S rRNA and the 5' end of the eukaryote 18S rRNA, respectively. Both forward and reverse primers were tagged with adapter sequences, pad and linker regions and a unique barcode on the forward primer to permit the multiplexing of samples. All primers were provided by Sangon Biotech Co., Ltd., Shanghai, China. Nested PCRs were performed, following Du et al. (2018), and the samples were prepared for sequencing using a TruSeq DNA kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. The PCR-amplified products were examined by agarose gel-electrophoresis, purified using Agencourt AMPure XP beads (Beckman, Brea, CA, USA) and quantified with the Qubit 3.0 DNA test kit (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Amplicons were then pooled in equimolar concentrations in the final mixture. The libraries were sequenced at 20 pmol/µL on MiSeq, 2

 $\times$  300 bp paired-end version 3 chemistry according to the manufacturer's specifications by Sangon Biotech Co., Ltd, Shanghai, China.

Sequences were processed and analysed using QIIME 1.8.0 based on sequence length, quality, primer and tag. The forward and reverse reads were joined with an overlap length of 150 bp. Following removal of the primer, all reads having a tail quality score below 20 (with a 10 bp window), containing ambiguous characters and less than 200 bp were removed. Chimeras were identified using the UCHIME software (Edgar et al., 2011). We did not rarefy the samples because of the associated issues concerning sample richness comparability (Chao and Jost, 2012; McMurdie and Holmes, 2014). The filtered reads were then clustered into OTUs (Operational Taxonomic Units) with USEARCH using a 97% similarity (Edgar, 2010) and OTUs found in only one read across the dataset were discarded. The average length of the remaining filtered sequences was 412 bp and 422 bp for the prokaryote and eukaryote dataset, respectively. The taxonomic assignment of OTUs was performed against the Silva database with the Ribosomal Database Project classifier and a minimal confidence score of 0.8 (Gustave et al., 2019; Purahong et al., 2016; Xiao et al., 2018). Coverage estimators were calculated for each sample to ensure their comparability prior to downstream analyses (Chao and Jost, 2012; Shimadzu, 2018). Raw prokaryotic and eukaryotic data were deposited in the NCBI Sequence Read Archive (SRA) under the BioProject ID PRJNA560484.

#### 2.3.6. Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using R (version 3.5.2, R Core Team). The model structure used for all analyses (unless stated otherwise) was the following: intercept (d.f. 1) + nutrients (1) + sediment (1) + velocity (1) + time (1) + nutrients x time (1) + sediment × time (1) + velocity × time (1) + nutrients × sediment (1) + nutrients × velocity (1) + sediment × velocity (1) + nutrients × sediment × time (1) + nutrients × velocity × time (1) + sediment × time (1) + nutrients × sediment × velocity × time (1) + nutrients × sediment × velocity (1) + nutrients × sediment × time (1) + nutrients × sediment × time (1) + nutrients × velocity × time (1) + sediment × velocity × time (1) + nutrients × sediment × velocity (1) + nutrients × sediment × velocity × time (1) + sediment × velocity × time (1) + nutrients × sediment × velocity (1) + nutrients × sediment × velocity × time (1) + sediment × velocity × time (1) + nutrients × sediment × velocity (1) + nutrients × sediment × velocity × time (1) + sediment × velocity × time (1) + nutrients × sediment × velocity × time (1) + sediment × velocity × time (1) + nutrients × sediment × velocity (1) + nutrients × sediment × velocity × time (1) + sediment × ve

The significance level was set at p < 0.05, and all response patterns summarised in the Results were significant unless indicated otherwise. Standardised effect sizes (partial  $\eta^2$  values, range 0-1; Garson, 2015) are presented for all p-values < 0.1 to allow our readers to evaluate the likely biological relevance of the results (Nakagawa, 2004), except for the PERMANOVA (see

below). Following Nakagawa and Cuthill (2007), effect sizes can be classified as: <0.10 'very small',  $\geq$ 0.10 'small',  $\geq$ 0.30 'medium', and  $\geq$ 0.50 'large'. Since all but two of the significant higher-order interaction terms had smaller effect sizes than the corresponding significant lower-order and/or main effect terms (see Results), the latter could mostly be interpreted reliably (Quinn and Keough, 2002).

We first generated relative abundance. When investigating taxon-specific response patterns, we adopted a slightly more conservative approach (genus level) than the OTU (species) level. This taxonomic resolution adopted the middle ground between the recommendations of a previous mesocosm study in a similar experimental system in New Zealand, which revealed that a resolution below order did not necessarily generate more accurate results when detecting stressor interactions (Salis et al., 2017), and most other recent microbial multiple-stressor studies which focused on OTUs. Bacterial and fungal alpha diversity, richness, Shannon index and Pielou's evenness were computed and analysed with the linear model detailed above. To investigate the total community response (including rare taxa) to the stressors, a PERMANOVA analysis (Bray-Curtis coefficient and 999 permutations) was performed, and a permutational analysis of multivariate dispersions (PERMDISP; Anderson, 2006) conducted to assess homogeneity. Since the bacterial community did not respond to any of the treatments or interaction combinations in the PERMANOVA, Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) plots were made for the fungal community only to allow visual representation of significant PERMANOVA outputs. PCoA plots were based on Hellinger-transformed data to reduce the weights for genera with low read counts and to allow subsequent Euclidian representation of data based on Euclidian distances (Legendre and Gallagher, 2001). MANOVAs were then performed on the abundant fungal and bacterial taxa (>1% of the total reads, Baltar et al., 2015) to investigate taxon-specific responses. All multivariate analyses were performed using the R base functions and the *vegan* package (Oksanen et al., 2015).

## 2.4. Results

# 2.4.1. Stressor and time effects on leaf decomposition

Nutrient levels, flow velocity and exposure time all affected leaf decomposition (Fig. 2.2, Table 2.1); mean leaf mass loss across all treatments was 34% (range 28-42%) and 37% (31-47%) after two and three weeks, respectively. Leaf mass loss was higher in nutrient-enriched mesocosms and lower at slower flow, with similar response patterns after two and three weeks



of incubation. No 2-way, 3-way or 4-way interactions between experimental factors were detected.

Figure 2.2: Mean percentages of leaf litter mass loss (with standard errors) in the experimental treatments after 2 and 3 weeks of incubation.

Table 2.1: Summary (p-values and effect sizes) of LM results comparing microbial alpha diversity and leaf litter mass loss. For all manipulated factors, main effects are classified directionally as positive (+) or negative (–). P-values bolded where p < 0.05. Effect sizes (partial- $\eta^2$  values; range 0–1) are shown in parentheses for all cases where p < 0.1.

Response	Nutrient	Sediment	Flow	Time	Nutrient X Sediment	Nutrient X Flow	Nutrient X Time	Sediment X Flow	Sediment X Time	Flow X Time	Nutrient X Sediment X Flow	Nutrient X Sediment X Time	Nutrient X Flow X Time	Sediment X Flow X Time	Nutrient X Sediment X Flow X Time
Bacteria															
Richness	0.34	0.20	0.62	0.93	0.07 (0.06)	0.09 (0.06)	0.94	0.41	0.62	0.55	0.052 (0.08)	0.98	0.94	0.89	0.84
Shannon's	0.73	0.98	0.81	0.99	<b>0.049</b> (0.08)	0.58	0.89	0.97	0.72	0.32	0.41	<b>0.02</b> (0.10)	0.41	0.31	0.06 (0.07)
Pielou's	0.88	0.74	0.67	0.97	0.09 (0.06)	0.88	0.88	0.79	0.79	0.36	0.71	<b>0.01</b> (0.12)	0.39	0.24	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)
Fungi															
Richness	<b>0.001</b> (0.19) +	0.40	0.19	0.27	0.66	0.48	0.09 (0.06)	0.22	0.25	0.17	0.40	0.15	<b>0.04</b> (0.08)	0.77	0.51
Shannon's	0.08 (0.06)	0.83	0.08 (0.06)	0.34	0.12	0.47	0.13	0.54	0.74	0.06 (0.07)	0.58	0.20	0.14	0.30	0.053 (0.07)
Pielou's	0.32	0.97	0.11	0.46	0.10	0.52	0.20	0.29	0.44	0.08 (0.06)	0.39	0.30	0.29	0.27	<b>0.04</b> (0.08)
% Mass loss	< <b>0.001</b> (0.28)	0.21	< <b>0.001</b> (0.34)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.27)	0.76	0.06 (0.05)	0.23	0.57	0.9	0.42	0.16	0.33	0.78	0.75	0.31
	+		—	+											

# 2.4.2. Microbial community composition in the different microhabitats post treatment exposure

The dataset had a total of 6,360,820 raw reads, 3,422,391 for prokaryotes and 2,938,429 for eukaryotes. Amongst the prokaryote and eukaryote datasets, a respective 2,956,912 and 2,025,927 reads were assigned to 23,141 bacterial and 7,792 fungal OTUs after dereplication, quality filtering and sorting. The Coverage estimator showed that similar degrees of completeness were achieved (16S Coverage range 0.97 - 0.99; 18S Coverage range 0.98 - 0.99) with sufficient sampling depth (16S:  $45,491 \pm 7,636$  [SD]; 18S:  $39,257 \pm 1,643$  [SD]) in each sample.

The post stressor exposure fungal community was dominated by organic-matter-decomposing Ascomycota (99.7% of all reads), amongst which Leotiomycetes (28.3% after 2 weeks of stressor exposure, 33.4% after 3 weeks), Sordariomycetes (28.4%, 20.2%) and Dothideomycetes (25.1%, 27.7%) were the most common classes. Changes in fungal community composition at the class level occurred across all treatment combinations, especially after 2 weeks of stressor exposure (Fig. 2.3).

The post stressors exposure bacterial community was dominated by Proteobacteria (83.3% of all reads), amongst which Alphaproteobacteria (28.8% after 2 weeks, 25.3% after 3 weeks), Betaproteobacteria (27.6%, 31.7%), Deltaproteobacteria (3.5%, 4.3%) and Gammaproteobacteria (22.6%, 22.1%) were the most abundant taxa (Fig. S2.1). At the class level, bacterial communities showed no clear patterns of change in response to the experimental treatments. Community change patterns at the genus level are presented in Section 3.4.



Figure 2.3: Relative abundances of the fungal assemblages at the class level after (a) 2 weeks and (b) 3 weeks; (c) is the terrestrial fungal community before submersion. C: Control; N: Nutrient enrichment; F: Flow velocity reduction; S: Sediment addition; NF: Nutrients + Flow; NS: Nutrients + Sediment; SF: Sediment + Flow; NFS: All three stressors.

# 2.4.3. Alpha diversity patterns

Diversity metrics for bacteria and fungi responded relatively weakly to the stressors (Table 2.1; see Supplementary Material for bar graphs and 2-way interaction plots for all diversity metrics). Bacterial diversity and evenness showed a nutrient enrichment × sediment addition interaction which changed across sampling dates (Table 1, Fig. S2.4, Fig. S2.6.1-2). After two weeks of incubation, both diversity and evenness decreased with added sediment in nutrient-enriched mesocosms, but this pattern was reversed after three weeks (Fig. S2.6.1-2). Further, evenness displayed a 4-way interaction between all manipulated factors (Fig. S2.4). After two weeks, evenness increased slightly when only sediment was added. This increase turned into a decrease when sediment addition was combined with flow velocity reduction; however, this negative effect of reduced velocity was moderated when nutrients were also added. After three weeks, sediment addition reduced evenness compared to control treatments, but this negative

effect was mitigated by flow velocity reduction and further alleviated when both flow velocity was reduced and nutrients added.

For the fungal community, genus richness generally increased when nutrients were added, and a nutrients × flow × time interaction occurred (Table 2.1). After two weeks, the marked increase in richness associated with nutrient enrichment was weakened somewhat when combined with flow velocity reduction (Fig. S2.5, Fig. S2.6.3-4). After three weeks, richness increased much less with nutrients, and mainly at reduced flow velocity. Diversity was unaffected by the manipulated factors, and evenness displayed a 4-way interaction between all factors (Table 2.1). After two weeks, reduced velocity increased evenness slightly in all treatment combinations, except for when combined with nutrient enrichment and sediment addition, where evenness was lower at reduced velocity (Fig. S2.5). After three weeks, these patterns had been largely reversed, with evenness decreasing at reduced velocity in two of the four treatment combinations involving sediment addition and nutrient enrichment.

# 2.4.4. Community compositional changes

The multivariate PERMANOVA results (Table S2.1) showed that total fungal community composition (including rare taxa) changed due to nutrient enrichment ( $F_{1,48}$  =8.76, p=0.001) and flow velocity reduction ( $F_{1,48}$  =2.45, p=0.02). Further, both PERMANOVA and PCoA results suggested that nutrient enrichment and flow velocity reduction effects changed with time (Table S2.1, Fig. 2.4). Total bacterial community composition was unaffected by all four experimental factors or their interactions. Similar community-level response patterns were also found for bacterial and fungal community composition in the multivariate results of the MANOVAs based only on the abundant taxa (Table 2.2).



Figure 2.4: PCoA graphical representation of the fungal communities for the nutrient and flow velocity treatments after 2 weeks and 3 weeks of stressor exposure. C is the control treatment, N the nutrient enrichment treatment (without any other stressors added) and F the flow reduction tent (without any other stressors added).

Table 2.2: Summary (p-values and effect sizes) of multi- and univariate LM results for the abundant taxa, with relative abundance by genera as the response variable. For all manipulated factors, significant main effects are classified directionally as positive (+) or negative (-). P-values in bold font where p < 0.05. Effect sizes (partial- $\eta^2$  values; range 0–1) are shown in parentheses for all cases where p < 0.1.

Response	Nutrient	Sediment	Flow	Time	Nutrient X Sediment	Nutrient X Flow	Sediment X Flow	Nutrient X Time	Sediment X Time	Flow X Time	Nutrient X Sediment	Nutrient X Sediment	Nutrient X Flow	Sediment X Flow	Nutrient X Sediment
											x Flow	x Time	x Time	x Time	X Flow X Time
Bacterial community	0.94	0.19	0.70	0.41	0.85	0.31	0.76	0.14	0.46	0.91	0.58	0.31	0.17	0.19	0.51
Acidovorax	0.42	0.93	0.56	0.41	0.56	0.70	0.16	<b>0.047</b> (0.08)	0.09 (0.06)	0.53	0.65	0.099 (0.05)	0.38	0.16	0.08 (0.06)
Actinoplanes	0.89	0.81	<b>0.04</b> (0.09) +	0.66	0.62	0.18	0.55	0.67	0.61	0.57	0.54	0.42	0.54	0.47	0.72
Aquabacterium	0.82	0.75	0.86	<b>0.01</b> (0.11) +	0.39	0.24	0.68	0.92	0.21	0.18	0.78	0.53	0.09	0.31	0.68
Conexibacter	0.88	0.26	0.73	0.11	0.20	0.62	0.48	0.92	0.07 (0.07)	0.25	0.23	0.54	0.65	0.37	0.32
Gemmobacter	0.84	0.35	0.19	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	0.82	0.65	0.50	0.14	0.28	0.60	0.08 (0.06)	0.55	0.053 (0.07)	0.10	0.48
Herbaspirillum	0.46	0.48	0.35	0.81	0.70	0.25	0.96	0.64	0.30	0.16	0.47	0.89	0.74	0.31	0.97
Lonsdalea	0.24	0.13	0.59	0.86	0.60	0.65	0.54	0.23	0.26	0.13	0.42	0.72	0.26	0.87	0.87
Novosphingobium	0.22	0.43	0.47	0.97	0.39	0.59	0.96	0.36	0.21	0.27	0.54	0.14	0.25	0.31	0.64
Pantoea	0.79	0.99	0.13	0.99	0.28	0.78	0.62	0.54	0.56	0.35	0.72	<b>0.01</b> (0.11)	0.28	0.69	<b>0.04</b> (0.08)
Pseudomonas	0.90	0.58	0.39	0.99	0.98	0.62	0.34	0.74	0.74	0.44	0.39	0.63	0.44	0.58	0.13
Rhizobacter	0.95	0.37	0.28	0.40	0.42	0.86	0.28	0.40	0.54	0.16	0.33	<b>0.02</b> (0.14)	0.92	0.36	0.38
Rhodoferax	0.40	0.20	0.65	0.18	0.92	0.73	0.80	0.31	0.53	0.08 (0.06)	0.40	0.90	0.39	0.30	0.94
Roseateles	0.10	0.79	0.40	0.43	1.00	0.04	0.08	0.96	0.89	0.60	0.67	0.02	0.01	0.54	0.12

						(0.08)	(0.06)					(0.10)	(0.12)		
Sphaerotilus	0.58	0.24	0.27	0.28	0.53	0.40	0.35	0.75	0.76	0.56	0.90	0.81	0.54	0.15	0.59
Sphingobium	0.89	0.58	0.57	0.34	0.51	0.91	0.71	0.75	0.61	0.48	0.47	0.84	0.25	0.44	0.93
Sphingomonas	0.75	0.48	0.28	0.63	0.70	0.06 (0.07)	0.60	0.80	0.08 (0.06)	0.35	0.09	0.53	0.53	0.41	0.35
Sphingorhabdus	0.79	0.40	0.84	0.12	0.73	0.99	0.28	0.50	0.54	0.37	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	0.08 (0.06)	0.26	0.22	0.90
Fungal community	< <b>0.001</b> (0.75)	0.74	0.10	<b>0.04</b> (0.34)	0.33	0.82	0.31	0.15	0.53	0.14	0.93	1.00	0.61	0.79	0.38
Amphisphaeria	0.62	0.31	0.20	0.94	0.99	0.30	0.052 (0.08)	0.81	0.34	0.45	0.99	0.86	0.72	0.46	0.52
Ascocoryne	0.15	0.94	0.51	0.18	0.40	0.51	0.80	0.68	0.84	0.06 (0.07)	0.70	0.98	0.71	0.99	0.37
Bartalinia	< <b>0.001</b> (0.25)	0.89	0.16	<b>0.02</b> (0.11) -	0.52	0.68	0.39	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	0.87	0.91	0.84	0.75	0.93	0.25	0.68
Curvularia	<b>0.005</b> (0.15)	0.25	0.29	0.50	<b>0.04</b> (0.08)	0.75	0.88	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	0.30	0.77	0.26	0.63	0.24	0.64	0.65
Dothidea	<b>0.04</b> (0.09)	0.14	0.24	0.50	0.07 (0.06)	0.54	0.50	0.79	0.71	0.21	0.92	0.58	0.74	0.72	0.80
Goniopila	0.22	0.51	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	0.14	0.68	0.65	0.22	0.78	<b>0.04</b> (0.08)	0.71	0.29	0.88	0.58	0.64	0.09
Lunulospora	< <b>0.001</b> (0.26) +	0.35	0.52	<b>0.04</b> (0.08)	0.38	0.71	0.64	0.08 (0.06)	0.80	0.30	0.76	0.72	0.06 (0.07)	0.72	0.86
Microdochium	0.06 (0.07)	0.61	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	0.07 (0.07)	0.70	0.32	0.40	0.25	0.88	0.65	0.64	0.92	0.43	0.41	0.75
Pyrenochaeta	< <b>0.001</b> (0.29) +	0.55	0.48	0.17	0.32	0.33	0.83	0.60	0.25	<b>0.04</b> (0.09)	0.88	0.79	0.17	0.36	0.70

The univariate results of the MANOVAs indicated that most of the 17 abundant bacterial genera remained unaffected by the stressors, whereas most of the nine abundant fungal genera responded to either flow velocity reduction or nutrient addition (Table 2.2). Indeed, 55.5 % of the abundant fungal genera showed significant main effects for nutrients (*Lunulospora* and *Pyrenochaeta* positive, *Bartalinia*, *Curvularia* and *Dothidea* negative), 22.2 % for flow velocity reduction (*Bartalinia* and *Microdochium*, both negative), and 22.2 % for sampling date (*Bartalinia* and *Lunulospora*, both becoming less prevalent after 3 weeks), whereas all nine genera were unaffected by sediment addition. Among the abundant bacterial genera, only *Actinoplanes* showed a main effect of flow velocity reduction (positive), and 11.7 % of the genera displayed an effect of sampling date (*Aquabacterium* becoming more prevalent after 3 weeks, and *Gemmobacter* less prevalent).

Stressor interactions, including time variations, occurred more frequently in fungal rather than bacterial taxa (44.4 % and 29.4 % respectively) (see Supplementary Material for genus-specific bar graphs and interaction plots). Most bacterial interactive patterns changed through time; except for *Sphingorhabdus* in which nutrient addition moderated the negative effect of sediment and flow velocity reduction (Fig. S2.6.8). For *Acidovorax*, a positive effect of nutrient enrichment after 2 weeks of exposure became negative after 3 weeks (nutrients × time; Fig. S2.6.11). After 2 weeks, *Roseateles* and *Rhizobacter* increased in prevalence when sediment alone was added but decreased when nutrients were also added; after 3 weeks these patterns were reversed, and in both weeks the exact opposite patterns were observed for *Pantoea* – (sediment × nutrients × time; Fig. S6.16-21). Further, after 2 weeks *Roseateles* decreased under flow velocity reduction alone but increased when nutrients were added too, and these patterns were reversed after 3 weeks (flow velocity × nutrients × time; Fig. S2.6.10). Finally, *Pantoea* showed a weak, complex 4-way interaction among all manipulated factors (Fig. S2.6.10), which overlaid the stronger 3-way interaction described above.

Regarding interactive effects on abundant fungal genera, *Curvularia* increased in prevalence when sediment alone was added, whereas this genus decreased when nutrients were also added (sediment  $\times$  nutrients; Fig. S2.6.12). The remaining interactions all involved temporal changes. *Goniopila* responded positively to sediment addition after 2 weeks but negatively after 3 weeks (sediment  $\times$  time; Fig. S2.6.7), and *Pyrenochaeta* showed the same temporal change for reduced flow velocity (flow velocity  $\times$  time; Fig. S2.6.9). Finally, the negative effect of nutrient

enrichment was stronger after 2 weeks for *Bartalinia* and after 3 weeks for *Curvularia* (nutrients  $\times$  time; Figs S2.6.5, S2.6.6).

#### 2.4.5. Persistence of terrestrial microbes after submersion

Most of the terrestrial bacterial and fungal taxa were maintained in the experimental treatments after submersion and exposure to the stressors; however, their relative abundances were drastically altered, especially for fungi (Fig. 2.3, S2.2-S2.3). Terrestrial bacterial and fungal communities were composed of 280 and 56 genera, respectively. All these bacterial genera were detected in at least one treatment replicate on both sampling dates. For fungi, 88 % of the terrestrial community was found in at least one treatment replicate after two weeks of incubation and 94 % after three weeks.

The terrestrial bacterial community was predominantly composed of *Actinoplanes*, *Sphingobium*, *Phenylobacterium*, *Novosphingobium* and *Rhizobacter* (Fig. S2.2), and these five genera also showed high mean relative abundances across treatments (except for *Phenylobacterium*). The terrestrial fungal community was dominated by *Knufia*, *Macrophomina*, *Corynespora*, *Wiesneriomyces* and *Macrodochium* (Fig. S2.3). Although these genera were still detected post submersion and treatment exposure, their relative abundances were much lower in all treatments.

## 2.5. Discussion

Predicting the composition of microbial communities following exposure to stressors and the functional impacts of any changes are important objectives of microbial ecology. Our experiment used culture-independent techniques, combined with a technologically advanced stream mesocosm system, to investigate the effect of multiple stressors on microbial dynamics involved with leaf litter decomposition in a semi-natural, multi-trophic context and along a short temporal gradient. Under nutrient enrichment, fungal community composition shifted due to changes in relative abundances of certain genera. These changes differed from those found when flow velocity was reduced. Fungal community changes were paralleled by acceleration of decomposition under nutrient enrichment, and deceleration under flow velocity reduction. Compositional changes were characterised by a steep increase in the relative abundances of pre-existing fungal genera such as *Ascocoryne* and *Bartalinia*, which had already colonised the litter in low abundances at the time of leaf senescence. The changes in the relative abundances

rather than identity of the communities suggest that in the early stages of organic matter decomposition, instead of eliminating certain genera or encouraging new ones, our stressors induced a shift in genus prevalence patterns.

Summed across our diversity and common taxa response variables, significant interactions among nutrients, sediment and/or flow velocity (12 in total) were more common than the main effects of these three stressors (10 in total), highlighting the importance of using a full-factorial design in our experiment. This pattern was especially evident for the bacterial response variables, which were affected predominantly via stressor interactions rather than via main effects (9 versus 2), as discussed further below.

#### 2.5.1. The three stressors compared

Our first and second hypotheses – higher decomposition with enriched nutrients and lower with flow velocity reduction - were supported by the observed decomposition rates in these treatments. Our finding for nutrient enrichment is in accordance with previous studies where enrichment increased the metabolic rate of the microbial communities (Manning et al., 2018; Piggott et al., 2015a). Indeed, microbes can easily assimilate resources directly available in the water column at a lower energetic cost (Fernandes et al., 2014; Gulis et al., 2017; Lin and Webster, 2014; Webster et al., 2009). These resources can then be re-mobilised to increase the activity of enzymes involved in the degradation of complex carbohydrates and phenolic compounds (Carreiro et al., 2000). At reduced flow velocity, an increase in the boundary layer thickness surrounding the microbiome is a likely driver of slower decomposition rates (Bruder et al., 2016a; Mustonen et al., 2016; Piggott et al., 2015a). Thus, a thicker boundary layer has been associated with impeding the exchange of resources, such as nutrients and oxygen, between microbiome and water column, leading to reduced microbial activity (Barker Jømgensen and Des Marais, 1990; Lemly, 1982; Stevens and Kurd, 1997). It is unlikely that decreased physical abrasion was responsible for our observations as our normal flow velocity treatments were not fast enough to cause obvious loss of leaf material (N.P.D. Juvigny-Khenafou, personal observation) and decomposition did not advance to the later stages where leaves become easily friable (mass loss did not exceed 50 % of the original mass).

The changes in decomposition rates observed in the flow velocity reduction and nutrient enrichment treatments were paralleled by diversity changes in the fungal community. We had hypothesised that changes in the identity of microbial genera and in their diversity would occur, but this was supported only for one diversity metric for the fungal community, where taxon richness increased when nutrients where added. Instead, the remaining stressor effects were mainly changes in relative abundances, creating distinct groups of dominant fungal genera in response to the flow velocity and nutrient manipulations. Species in microbial communities have a degree of functional redundancy (Bell et al., 2005; Gessner et al., 2010), and this redundancy may have allowed maintaining most genera across most of our experimental treatments. Moreover, our stream-connected system had a continual input of microbes which could have recolonised the mesocosm substrata, buffering losses of the original genera resulting from the different treatments. Overall, our results indicate that – in a 42-day experiment in a mesocosm system fed by a montane stream – abundance dominance patterns rather than richness drove microbial community shifts in response to stressors.

Our third hypothesis – decreased decomposition with increased sedimentation – was not supported: the sediment treatment affected neither decomposition rates nor microbial community structure. This result is largely divergent from previous studies which usually found a strong effect of sedimentation on decomposition rates and bacterial assemblages whether positive or negative (Bruder et al., 2016a; Matthaei et al., 2010; Romero et al., 2019b). We suspect the sedimentation level applied in our experiment was not high enough to create a strong barrier with the external environment for all the leaves in the packs (see Section 2.3). This idea is further supported by the lack of sediment main effects on microbial community alpha diversity and abundant genera (although several interactive stressor effects involving sediment occurred, see next section).

#### 2.5.2. Stressor main effects and interactions across time

Stressor interactions were more common than stressor main effects, especially for the bacterial community. Most of the significant stressor interactions involved nutrients  $\times$  sediment and nutrients  $\times$  flow, often associated with changes from 2 to 3 weeks of stressor exposure. The observed interactive patterns largely supported our fourth hypothesis, that positive nutrient effects on decomposition rates and microbial diversity would be counteracted by sedimentation and flow velocity reduction (although no interactive effects were observed for decomposition rates). A nutrients  $\times$  sediment  $\times$  time interaction affected bacterial diversity, whilst a nutrients  $\times$  flow  $\times$  time interaction affected fungal richness and a 4-way interaction of all manipulated factors affected both bacterial and fungal evenness. As predicted, when combined with nutrient

enrichment, sediment addition and flow velocity reduction had the opposite effects to that of only nutrient enrichment. We suspect that both sediment addition and flow velocity reduction create physical barriers in the boundary layer, which limits resource exchange between microbiome and water column and prevents a nutrient-enrichment effect. However, alpha diversity patterns were not matched by the total microbial genera turnover analysis where no interactions were found, suggesting a weak influence of community identity on the overall community.

Taxon-specific responses of the abundant microbial genera also followed similar patterns, with most significant interactions involving either nutrients  $\times$  sediment or nutrients  $\times$  flow, with a mitigating effect of nutrient enrichment counteracting negative effects of sedimentation or flow velocity reduction in several cases (except for *Curvularia*). Notably this mitigating effect was often inconsistent through time, either lagging (only observed after 3 weeks) or fading (ending after 2 weeks). Previous experiments in terrestrial microbiomes have found that nutrient enrichment accelerated microbial succession (Knelman et al., 2014); thus, the temporal taxon-specific interactive patterns observed in our study could be the result of changes in taxon-specific successional dynamics.

Similar to their interactive effects, stressor main effects on the microbial response variables often changed with time in our study, with several response patterns being reversed from 2 weeks to 3 weeks of stressor exposure. Such temporal effect reversals occurred for abundant individual bacterial (*Acidovorax*) and fungal taxa (*Goniopila, Pyrenochaeta, Bartalinia and Curvularia*). This finding is particularly interesting as temporal patterns are still largely unexplored in microbial community responses to multiple interacting stressors. We further speculate that taken into a community-network context, some biotic interactions among species confer a resistance level to individual microbial taxa, buffering their response to stressors (Tylianakis et al., 2010). However, biotic interactions change through time (Hutchinson et al., 2019), and new interactions can be created whilst others can be lost depending on other species' responses to stressors through time. We suggest that to better understand interactive stressor effects on microbial communities, future efforts should focus on biotic interactions, microbial succession and response thresholds to stressors.

# 2.5.3. Stochastic versus deterministic effects of stressors on microbial community composition

A previous experiment suggested that stressors, or disturbances, can mediate stochastic community assembly by filtering out unsuitable species (Herren et al., 2016). If stressor levels are strong enough to selectively prevent establishment of certain species, then specific groups of microbes should become associated with the different treatments, and consistent community structures should be found across treatment replicates. The close proximity of the different replicates in our PCoA analysis combined with the selection of specific fungal groups and the overall fungal community structural rearrangements under nutrient enrichment and flow velocity reduction suggests that both stressors can drive succession of the litter fungal community, thus implying deterministic changes. Microbial communities have been hypothesised to have a high functional redundancy because of their high diversity (Bell et al., 2005; Martínez and Canhoto, 2019). However, the lack of obvious selection patterns in most of our stressor combination treatments, combined with high variability between treatment replicates and unchanged decomposition rates, lean towards this functional redundancy hypothesis, indicating a resistance of the overall function of the decomposing litter microbial community to moderate stressors and stressor combinations.

#### 2.5.4. The terrestrial microbial community matters

Our results also suggest that the microbial endosphere and phyllosphere of terrestrial leaves were not replaced during 3 weeks of submergence and stressor exposure. This result is in accordance with Röhl et al. (2017), who also found that a large proportion of the terrestial microbial community persisted in the first three weeks of submerged leaf litter decomposition. Rather, the community structural changes observed in our experiment were largely driven by rearrangements of relative abundances; distinct groups of minor genera present during the terrestrial stage (Ascocoryne, Goniopila, Pyrenochaeta, Lunulospora, Microdochium, Amphisphaeria, Dothidea, Curvularia, and Bartalinia) became dominant after two and three weeks of stressor exposure in stream water and displayed different responses to the stressor treatments. Despite evidence of terrestrial fungi in decomposing stream litter, the role of the initial microbial community has rarely been considered in multiple-stressor studies (Mustonen et al., 2016; Röhl et al., 2017). In our study, a large proportion of the bacterial and fungal genera involved in the variability of the microbial community across treatments were present at all time points of assessment (on Day-7, after 2 weeks and 3 weeks of stressor exposure). We therefore suggest that the original terrestrial microbial community that colonised leaf litter prior to senescence and submersion may be involved in the decomposition process. This

finding is particularly interesting as it would provide a direct link between the terrestrial and aquatic environment. Because most related laboratory experiments involved sterilised leaves and relied on fungal sporulation to assess and/or identify the fungal community, they could not investigate this question (Artigas et al., 2008; Gardeström et al., 2016; Pascoal and Cássio, 2004; Suberkropp, 1998). This difference further highlights the need for more molecular studies on aquatic leaf litter decomposition to be conducted in mesocosms that can realistically simulate stream environments to better understand the mechanisms involved.

#### 2.5.5. Limitations and Conclusions

Our findings suggest that leaf-litter microbial communities have a tolerance level to moderate stressor addition. This point is interesting as our study was conducted in a pristine montane stream, implying that microbial decomposers may have a certain degree of natural resistance to stressor interactions displayed in both their community structure and their activities. Additionally, the absence of interactions among our manipulated stressors observed for leaf decomposition rates matches similar studies (Matthaei et al., 2010; Mustonen et al., 2016; Piggott et al., 2015a).

Our study has several limitations worth being aware of. We did not investigate any biological drivers that may have influenced the leaf litter microbial communities besides the three manipulated stressors, for example detritivorous stream invertebrates. Some invertebrates are known to selectively feed on microbes growing on submerged leaves and could have created varying levels of grazing pressure depending on their own density response to the stressors, thus potentially changing both microbial community composition and decomposition rates (Danger et al., 2016). Further, our experiment dealt only with relatively early stages of leaf decomposition, as can be seen in the moderate mean mass losses (34-37%) during our 4-week incubation period, perhaps due to the use of a tree species with waxy leaves which can prevent fast colonisation by aquatic fungi. Consequently, microbial community replacements patterns might have become stronger had we been able to continue our experiment for several more weeks. Finally, a better characterisation of the fungal community might have been obtained had we combined our 18S approach with ITS primers; this approach might have avoided biases associated with the different primers whilst following the commonly used primers for fungal communities assessments (De Filippis et al., 2017).

One previous study suggested that fungal biomass changes were more important than fungal identity in mediating litter decomposition (Ferreira and Chauvet, 2012), whereas others found relationships with microbial diversity (Costantini and Rossi, 2010; Duarte et al., 2006; Santschi et al., 2018). We did not determine microbial biomass so we cannot directly compare our results to Ferreira & Chauvet (2012), but our results do not support an effect of diversity. Such comparisons need to be made carefully, however, since these studies were conducted at different timescales. Additionally, working with relative rather than absolute microbial abundances may mean that some of the observed patterns in community composition can result from relic DNA that may linger in the aquatic system. Previous experiments have indeed shown that such relic DNA can influence relative abundance patterns of specific microbial taxa, whereas community structure remained unaffected (Gustave et al., 2019).

To conclude, further experiments combining high-throughput sequencing and metabarcoding with metabolic and enzymatic assays should be performed to better understand the microbial communities and their functional responses to multiple stressors in streams. Indeed, modern techniques, such as (meta)genomics, metabolomics, (meta)transcriptomics and (meta)proteomics, can offer unprecedented opportunities to investigate microbial communities' complexity and function *in situ*, greatly enhancing our knowledge beyond what can be acquired from laboratory experiments. When combined with ecosystem function metrics, these techniques have the potential to investigate leaf microbiome responses to stressors from molecules to species in their natural environments.

# Chapter 3: Sediments and flow velocity impact bacterial community composition and functional profile more than nutrient enrichment

# 3.1. Abstract

Freshwater ecosystems face many simultaneous pressures due to human activities. Consequently, there has been a rapid loss of freshwater biodiversity and an increase in biomonitoring programs. The objective of this study is to assess the potential of benthic bacterial communities as early indicators of the impacts of multiple stressors associated with urbanisation and agricultural intensification. We conducted a fully crossed 4-factor experiment in 64 flow-through mesocosms fed by a pristine montane stream (21 days of colonisation, 21 days of manipulation) and investigated the effects of nutrient enrichment, flow velocity reduction and sedimentation after 2 and 3 weeks of stressor exposure. We used high-throughput sequencing and metabarcoding techniques (16S rRNA) as well as curated biological databases (METAGENassit, MetaCyc) to identify changes in bacterial relative abundances and predicted metabolic functional profile. Stressors and stressor combinations had pervasive effects on bacterial community composition and predicted functions, and many complex 2-way or 3-way interactions among stressors occurred. Observed changes were largely stable over time and occurred after just 2 weeks of exposure, demonstrating that bacterial communities can be wellsuited for early detection of multiple stressors. When combined, changes in bacterial communities and predicted metabolic functions allowed the extrapolation of underlaying stream wide mechanisms operating in the system such as carbon use and bacterial energy production pathways. To conclude, a holistic approach to multiple stressors, which includes basal and higher trophic levels and functional responses, enhances mechanistic understanding of stressor effects, promoting the establishment of more efficient biomonitoring programs.

# 3.2. Introduction

In many regions of the world, the proportion of freshwater systems subject to multiple stressors outweighs that of pristine systems (Davis et al., 2010; Han et al., 2016; Heathwaite, 2010; Reid et al., 2019). Stressors are largely associated with land-use change, and the Anthropocene has triggered severe disruptions in the natural cycles of resources and freshwater communities (Dudgeon et al., 2006; Reid et al., 2019). For instance, eutrophication has become more frequent as a result of agricultural intensification (Zhao et al., 2006); allochthonous carbon inputs are mediated by riparian land-use changes (Chauvet et al., 2016); and stream communities are becoming simplified due to habitat homogenisation (Petsch et al., 2017). Because of the importance inland waters play in the sustainability of both human and wild communities, it is essential that we understand the consequences of stressor interactions before ecological regime shifts become irreversible (Gordon et al., 2008).

In lotic environments, bacterial communities can be free-living or form conglomerates on bed substrata (biofilms). Bacteria can be autotrophs or heterotrophs, feeding on different carbon sources (Zeglin, 2015). Biofilm and sediment constitute an important food source for higher trophic levels including many invertebrates (Cross et al., 2003; Guilini et al., 2010). Biofilms also provide important functions associated with stream ecosystem health and the maintenance of water quality, such as denitrification, bioremediation and whole-stream respiration (Besemer, 2015; Romaní et al., 2006; von Schiller et al., 2017). Despite their importance, the successional dynamics and function changes of biofilm communities under multiple stressors are still poorly understood, especially in lotic environments (Antwis et al., 2017; Battin et al., 2016).

Bacterial communities have a fast turnover rate and a degree of functional redundancy, thus creating uncertainty in the extent to which microbiota are sensitive, resistant or resilient to multiple stressors (Antwis et al., 2017; Bell et al., 2005). Further, environmental parameters alone do not always explain response to stress as bacterial populations directly or indirectly interact between each other, forming a network of non-random associations between taxa (Barberán et al., 2012; Battin et al., 2016; Lima-Mendez et al., 2015; Widder et al., 2016). If multiple stressors have strong impacts on bacterial community assemblages and/or function, these changes can be regarded as adaptive responses to stress over short time periods. By contrast, if functional redundancy dominates, communities should remain largely static or in

completely random associative patterns (Herren et al., 2016). If the former scenario of strong impacts is correct, benthic bacterial communities could be useful indicators of multiple stressor effects (Romero et al., 2018). Indeed, bacterial communities may sometimes detect stressor effects before they can be observed in higher trophic levels such as invertebrates or fishes. Because of their longer lifespans, unless a catastrophic event occurs, organisms at higher trophic levels may persist in streams longer after their fitness decreases, thus changes in fish or invertebrate community composition may be slower to become evident (He et al., 2019). Equally, because of their basal resource position in the food web, changes in biofilm characteristics (e.g. composition, biomass, function) have the potential to modulate the density of higher trophic levels (Antwis et al., 2017). For instance, Ullah et al. (2018) found in marine systems that the combined stress of acidification and warming reduced the biomass flows from the first trophic level (primary producers and detritus) to the second (herbivores), and from the second to the third (carnivores).

Stressors such as sedimentation, water scarcity and nutrient enrichment, which are often associated with urbanisation and agricultural land uses, are known to have a strong impact on stream microbial communities and their activities (Pascoal and Cássio, 2004; Piggott et al., 2015a; Widder et al., 2014). Both sedimentation and reduced flow velocity limit the exchange of resources between the water column and benthic habitats by creating a physical barrier and increasing boundary layer thickness (Barker Jømgensen and Des Marais, 1990; Stevens and Kurd, 1997), whilst eutrophication favours development of microbes associated with algal blooms (Piggott et al., 2015b) and has been seen to accelerate microbial succession in terrestrial systems (Knelman et al., 2014). However, other experiments on stream benthos and sediments have also reported limited effect of nutrient enrichment on bacterial communities (Bowen et al., 2011; Salis et al., 2017). Sedimentation also changes the physical structure of the substrata on which bacteria grow, influencing bacterial attachment and development (Allan, 2004; Romero et al., 2019b; Salis et al., 2017). Overall, stressors influencing the metabolic rate of microbial communities then modulate successional dynamics. To date, studies of bacterial community composition under different environmental conditions often involve field observations, which may lack the ability to reveal mechanistic understanding, or laboratory assays with insufficient complexity of the microbial community and abiotic parameters compared with that of the natural environment (Romero et al., 2018; Steen et al., 2019; Wagner et al., 2015). We argue that to better understand the shifts in microbial community composition and function subject to multiple stressors, we must consider various mechanisms including

adaptation, selection, dispersal, dormancy, persistence, co-occurrence, priority effects, legacy effects, and interspecific interactions as part of the experimental design (Bissett et al., 2013). Thus, a capacity to control environmental variables, coupled with the full complexity of microbial communities, is necessary, making field manipulative studies more realistic and relevant to natural conditions.

Here we used flow-through field stream mesocosms to investigate the effects of nutrient enrichment, flow-velocity reduction and fine-sediment deposition on benthic bacterial communities. Our overall aims were to investigate the community assembly processes under multiple stressors, and to examine how these processes shape the functional profile of the assemblages (Figure 3.1). We tested five specific hypotheses: 1. Bacterial diversity will have a certain degree of resistance to nutrient enrichment but successional dynamics will be accelerated, causing changes in dominance patterns (Bowen et al., 2011; Knelman et al., 2014); 2. Flow-velocity reduction and added fine sediment will create strong community assemblage shifts, by changing the physical environment and influencing dispersal and settlement of biofilm (Besemer et al., 2009; Salis et al., 2017); 3. Stressor-induced changes in benthic bacterial communities will drive shifts in their metabolic functional profile which are linked to major stream ecosystem processes such as carbon and nutrient cycles (Romero et al., 2019a, 2019b); 4. The three stressors will interact when affecting bacterial communities, resulting in a range of complex responses (Salis et al., 2017); 5. There are non-random interactions between groups of dominant bacterial genera (Lima-Mendez et al., 2015).



Figure 3.1: Framework of the study objectives. Abiotic parameters interact with each other's to modify the bacterial community network. Taxa which have evolved in non-random association are expected to respond to the same stressors which may accelerate or decelerate

the evolutionary trajectory adopted by the prior stress community. This results in shifts in the community functional profile and stream wide processed (nutrient cycling, carbon cycling and others). By combining the functional profile of the community its assembly organisation, the importance of various taxa in controlling the community functionality and organisation can be evaluated and further susceptibility of the system extrapolated.

# 3.3. Methods

# 3.3.1. Experimental system

See Chapters 2.3.1, 2.3.2.

### 3.3.2. Experimental design

We manipulated deposited fine sediment on the bed surface (ambient vs. added), dissolved nutrient concentrations (ambient vs. enriched) and flow velocity (fast vs. reduced) in a full-factorial design with two sampling dates (Days 13 and 20). A detailed description of the study design and the experimental manipulations can be found in Chapter 2.3.2 and 2.3.3.

#### *3.3.3. Benthic biofilm sampling*

On Days 13 and 20, benthic biofilm samples from ceramic tiles (including the associated fine surface sediment) were collected carefully, placed into individual sterile 50-mL centrifuge tubes, and kept on ice before being frozen at -20°C within 2 hrs of collection. When sampling tiles, we first siphoned the top surface of each tile (including any fine sediment present) using 10 mL sterile syringes, and then collected the entire tile. All samples were sent to Sangon Biotech Co., Ltd., Shanghai, China for DNA extraction.

#### 3.3.4. DNA extraction, PCR amplification and sequencing

For each mesocosm, one tile with associated fine surface-sediment was used for the DNA extraction. To extract the microbial DNA, tiles were first scraped with a sterile blade and washed with 1 x phosphate buffered saline solution (PBS) into the centrifuge tubes containing the sediment. Then 2 g of 0.5 - 1 mm sterile glass beads were added to the biofilm and sediment slurry. Centrifuge tubes were vortexed for 3 min at 2500 rpm and homogenised for 5 min before being centrifuged at 12000 g for 2 min. The precipitate was then collected for DNA extraction. All samples were later processed by next-generation sequencing (Illumina MiSeqPE250) using the PCR primer pairs Nobar 341F/Nobar 805R (J. Zhang et al., 2019), targeting the V3-V4 region of bacterial 16s rRNA. Both forward and reverse primers were tagged with adapter

sequences, pad and linker regions and a unique barcode on the forward primer to permit the multiplexing of samples. All primers were provided by Sangon Biotech Co., Ltd., Shanghai, China.

A nested PCR was then implemented. Details of the PCR mixtures, cycles and library-building can be found in Juvigny-Khenafou et al. (2019). Sequences were processed and analysed using QIIME 1.8.0 based on sequence length, quality, primer and tag. The forward and reverse reads were joined with an overlap length of 150 bp. Following removal of the primer, all reads having a tail quality score below 20 (with a 10 bp window), containing ambiguous characters and less than 200 bp were removed. Chimeras were identified using the UCHIME software (Edgar et al., 2011). The filtered reads were then clustered into OTUs (Operational Taxonomic Units) with USEARCH using a 97% similarity (Edgar, 2010) and OTUs found in only one read across the dataset were discarded. The average length of the remaining filtered sequences was 416 bp. The taxonomic assignment of OTUs was performed against the Silva database with the Ribosomal Database Project classifier and a minimal confidence score of 0.8 (Gustave et al., 2019; Purahong et al., 2016; Xiao et al., 2018). We did not rarefy the samples but instead used coverage estimators to ensure their comparability prior to downstream analyses (Chao and Jost, 2012; Shimadzu, 2018). Raw prokaryotic data were deposited in the NCBI Sequence Read Archive (SRA) under the BioProject ID PRJNA560484.

#### 3.3.5. Data analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using R (version 3.5.2, R Core Team). The multivariate analyses detailed below were computed with the *vegan* package (Oksanen, 2015). We used a linear model with a significance level and effect sizes following Chapter 2.3.6.

We first generated class-level relative abundance plots for overview purposes and then statistically analysed our dataset at the order level because a previous experiment in a similar mesocosm system revealed that taxonomic resolution below order did not increase detectability of stressor interactions affecting bacterial communities (Salis et al., 2017). Bacterial alpha diversity, richness, Shannon index and Pielou's evenness were computed and analysed with the linear model detailed above.

To investigate the total community response (including rare taxa) to the stressors, a PERMANOVA (Bray-Curtis coefficient and 999 permutations) was performed, and a permutational analysis of multivariate dispersions (PERMDISP; Anderson, 2006) conducted to assess homogeneity. Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) plots were then made to allow visual representation of significant PERMANOVA outputs. PCoA plots were based on Hellinger-transformed data to reduce the weights for genera with low relative abundance counts and to allow subsequent Euclidian representation of data based on Euclidian distances (Legendre and Gallagher, 2001). A MANOVA analysis was then performed on the abundant taxa (>1% of the total reads, Baltar et al., 2015) to investigate community and taxon-specific responses. Some Spartobacteria taxa could not be assigned to an order and were thus kept as *Spartobacteria\_uncl* in this analysis. To further identify taxa of particular interest, a similarity percentage analysis (SIMPER) was performed with a 70% cumulative dissimilarity cut-off (Tolkkinen et al., 2015b). This allowed us to identify the taxa that accounted for most of the differences between the treatments and control mesocosms.

We then built a co-occurrence network between the abundant taxa across all experimental treatments following Widder et al. (2014), to identify highly connected taxa. This network analysis provides insights about the potential biotic interactions among the abundant taxa and allows inferences to be made about the stability of a system (Tylianakis et al., 2010). Briefly, the abundant taxon community matrix was Hellinger-transformed and a pairwise Spearman correlation matrix generated. The significance level was adjusted for false discovery rates following Benjamini & Hochberg (1995), and correlations were regarded as robust if the coefficient  $\rho_s$  was > |0.6| and significant at P < 0.01. Our sample set covered a wide range of environmental conditions, thus giving us sufficient variability in taxon abundances to resolve co-occurrence patterns (Barberán et al., 2012).

Finally, changes in the functional community profile were assessed by uploading the community matrix to the METAGENassist web server (Arndt et al., 2012). The METAGEN database enables the automated taxonomic-to-phenotypic mapping of the genomic reads. The database of phenotypic information covers nearly 20 functional categories such as oxygen requirements, energy sources and metabolic pathways. For the purpose of our study, we only examined the 'metabolic pathways' functional category to evaluate biosynthesis and assimilation strategies. We then performed a MANOVA analysis with the same structure as above on the abundant predicted functions (>1% of the total reads). Identified abundant

predicted functions were cross-referenced against the MetaCyc database, an online highly curated reference source for metabolic data, to get deeper insight on their functioning (Karp, 2002).

## 3.4. Results

#### 3.4.1. Class-level microbial community composition

The dataset had a total of 5,105,737 raw reads, out of which 4,761,936 were assigned to 23,952 bacterial OTUs after dereplication, quality filtering and sorting. The Coverage estimator showed that similar degrees of completeness were achieved (Coverage range  $0.98 \pm 0.001$  [SD]) with sufficient sampling depth (16S: 72,507 ± 16,823 [SD]) in each sample.

The community was dominated by Proteobacteria (68.3% of all reads), amongst which Alphaproteobacteria (44.9% after 2 weeks, 43.6% after 3 weeks), Betaproteobacteria (4.5%, 4.6%) and Gammaproteobacteria (19.2%, 19.6%) were the most abundant taxa. At the class level, bacterial communities showed clear rearrangement patterns in response to the experimental treatments, and these changes were largely stable through time (Fig. 3.2). Response patterns at the order level are presented in the section on *Community compositional changes*.



Figure 3.2: Mean relative abundances of bacterial classes across the different treatments after 2 weeks (left) and 3 weeks (right) of exposure to the stressors; C: control, N: nutrients, F: flow velocity, S: sediment, NF: nutrient + flow velocity, NS: nutrient + sediment, SF: sediment + flow velocity, NFS: all three stressors combined.

### 3.4.2. Stressor effects on alpha diversity metrics

Added sediment and flow-velocity reduction increased bacterial order richness, diversity and evenness, whereas nutrient enrichment had no main effect on these metrics (Table 3.1). Further, interactions between sediment x nutrients and sediment x flow-velocity reduction affected two of the three metrics. Shannon diversity and Pielou's evenness both increased more strongly with added sediment in nutrient-enriched than in non-enriched mesocosms (Fig. S3.1, S3.2), and both metrics also increased more strongly with added sediment in mesocosms with fast flow than in those with reduced flow velocity (Fig. S3.3, S3.4). Only one effect of time was observed, an increase in order richness from week 2 to week 3.

Table 3.1: Summary (p-values and effect sizes) of linear model results comparing bacterial alpha diversity metrics in response to the treatment combinations; nutrient enrichment, sediment addition, flow velocity reduction and time of exposure. For the manipulated factors, main effects are classified directionally as positive (+) or negative (–). P-values are in bold where p < 0.05. Effect sizes (partial- $\eta^2$  values; range 0–1) are shown in parentheses for all cases where p < 0.1.

Response	Nutrient	Sediment	Flow	Time	Nutrient	Nutrient	Sediment	Nutrient	Sediment	Flow	Nutrient	Nutrient	Nutrient	Sediment	Nutrient
					Х	х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	х
					Sediment	Flow	Flow	Time	Time	Time	Sediment	Sediment	Flow	Flow	Sediment
											Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
											Flow	Time	Time	Time	Flow
															Х
															Time
Richness	0.26	<0.001	0.04	0.02	0.54	0.78	0.13	0.81	0.17	0.85	0.30	0.52	0.58	0.78	0.17
		(0.62)	(0.08)	(0.10)											
		+	+	+											
Shannon	0.06	<0.001	<0.001	0.25	0.02	0.53	<0.001	0.83	0.43	0.81	0.12	0.53	0.80	0.70	0.54
index	(0.07)	(0.56)	(0.31)		(0.11)		(0.29)								
		+	+												
Pielou's	0.053	<0.001	< 0.001	0.39	0.01	0.48	<0.001	0.80	0.53	0.79	0.12	0.57	0.87	0.70	0.66
evenness	(0.07)	(0.52)	(0.33)		(0.12)		(0.32)								
		+	+												

#### 3.4.3. Community compositional changes

The PERMANOVA on the whole bacterial community (including rare taxa) revealed similar responses to the stressors as the diversity metrics, with sediment and flow-velocity reduction but not nutrients having significant stressor main effects, and two-way interactions occurring for sediment x nutrients and sediment x flow-velocity reduction (Table 3.2). These results were largely matched by the multivariate findings of the MANOVA on the abundant-taxon community, except that here nutrient enrichment did have a significant main effect, and a two-way interaction was identified for nutrients x flow velocity. Both communities changed across the two sampling dates, and the abundant-taxon community also showed a flow velocity x time interaction.

The PCoA plots (Fig. 3.3) displayed three main community clusters (i.e. control and nutrientenriched mesocosms; ii. sediment, nutrients + sediment, sediment + flow velocity reduction, and the three stressors combined; iii. flow velocity reduction and nutrients + flow velocity reduction), with relatively minor changes within these clusters from week 2 to week 3.



Figure 3.3: PCoA of the different treatments. The points represent the centroids and the polygons are the edges made by the different treatment replicates. C: control, N: nutrient, F: flow velocity, S: sediment, NF: nutrient + flow velocity, NS: nutrient + sediment, SF: sediment + flow velocity, NFS: all three stressors combined.

The univariate results of the MANOVAs (Table 3.2) indicated that all 13 abundant bacterial taxa were affected by at least one of the stressors as a main effect. Thus, 15.4% of the abundant

taxa showed significant main effects for nutrients (Actinomycetales and Sphingobacteriales, both negative), 76.9% for sediment addition (positive: Acidimicrobiales, Actinomycetales, Burkholderiales, Planctomycetales, Rhizobiales, Spartobacteria\_uncl, Sphingobacteriales; negative: Pseudomonadales, Sphingomonadales), 84.6% for flow velocity reduction (positive: Acidimicrobiales, Burkholderiales, Planctomycetales, Rhizobiales, Rhodobacterales, Rhodospirillales, Sphingobacteriales, Verucomicrobiales, Xanthomonadales; negative: Pseudomonadales, Sphingomonadales), and 23.1% for the duration of the experiment (positive: Acidimicrobiales, Rhizobiales; negative: Verrucomicrobiales). Some of these factor main effects for sediment or flow velocity were overridden by stronger interactions of these two stressors, as detailed below. Stressor main effects remained largely stable from week 2 to week 3, except that Acidimicrobiales increased more markedly after 3 weeks when flow velocity was reduced (Fig. S3.5), whereas Actinomycetales increased more after 2 weeks when sediment was added (Fig. S3.6).

Interactions among the stressors affected all but one (*Rhizobiales*) of the 13 abundant taxa. Nutrients x sediment interactions occurred in seven taxa (53.8%). Nutrients x flow velocity interactions occurred in two taxa (15.4%). Sediment x flow velocity interactions occurred in 12 taxa (92.3%). Three-way interactions among all stressors occurred for four taxa (30.7%). All were relatively weak and did not override any lower-order interactions.

Table 3.2: Results (p-values and partial- $\eta^2$  effect sizes) of the PERMANOVA on the whole bacterial community including rare taxa (p-value and F-value) and the MANOVA (multivariate and univariate results) on the 13 abundant bacterial taxa against the different treatment combinations nutrient enrichment, sediment addition, flow velocity reduction and time of exposure. When combined, the abundant taxa accounted for 86.8% of all reads.

Response	Nutrient	Sediment	Flow	Time	Nutrient X Sediment	Nutrient X Flow	Sediment X Flow	Nutrient X Time	Sediment X Time	Flow X Time	Nutrient X Sediment X Flow	Nutrient X Sediment X Time	Nutrient X Flow X Time	Sediment X Flow X Time	Nutrient X Sediment X Flow X Time
Total community	0.29	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.008	0.24	<0.001	0.79	0.24	0.74	0.06	0.84	0.73	0.51	0.47
(perMANOVA)	F=1.12	F=32.48	F=66.6 0	F=2.25	F=6.89	F=1.26	F=34.19	F=0.21	F=1.38	F=0.24	F=3.38	F=0.16	F=0.26	F=0.50	F=0.65
Abundant taxa (MANOVA, multivariate results)	<b>0.003</b> (0.53)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.89)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.85)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.73)	<b>0.005</b> (0.51)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.63)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.76)	0.50	0.07 (0.40)	<b>0.01</b> (0.48)	0.31	0.92	0.07 (0.40)	0.67	0.13
Acidimicrobiales	0.11	< <b>0.001</b> (0.52) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.36) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.23) +	0.40	<b>0.02</b> (0.11)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.39)	0.07 (0.06)	0.28	<b>0.02</b> (0.10)	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	0.99	0.22	0.37	0.058 (0.07)
Actinomycetales	<b>0.04</b> (0.09)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.74) +	0.33	0.29	0.99	0.62	<b>0.02</b> (0.10)	0.57	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	0.61	0.74	0.94	0.36	0.91	0.15
Burkholderiales	0.25	<b>0.03</b> (0.10) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.51) +	0.47	0.45	0.76	<b>0.02</b> (0.11)	0.64	0.18	0.68	0.93	0.95	0.47	0.98	0.20
Planctomycetales	0.17	< <b>0.001</b> (0.25) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.34) +	0.14	<b>0.02</b> (0.11)	0.67	< <b>0.001</b> (0.24)	0.66	0.32	0.30	0.16	0.89	0.40	0.87	0.53
Pseudomonadales	0.23	< <b>0.001</b> (0.47)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.63)	0.91	<b>0.009</b> (0.13)	0.16	< <b>0.001</b> (0.50)	0.62	0.39	0.69	<b>0.04</b> (0.08)	1.00	0.87	0.52	0.60
Rhizobiales	0.20	<0.001 (0.47) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.23) +	<b>0.04</b> (0.08) +	0.31	0.23	0.14	0.89	0.92	0.86	0.15	0.78	0.95	0.63	0.20
Rhodobacterales	0.87	0.37	< <b>0.001</b> (0.68)	0.07 (0.06)	0.15	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.49)	0.71	0.36	0.66	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	0.68	0.95	0.57	0.97
			+												
---------------------	--------------------	-------------------------------	-------------------------------	------------------	---------------------	------	-----------------------	------	------	----------------	---------------------	------	------	----------------	-----------------
Rhodospirillales	0.57	0.27	< <b>0.001</b> (0.67) +	0.35	0.10	0.17	< <b>0.001</b> (0.56)	0.63	0.39	0.29	0.09 (0.06)	0.90	0.92	0.69	0.34
Spartobacteria uncl	0.71	< <b>0.001</b> (0.55) +	0.37	0.23	<b>0.01</b> (0.13)	0.79	<b>0.002</b> (0.18)	0.39	0.67	0.59	0.26	0.59	0.44	0.23	0.70
Sphingobacteriales	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	<0.001 (0.75) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.64) +	0.12	<b>0.001</b> (0.18)	0.11	<b>0.005</b> (0.15)	0.37	0.49	0.50	0.24	0.19	0.29	0.85	0.058 (0.07)
Sphingomonadales	0.35	<b>0.02</b> (0.10)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.50)	0.77	<b>0.004</b> (0.16)	0.55	< <b>0.001</b> (0.28)	0.62	0.17	0.81	0.08 (0.06)	0.88	0.99	0.66	0.81
Verrucomicrobiales	0.86	0.81	<0.001 (0.51) +	<0.001 (0.22)	<b>0.002</b> (0.18)	0.49	< <b>0.001</b> (0.49)	0.92	0.24	0.84	0.09 (0.06)	0.76	0.39	0.09 (0.06)	0.20
Xanthomonadales	0.32	< <b>0.001</b> (0.35) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.56) +	0.15	<b>0.048</b> (0.08)	0.17	< <b>0.001</b> (0.36)	0.34	0.41	0.08 (0.06)	<b>0.003</b> (0.16)	0.61	0.53	0.38	0.86

#### 3.4.4. Correlation between abundant taxa

The 13 abundant taxa were highly connected in our network, with a total of 66 statistically robust correlative links identified (22 negatives, 44 positives; Fig. 3.4). On average, each taxon had  $5.07 \pm 0.95$  (SD) interactions with other taxa in the network. *Pseudomonadales* had the highest number of links (7 correlations with other taxa). Further, two clusters can be identified with the phylogenetically related Proteobacteria predominantly having intraspecific correlations, except for *Rhizobiales* which did not share any link with other Proteobacteria. The other group encompassed the other taxa except *Verrucomicrobiales* primarily associated with Proteobacteria. Additionally, pairwise negative relationships, potentially indicating competition or detrimental associations, only occurred when at least one taxon belonged to the Proteobacteria Phylum.



Figure 3.4: Co-occurrence network among the abundant taxa (Genus in black font, and Class in coloured font). Blue lines represent positive relationships in relative abundances whereas red lines indicate negative relationships.

#### 3.4.5. Taxa responsible for most of the deviations from the control community

The SIMPER analysis (Table S3.1) showed that the same groups of 4-5 bacterial taxa accounted for most of the dissimilarity between the control and each stressor treatment. All these taxa were part of the abundant taxon community. *Pseudomonadales* were consistently responsible for the highest proportion of dissimilarity.

# 3.4.6. Predicted bacterial functions

A total of 15 predicted bacterial metabolic functions were identified in the dataset, with a prevalence of functions associated with ammonia oxidation (19.2%, mean across the whole dataset), dehalogenation (24.5%), sulfate reduction (30.7%) and xylan degradation (8.4%) (Fig. 3.5).





The multivariate results of the MANOVA on the seven abundant predicted functions showed that all three stressor main effects and their 2-way and 3-way interactions influenced the predicted functionality of the bacterial community (Table 3.3). The univariate results indicated that 28.5% of the abundant functions responded to nutrient enrichment (dehalogenizers positively, sulfide oxidizers negatively), 100% to sediment addition (positive: nitrogen fixers, xylan degraders, chitin degraders, sulfide oxidizers; negative: dehalogenizers, ammonia oxidizers, sulfate reducers) and 85.7% to flow-velocity reduction (positive: nitrogen fixers, xylan degraders, chitin degraders, sulfide oxidizers; negative: ammonia oxidizers, sulfate

reducers). Two of these flow velocity main effects were overridden by stronger sediment x flow velocity interactions – see below.

Stressor interactions were common, with four (57.1%) of the seven abundant bacterial functions showing nutrients x sediment, six (85.7%) sediment x flow velocity and three (42.8%) nutrients x sediment x flow velocity interactions. Three-way interactions occurred for three of the seven bacterial functions (42.8%). Finally, two stressor main effects changed with time for sulfide oxidizers (flow velocity x time: positive effect of velocity reduction stronger after 3 weeks than after 2 weeks, Fig. S3.33; sediment x time: positive effect of added sediment weaker after 3 weeks, Fig. S3.34), and so did the shape of the 3-way interaction for three functions (chitin degraders, dehalogenizers, sulfide oxidizers).

Table 3.3: Multivariate and univariate MANOVA results (p-values and partial- $\eta^2$  effect sizes) for the METAGENassist six abundant predicted bacterial functions (>1% of the total reads) against the different treatment combinations nutrient enrichment, sediment addition, flow-velocity reduction and time of exposure.

Response	Nutrient	Sediment	Flow	Time	Nutrient X Sediment	Nutrient X Flow	Sediment X Flow	Nutrient X Time	Sediment X Time	Flow X Time	Nutrient X Sediment X	Nutrient X Sediment X	Nutrient X Flow X	Sediment X Flow X	Nutrient X Sediment X
											Flow	Time	Time	Time	Flow X Time
Abundant functions (MANOVA, multivariate results)	<0.001 (0.54)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.83)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.68)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.57)	<b>0.005</b> (0.37)	<b>0.004</b> (0.38)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.64)	0.66	<b>0.003</b> (0.38)	0.29	<b>0.01</b> (0.33)	0.59	0.24	0.37	0.19
Nitrogen fixation	0.95	< <b>0.001</b> (0.66) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.38) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.20) +	0.1	0.1 (0.06)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.24)	0.16	0.33	0.18	<b>0.046</b> (0.08)	0.36	0.81	0.76	0.07 (0.07)
Dehalogenation	<b>0.03</b> (0.17) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.76)	0.57	< <b>0.001</b> (0.26)	0.47	0.16	0.57	0.35	0.86	0.15	0.98	0.49	0.16	0.84	<b>0.005</b> (0.15)
Xylan degrader	0.80	< <b>0.001</b> (0.67) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.60) +	0.17	<b>0.001</b> (0.20)	0.98	< <b>0.001</b> (0.33)	0.76	0.64	0.41	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	0.61	0.91	0.80	0.74
Ammonia oxidizer	0.30	< <b>0.001</b> (0.63)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.48)	0.46	<b>0.002</b> (0.18)	0.71	< <b>0.001</b> (0.40)	0.90	0.45	0.17	0.09 (0.06)	0.86	0.89	0.42	0.74
Sulfate reducer	0.66	< <b>0.001</b> (0.54)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.52)	0.56	<b>0.009</b> (0.13)	0.91	< <b>0.001</b> (0.28)	0.39	0.44	0.60	0.11	0.54	0.61	0.91	0.28
Chitin degradation	0.85	< <b>0.001</b> (0.64) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.32) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.29) +	0.08 (0.06)	0.35	< <b>0.001</b> (0.44)	0.08 (0.06)	0.78	0.06 (0.07)	<b>0.04</b> (0.08)	0.87	0.61	0.37	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)
Sulfide oxidizer	<b>0.003</b> (0.17)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.69) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.46) +	<b>0.03</b> (0.09) +	<b>0.003</b> (0.17)	0.25	< <b>0.001</b> (0.49)	0.26	<b>0.04</b> (0.08)	<b>0.049</b> (0.08)	0.91	0.46	0.29	0.45	<b>0.04</b> (0.08)

# 3.5. Discussion

Changes in community assembly patterns have traditionally been used as surrogates to identify and understand multiple-stressor effects on ecosystems (Ding et al., 2017; Lau et al., 2015; Piggott et al., 2015b). Notably, bacterial communities and activity have proven to be very useful for evaluating stressor-mediated changes in major biogeochemical processes in streams (Romero et al., 2019b, 2018). In our experiment, benthic bacterial assemblages strongly responded to added fine sediment, flow-velocity reduction and their interaction. Although nutrient enrichment had a lesser influence, it still shifted relative abundance dominance patterns similarly to previous studies (Bowen et al., 2011; Knelman et al., 2014; Vizza et al., 2018). Overall, stressor-related changes in bacterial assemblages drove changes in their functional profile which can be linked to major stream metabolic processes. Our results also indicate that a subset of taxa can be isolated to best describe the stressor response patterns with non-random association patterns between taxa.

# 3.5.1. The three single stressors compared

Our first hypothesis – bacterial biofilm community structure has a certain resistance to nutrient enrichment but successional rates are accelerated, changing dominance patterns – was largely supported. Nutrient enrichment had no effects on  $\alpha$ -diversity metrics or the composition of the entire bacterial community (including rare taxa). However, when only the most abundant taxa were considered, changes in the assemblage structure of these 13 taxa became apparent and two common orders decreased in relative abundance in enriched mesocosms. These results are broadly consistent with those of previous related field surveys and manipulative experiments (Piggott et al., 2015b; Salis et al., 2017; Vizza et al., 2018). To explain these findings, we suggest that most of the bacterial orders in our study system are well-adapted to oligotrophic conditions, their normal environment year-round, and that our nutrient enrichment was not high enough to generate a strong shift in community composition. Nutrient limitation and the degree of homeostasis of bacterial communities are current research topics that have generated rather divergent findings; whether nitrogen or phosphorus is the limiting factor depends on the context and the variable of interest (Danger et al., 2008; Danger and Chauvet, 2013; Vizza et al., 2018). Further, Knelman et al. (2014) argued that nutrient enrichment mainly speeds up the succession in microbial communities, and this may have been the case in our experiment because of the slope changes observed in the nutrient combinations. Moreover, the source and concentration of organic matter are generally stronger determinants of bacterial community composition than eutrophication (Zeglin, 2015). Thus, past experiments have shown that algalmat development, which often responds positively to nutrient enrichment, can prime the activity of microbial communities by fuelling the detrital pool (Halvorson et al., 2019). In our experiment, this indirect effect of nutrient enrichment may not have been pervasive enough to strongly change bacterial assemblage structure.

Sedimentation and flow-velocity reduction were our most pervasive stressors, as predicted by our second hypothesis, and similar to findings of previous related studies (Piggott et al., 2015b; Romero et al., 2019b; Salis et al., 2017). Both stressors influenced biodiversity, taxon-specific responses and the predicted functional profile, as well as creating distinct clustered communities as seen in our PCoA results. Sedimentation may affect bacterial communities in at least two possible ways. By covering the streambed surface, a physical barrier is created and resource exchanges (e.g. oxygen, nutrients) between the water column and the hyporheic zone are hampered (Hartwig and Borchardt, 2015). Further, the physical characteristics of the bed surface are modified, for example substratum grain size and bed surface roughness are decreased. Together, these changes can favour groups of bacteria well-adapted to the new environmental conditions (Besemer, 2015) and may also influence microbial colonisation patterns. Paralleling findings of a previous related study (Salis et al., 2017), both bacterial diversity and community evenness in our experiment increased in mesocosms containing added fine sediment. This result suggests that bacterial communities in these mesocosms were more diverse because they contained both new taxa preferring fine sediment as well as persisting taxa capable of tolerating sediment-rich conditions.

Flow-velocity reduction increases the boundary-layer thickness above the stream bed, thus decreasing resource exchange rates with the water column (Stevens and Kurd, 1997). On the other hand, a reduction in velocity facilitates the sedimentation of bacteria out of the flowing water column. The latter might explain the positive response of all  $\alpha$ -diversity metrics and most of the abundant bacterial taxa to reduced current velocity in our experiment. The increased diversity at slower flow velocity, however, contrasts with those of previous related studies (Nuy et al., 2018; Salis et al., 2017).

## 3.5.2. Stressor interactions and changes in the functional profile

Each of our three stressors changed the functional profile of the microbial communities, supporting our third hypothesis (see further discussion below). Moreover, a range of complex stressor interactions were detected in the  $\alpha$ -diversity metrics, the community relative abundances and the functional profile, as predicted in our fourth hypothesis. Both 2-way and 3-way interactions occurred frequently, confirming a high sensitivity of the benthic bacterial community to complex multiple-stressor effects compared to higher trophic levels such as stream invertebrates (Davis et al., 2018; Elbrecht et al., 2016; Salis et al., 2017). Bacteria have a much faster life cycle than invertebrates and can therefore respond quickly even to small changes in environmental conditions (Lau et al., 2015). Nutrient enrichment largely facilitated the microbial evolutionary response, i.e. more pronounced change in relative abundance, when added in combination with sediment or a reduction in flow velocity. On the other hand, sediment addition and flow-velocity reduction tend to hinder each other's, slowing down trajectories adopted when only one stressor was applied.

The stability of responses over time was evident from the unchanged direction across the two sampling dates (week 2 and week 3). Thus, benthic bacterial community responses were quite stable over time, adding more weight to the suggestion that they may be a useful tool for evaluating multiple-stressor effects on stream ecosystem processes (Nuy et al., 2018). Further, groups of bacterial taxa could be singled out in our SIMPER analysis because they explained the highest proportions of the variation from the control mesocosms. All these highly influential taxa were among the 13 most abundant taxa included in our MANOVAs, implying that focusing on these abundant taxa provided a realistic simplification of the complex bacterial assembly.

When combined, relative abundance changes in common bacterial taxa and predicted functions provide complementary information which can enhance our understanding of the general effects of stressors (Romero et al., 2019b) and enables us to postulate finer-scale hypotheses for more specific testing. For instance, the relative abundance of taxa known to degrade xylan and chitin increased when flow velocity reduction and sediment addition were combined. Both stressors facilitate deposition and retention of organic material on the benthic floor, which could indicate why functions translating into a higher capacity to process complex carbohydrates were enhanced. This interpretation is further supported by the increase in *Actinomycetales* and *Acidimicrobiales*, both members of the known organic matter decomposer

class Actinobacteria (Das et al., 2007), in the same treatments. The functional profile analysis also suggests changes in the metabolic pathways performed by the community. For example, in the sediment addition and flow-velocity reduction treatments, a reduction in chemolithoautotrophy can be anticipated due to an apparent decline in taxa capable of performing ammonia oxidation (METAcyc database). The growth of filamentous algae was greatly reduced in the unrestricted flow treatments (personal observation, N.P.D, Juvigny-Khenafou) reducing the availability of organic carbon sources, thereby likely favouring mineral pathways such as chemolithoautotrophy. We thus propose that the change in primary producer biomass limits the carbon supply to the detrital pool and the priming of the benthic bacterial communities (Halvorson et al., 2019). As a result, the bacterial community partially relies on different pathways to acquire their energy in those treatments; by contrast, when primary production, or other carbon supply, is favoured heterotrophic pathways are enhanced.

## 3.5.3. Non-random associations between the abundant taxa

Our network results indicate that non-random associations between dominant groups of bacteria exist validating our fifth hypothesis with phylogenetically related taxa such as Proteobacteria generally showing a higher number of potential biotic relationships. Members of microbial communities interact in a number of ways that affect their growth and metabolism, and these relationships can influence patterns of species abundance across space and time (Khan et al., 2019). Co-occurrence networks can illustrate how the growth of microbes correlate with both biotic and abiotic processes (Barberán et al., 2012). Despite their limitations (discussed in e.g. Carr et al., 2019; Freilich et al., 2018), co-occurrence networks have become widely used in microbial ecology to investigate potential patterns of competitive and cooperative evolutionary strategies, and to help develop subsequent targeted experiments. Phylogenetically related species tend to perform similar functions and respond to similar factors (Díaz et al., 2013). However, our results show that it is not unusual to find differences in the responses to multiple stressors between phylogenetically related and correlated taxa. Further, whilst some patterns may appear cooperative (positive correlations), others might suggest potential competition (negative correlations). The potential role played by biotic factors in multiple-stressor research has often been overlooked, even though such factors can help mediate community response to environmental factors (Steiner et al., 2005). For example, in our experiment highly connected taxa such as *Pseudomonadales* were also responsible for the highest proportions of the variability between stressor treatments (see SIMPER analysis).

Therefore, removal of these taxa from the assemblage could trigger unpredictable changes in abundance and functionality patterns, hampering the stability of the system (Tylianakis et al., 2010). However, the complexity of our benthic stream community did not allow us to determine if the relative abundance patterns observed for our highly connected bacterial taxa were the result of direct or indirect stressor actions. Consequently, our mesocosm-derived co-occurrence network should be complemented by subsequent laboratory assays in which the key groups of bacterial taxa identified in our experiment are studied in isolation (Carr et al., 2019). These laboratory experiments would increase our understanding of the relative importance of biotic and abiotic interactions in shaping the observed changes in bacterial community and functionality in the present mesocosm experiment.

# 3.5.4. Management implications and conclusion

Our mesocosm experiment has demonstrated that benthic stream bacterial communities are well-suited for detecting individual and interactive effects of multiple stressors within just 2-3 weeks. Further, in our study the complexity of the microbial community could be simplified and reduced to a small subset of highly indicative taxa. Given these encouraging findings, the rapid development of molecular techniques and the reduction of their cost, using benthic stream bacteria for biomonitoring purposes could provide a good alternative to macroinvertebratebased river health indexes because the latter require more demanding sampling effort, longer laboratory processing time and expert taxonomic knowledge. However, the timescale of our experiment needs to be considered carefully when extrapolating our findings. Indeed, our experiment was performed over a short period of time with no spatial variation. Seasonality and geographical location are important determinants of microbial communities; therefore, repeated experiments across time and space are necessary (Lear et al., 2008; Taniwaki et al., 2019). A 1-year survey by Lear et al. (2009) of four streams impacted by varying degrees of human modification found that macroinvertebrate community structure changed clearly across the entire gradient of human impact while bacterial communities could only separate the most impacted site from the other three.

We propose that a combination of monitoring benthic microbial and macroinvertebrate communities could be used in the management of streams and their catchments, depending on the managerial objectives and more importantly the time of exposure to stressors. Whilst stronger long-lasting stressors may be identified consistently via microbial measurements, weaker nuances may not, as a result of microbial resilience. Microbial biomonitoring thus may be more relevant in assessment of multiple stressors when the community is still in its acclimating to the new conditions. Finally, many benthic stream invertebrates rely on benthic microbial communities as food sources (Ayayee et al., 2018; Burgmer et al., 2010; Haglund and Hillebrand, 2005). Thus, changes in benthic bacterial communities in the early stages of stressor exposure could also be used to predict upcoming changes in invertebrate communities. In conclusion, combining the use of *in situ* manipulative experiments and molecular tools with laboratory targeted experiments may significantly improve understanding of how stream microbial communities respond to multiple stressors.

# Chapter 4: Impacts of multiple anthropogenic stressors on stream macroinvertebrate community composition and functional diversity

# 4.1. Abstract

Managing ecosystems to ensure the provision of essential ecosystem services in systems affected by multiple stressors is a key challenge for theoretical and applied ecology. Traitbased approaches have increasingly been used in multiple-stressor research in freshwaters because they potentially provide a powerful means to explore the mechanisms underlying changes in populations and communities. Individual benthic macroinvertebrate traits associated with mobility, life history, morphology and feeding habits are often used to determine how environmental drivers structure stream communities. However, to date multiple-stressor research on stream invertebrates has focussed more on taxonomic than on functional metrics. We conducted a fully crossed, 4-factor experiment in 64 stream mesocosms fed by a pristine montane stream (21 days of colonisation, 21 days of manipulations) and investigated the effects of nutrient enrichment, flow velocity reduction and sedimentation on invertebrate community, taxon, functional diversity and trait variables after 2 and 3 weeks of stressor exposure. Deposited fine sediment and flow velocity reduction were the most pervasive stressors affecting invertebrate abundances and diversity, and their effects translated into a reduction of functional redundancy. Stressor effects often varied between sampling occasions, further complicating the prediction of multiple-stressor effects on communities. Overall, our study suggests that future research combining community, trait and functional diversity assessments can improve our understanding of stressor effects and their interactions in running waters.

# 4.2. Introduction

Freshwater ecosystems are experiencing extreme anthropogenic pressures. Almost all river catchments are influenced directly (e.g. via point-source pollution or physical changes) and/or indirectly (i.e. via global change) by human activities, reducing freshwater biodiversity and hampering effective ecosystem functioning (Allan, 2004; Davis et al., 2010; Heathwaite, 2010). The large number of simultaneously or sequentially operating stressors renders multiple-stressor studies a necessity in environmental research. However, such endeavours are not dominant in the scientific literature and a unified framework to mechanistically understand the effects of multiple stressors is yet to be proposed (Côté et al., 2016; Nõges et al., 2016; Schäfer and Piggott, 2018). Thus, lack of knowledge how stressors interact to shape ecological processes prevents stakeholders from making efficient short- and long-term managerial decisions for conservation, restoration or ecosystem services purposes (Lindenmayer et al., 2010).

Worldwide, stressors associated with land use changes such as urban development, water use, energy and food production have become particularly pervasive. They have accelerated biodiversity loss and ecosystem functioning declines via changes in the physicochemical parameters of streams, such as nutrient concentrations and ratios, levels of deposited and suspended fine sediment, flow velocity and water turbidity (Gordon et al., 2008; Horváth et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2019). Fine sediment reduces habitat heterogeneity by infilling the interstitial spaces in the stream bed, smothers the filtering and breathing apparatus of invertebrates and increases water turbidity (Piggott et al., 2015c). Nutrient enrichment, mainly N and P derived from fertilisers, often produces subsidy-stress response gradients in invertebrate communities (Wagenhoff et al., 2012; Woodward et al., 2012). Finally, water scarcity modifies the physical habitat and the diffusion of material and resources through flow velocity reduction (Calapez et al., 2018; Harvey et al., 2017a; Wu et al., 2019). One anticipated interaction between these stressors is that a reduction in flow velocity facilitates sediment deposition and, thereby, local accumulation of chemicals and nutrients whilst decreasing water re-oxygenation levels (Calapez et al., 2018).

To assess the effects of stressors on ecological stream health, benthic macroinvertebrate communities are often used (Bonada et al., 2006; Piggott et al., 2015c). Certain groups of invertebrates such as Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera are highly sensitive to

changes in their physicochemical environment (Bonada et al., 2006). Invertebrates also connect streams across space and time, by dispersing over land and providing an important food source to higher trophic levels in both aquatic and adjacent riparian habitats (Sato et al., 2016).

One important concept in ecology is the 'environmental filtering' theory, which states that environmental conditions select for tolerant species and certain traits (Cadotte and Tucker, 2017; Poff, 1997). Whilst taxonomical assessments have often been used to assess the effects of multiple stressors on communities, they are bound to the regional species pool which reduces their potential for generalisation. To overcome this limitation, trait-based assessments, which rely on the compilation of community specific trait databases to characterise community niche breadth, have recently been getting more momentum (Ding et al., 2017). They highlight the functional significance of species, i.e. what they can do. They focus on the filtering role that environmental factors have in shaping community characterisations and provide mechanistic insights into community assembly and ecosystem processes (Poff, 1997; Statzner and Bêche, 2010; Wu et al., 2019). The results are not bound by the identity of species nor their regional pool but rather reflect phenotypic adaptations, thus facilitating the upscaling of local findings to larger geographical and longer temporal scales. In freshwater macroinvertebrate studies, traits associated with morphological characteristics, mobility, lifecycle, respiration strategy and feeding habits have been very informative (Dolédec et al., 2011; Poff et al., 2006). For instance, body shape and breathing apparatus are often associated with flow velocity and water oxygenation level (Calapez et al., 2018; Dolédec et al., 2011). The developmental pace of individuals mitigates their tolerance to stressors (Dolédec et al., 2011). Finally, feeding habits directly link to the metabolic and stoichiometric resources needed by the individuals (Cummins, 2016; Frainer et al., 2016).

Despite linking macroinvertebrate communities to wider ecosystem functions, trait-based assessments in multiple-stressor research tend to be restricted to observational rather than manipulative field experiments (Ding et al., 2017; Dolédec et al., 2011; Mor et al., 2019). Therefore, more data from multiple-stressor experiments conducted at the community and ecosystem levels in environmentally realistic scenarios are needed. To reduce this knowledge gap, we used field mesocosms to investigate the individual and combined effects of nutrient enrichment, flow velocity reduction and increased sedimentation on benthic macroinvertebrate communities and their associated functional traits. We aimed to determine if macroinvertebrate in the stressor main effects and interactions through changes in

functional trait diversity. Based on the findings of previous related research, we tested three specific hypotheses:

- Sediment addition and flow velocity will have more pervasive stressor main effects than nutrient enrichment on community structure and trait composition because of their direct physical action on macroinvertebrates (Elbrecht et al., 2016);
- (2) Nutrient enrichment will enhance the biomass accumulation potential, either via an increase in the mesocosms' carrying capacity or through a body-size shift towards larger organisms, due to increased resource availability (Cross et al., 2015; Frost and Elser, 2002; Ott et al., 2014);
- (3) Interactions between flow velocity reduction and added sediment will be more common than interactions with nutrient enrichment (Elbrecht et al., 2016).



Figure 4.1: Conceptual model of the experiment. The benthic invertebrate community colonizing the stream mesocosms (regional community) is subject to different combinations of three stressors, nutrient enrichment (N), added fine sediment (S) and reduced flow velocity (F). The resulting, filtered communities (local community) possess different densities of traits, which then influence functional diversity of the ecosystem and its stability.

# 4.3. Materials and methods

# 4.3.1. Experimental mesocosm system

#### See Chapters 2.3.1, 2.3.2.

4.3.2. Experimental design

See Chapter 2.3.2 and 2.3.3.

# 4.3.3. Macroinvertebrate sampling

On each sampling occasion (Day 14 and Day 21), water flow was stopped in two header tanks and the whole substratum and the associated benthic invertebrates of the 32 mesocosms were sieved in the field using a 150-µm metal sieve and stored in 2-L PET containers. These were immediately filled to the top with 95% ethanol and later stored at -18°C in the laboratory until processing. After ~12 hours, one third of the ethanol was replaced with fresh ethanol to account for any dilution caused by the water remaining in the substratum. In the laboratory, the invertebrates were elutriated with a 450-µm sieve to remove the fine sediment and randomly divided into four equal subsamples. The specimen present in one subsample were counted, measured to the nearest 1 mm (body length excluding cerci and case, Piggott et al. (2015c) and identified to family using a stereomicroscope (Leica EZ4HD 8-35X, Leica microsystems GmbH, Wetzlar, Germany), except for Nematoda, Oligochaeta, and Acari (Brooks et al., 2011). When specimens could not be confidently identified to a family they were assigned to an order. We adopted this conservative approach across the whole dataset to reduce misassignments associated with the small size and general state of some specimens. Further, previous experiments suggest that family level of identification can be reliably used to examine community-environment and trait-environment relationships in aquatic habitats (Brooks et al., 2011; Tolonen et al., 2017). Adults in coleopteran families and dipteran pupae were kept as individual taxa as they present different biological characteristics from their larval counterparts. The remaining 3/4 of each sample was scanned for rare taxa, which were added to the total taxon count in each sample. We then extrapolated the total invertebrate abundance for all taxa in each mesocosm by multiplying the subsample counts by 4.

We measured 27 benthos-specific response variables: (i) total benthic invertebrate abundance, (ii) benthic taxon richness, (iii) Shannon's diversity index (H), (iv) Pielou's evenness index (J), (v) benthic EPT richness (number of taxa in the orders Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera), (vi) benthic EPT abundance, (vii) three invertebrate size categories (following Piggott et al. 2015c), (viii) abundant taxa total community composition and (ix) abundances of the 17 most common benthic taxa, representing 95.1% of all individuals. We defined taxa as being abundant if they represented 0.3% or more of all individuals and were present in at least 50% of all mesocosms (n = 32) (Beermann et al., 2018a; Elbrecht et al., 2016).

# 4.3.4. Species trait data

All invertebrates were assigned into five trait groups, which were subsequently divided into 22 trait categories, using a binary code (Li et al., 2019). Adult beetles (which were rare) and insect pupae were excluded from this classification. Selected traits featured lifecycle, habit, functional feeding groups, morphology, and respiration strategy (Table 4.1). Together these traits give an overall description of the ecological characteristics of the community and also represent aspects that are susceptible to having a close relationship with the manipulated stressors. Further, the traits provide information about the resilience and resistance of the community as well as more general biological characteristics (Ding et al., 2017; Dolédec et al., 2011; Li et al., 2019). Trait information was adapted from the literature (Ding et al., 2017; Merritt et al., 2008; Poff et al., 2006) and online databases (www.freshwaterecology.info). A summary of the different trait categories can be found in Table 4.1.

Traits	Categories
Lifecycle	
<b>Reproductive cycle</b>	Semivoltine
1 V	Univoltine
	Plurivoltine
Mobility	
Habit	Burrowers
	Sprawlers
	Clingers
	Swimmers
Morphology	
Body shape	Streamlined
	Not streamlined
Maximum adult size	Small (1 – 9 mm)
	Medium $(9 - 16 \text{ mm})$
	Large (> 16 mm)
Respiration	Brachial
	Intertegumentary
Foraging	
Functional feeding groups	Collector – gatherers
	Collector – filterers
	Scrapers
	Predators
	Shredders

Table 4.1: Functional trait classification of the benthic macroinvertebrates in the mesocosms

We used the *dbFD* function in the FD R package (Laliberté and Legendre, 2010) to calculate the functional richness, functional evenness and functional divergence, as proposed by Villéger et al (2008). Together, these metrics can indicate whether species in an environment are performing similar (i.e. redundant) or different (i.e. complementary) roles for a given function or service (Wilkinson et al., 2018). Functional richness measures the amount of the functional trait space filled by a given macroinvertebrate assemblage (i.e. the set of species found in each mesocosm) irrespective of the species' abundances. Functional divergence measures the spread, i.e. divergence in distribution, of species relative to the centroid of the functional trait space (Chevalier et al., 2019). Finally, we also measured the functional redundancy as the difference between the Simpson's diversity (Pielou's) and Rao's quadratic entropy (Pillar et al., 2013).

We constructed a site  $\times$  trait abundance matrix to represent community functional structure for each sampling unit. This matrix is obtained by multiplying a species  $\times$  trait matrix by a site  $\times$  species relative abundance matrix (Li et al., 2019). Only widespread trait categories occurring in at least 50% of all mesocosms were retained in this matrix to avoid introducing too many zero values. In total, we measured 24 trait-specific variables: (i) functional richness, (ii) functional evenness, (iii) functional divergence, (iv) functional redundancy, total trait composition in the community, and (v) 19 trait categories.

All data are available using the following link (to be replaced by the DOI after the viva date): https://figshare.com/s/0c49b2b9cce98d1b2138

# 4.3.5. Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using R (version 3.5.2, R Core Team). Where necessary, data were log-transformed to improve normality and heteroscedasticity after exploratory data analysis. We used a linear four-factor model with the same structure as Chapter 2.3.6 for all univariate analyses (all community-level response variables). The multivariate equivalent (MANOVA) of this model was used for the 17 common benthic taxa and the 19 widespread trait categories. The significance level and effect sizes were set as in Chapter 2.3.6.

# 4.4. Results

## 4.4.1. Community-level metrics

Total invertebrate abundance decreased with fine sediment addition. Abundance also decreased with flow velocity overall, but actually this effect occurred only after two weeks of stressor exposure (velocity  $\times$  time interaction) (Table 4.2, Fig. S4.1). Total EPT abundance was also negatively affected by sediment addition and flow velocity reduction (Table 4.2). Total invertebrate taxon richness was unaffected by all treatments, whereas EPT taxon richness decreased when fine sediment was added. Lastly, Shannon's diversity decreased when sediment was added and Pielou's evenness showed a complex 3-way interaction (nutrients  $\times$  sediment  $\times$  flow velocity), with evenness being highest in nutrient-enriched mesocosms with reduced flow velocity but no added sediment (Table 4.2, Fig S4.2).

# 4.4.2. Body size metrics

Abundances of invertebrates in all three size categories decreased with sediment addition (Table 4.2). The effect of nutrient enrichment on small invertebrates (< 1 mm) changed from neutral after 2 weeks of stressor exposure to negative after 3 weeks (Fig. 4.2a). By contrast, nutrient enrichment increased abundance of large invertebrates (> 5 mm) on both sampling dates; moreover, fewer large individuals were found after 3 weeks than after 2 weeks (Fig 4.2b, Table 4.2). The effects of flow velocity reduction on small invertebrates was negative after 2 weeks but positive after 3 weeks (Fig. 4.2c). Finally, medium-sized invertebrates (1-5 mm) became rarer when flow velocity was reduced (Table 4.2).

Table 4.2: Summary (p-values and effect sizes) of linear model results of macroinvertebrate community-level response variables. For all manipulated factors, main effects are classified directionally as positive (+) or negative (-). P-values are in bold font where p < 0.05. Effect sizes (partial- $\eta^2$  values; range 0–1) are shown in parentheses for all cases where p < 0.10. Total invertebrate count = 37244.

Response	Nutrient	Sediment	Flow	Time	Nutrient X Sediment	Nutrient X Flow	Sediment X Flow	Nutrient X Time	Sediment X Time	Flow X Time	Nutrient X Sediment X Flow	Nutrient X Sediment X Time	Nutrient X Flow X Time	Sediment X Flow X Time	Nutrient X Sediment X Flow X Time
Total invertebrate abundance	0.40	< <b>0.001</b> (0.40)	<b>0.01</b> (0.12)	0.29	0.83	0.07 (0.07)	0.92	0.43	0.12	<b>0.01</b> (0.13)	0.08 (0.06)	0.66	0.79	0.35	0.33
Total EPT abundance	0.64	< <b>0.001</b> (0.50)	<0.001 (0.27)	0.25	0.56	0.31	0.055 (0.07)	0.52	0.37	0.22	0.31	0.26	0.77	0.69	0.27
Taxon richness	0.86	0.055 (0.07)	0.50	0.93	1.00	0.55	0.18	0.40	0.45	0.73	0.67	0.73	0.93	1.00	0.21
EPT richness	0.89	<b>0.007</b> (0.14)	0.89	0.67	1.00	0.89	0.78	0.67	0.78	0.67	0.57	1.00	0.33	0.78	0.053 (0.07)
Shannon's Diversity Index	0.30	<b>0.02</b> (0.11)	0.94	0.62	1.00	0.92	0.16	0.25	0.81	0.73	0.07 (0.07)	0.73	0.99	0.54	0.67
Pielou's Evenness Index	0.21	0.15	0.52	0.54	0.94	0.53	0.46	0.34	0.32	0.38	<b>0.01</b> (0.14)	0.88	1.00	0.50	0.56
Small (<1 mm)	0.104	<b>0.03</b> (0.10)	0.13	<b>0.01</b> (0.12) +	0.49	0.32	0.56	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	0.16	<b>0.008</b> (0.14)	0.18	0.11	0.68	0.84	0.30
Medium (1-5 mm)	0.32	< <b>0.001</b> (0.34)	<b>0.02</b> (0.11)	0.46	0.85	0.097 (0.06)	0.68	0.74	0.25	0.06 (0.07)	0.16	0.84	0.74	0.43	0.70
Large (>5 mm) (log10)	<b>0.005</b> (0.15) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.30)	0.87	<b>0.006</b> (0.14)	0.44	0.46	0.37	<b>0.04</b> (0.08)	0.85	0.94	0.47	0.40	0.63	0.07 (0.07)	0.089 (0.06)



Figure 4.2: Average numbers per mesocosm of small or large benthic macroinvertebrates on the two sampling occasions showing the main effects of flow velocity reduction and nutrient enrichment (Error Bars = +/- SE, n = 32 per treatment).

#### 4.4.3. Common invertebrate taxa

The multivariate results of our analysis indicated that invertebrate community composition changed in response to added sediment and when the three stressors were manipulated together; community composition also changed from week 2 to week 3 (Table 4.3). Regarding taxon-specific responses, 41% of the abundant taxa (7 of 17) responded to at least one experimental factor as a stressor main effect. All seven taxa (the mayfly families Heptageniidae, Baetidae and Ephemerellidae, the dipterans Chironomidae and Tipulidae,

the caddis family Leptoceridae and the stonefly family Nemouridae) were affected by added sediment, followed by flow velocity reduction (Heptageniidae, Baetidae) and nutrient enrichment (Nemouridae). These ten stressor main effects were all negative (Table 4.3). Changes with time (independent of stressor effects) occurred for two taxa; Heptageniidae became generally more abundant after 3 weeks of stressor exposure whereas dipteran pupae became generally rarer. Temporal changes in stressor main effects affected four taxa and occurred in six cases (3 for flow velocity, 2 for sediment and 1 for nutrients) (Fig 4.3.a-f). Caenidae, Chironomidae and Tipulidae all decreased in abundance after 2 weeks of exposure to flow velocity reduction (Fig 4.3.a, b & c). However, after 3 weeks their populations seemed to have adapted and increases in abundance were observed for all three taxa. For Caenidae, sediment decreased abundance 2 weeks after addition, but this negative effect had disappeared after 3 weeks (Fig 4.3.d, whereas the opposite temporal response pattern to sediment was observed for Tipulidae (Fig 4.3.e). Finally, Ephemerellidae increased in abundance when nutrients were added after 2 weeks, whereas after 3 weeks this effect had been reversed (Fig 4.3.f).

Interactions among stressors were almost as common as stressor main effects, affecting six common taxa (35%). Sediment  $\times$  flow velocity interactions occurred for Baetidae, Nemouridae and dipteran pupae, nutrients  $\times$  flow velocity interacted when affecting Ephemerellidae, and complex nutrients  $\times$  sediment  $\times$  flow velocity interaction occurred for Chironomidae and Gordiidae worms (Fig S4.7-8).





Figure 4.3: Average numbers of common invertebrate taxa affected by stressor main effects across both sampling occasions (Error Bars = +/- SE, n = 16).

Table 4.3: Summary (p-values and effect sizes) of multi- and univariate linear model results for the abundant taxa (with relative abundance). For all manipulated factors, significant main effects are classified directionally as positive (+) or negative (-). P-values are in bold font where p < 0.05. Effect sizes (partial- $\eta^2$  values; range 0–1) are shown in parentheses for all cases where p < 0.1. Total invertebrates count = 37244.

Response	Nutrient	Sediment	Flow	Time	Nutrient X Sediment	Nutrient X Flow	Sediment X Flow	Nutrient X Time	Sediment X Time	Flow X Time	Nutrient X Sediment X Flow	Nutrient X Sediment X Time	Nutrient X Flow X Time	Sediment X Flow X Time	Nutrient X Sediment X Flow X Time
Community (95%)	0.45	<b>&lt;0.001</b> (0.70)	0.06 (0.50)	<b>0.02</b> (0.55)	0.93	0.15	0.18	0.56	0.25	0.39	<b>0.02</b> (0.55)	0.13	0.44	0.98	0.97
Heptageniidae (6.9%)	0.17	< <b>0.001</b> (0.38)	<b>0.02</b> (0.10)	<b>0.03</b> (0.09) +	0.37	0.49	0.08 (0.06)	0.98	0.52	0.86	0.37	0.40	0.49	0.90	0.37
Baetidae (21.1%)	0.96	< <b>0.001</b> (0.36)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.38)	0.71	0.37	0.48	<b>0.046</b> (0.08)	0.60	0.08 (0.06)	0.17	0.37	0.21	0.60	0.56	0.35
Ephemerellidae (4.3%)	0.48	< <b>0.001</b> (0.32)	0.96	0.15	0.22	<b>0.04</b> (0.08)	0.70	<b>0.01</b> (0.12)	0.12	0.09 (0.05)	0.96	0.09	0.12	0.87	0.96
Caenidae (1.2%)	1.00	0.10	0.24	0.24	0.48	0.81	0.64	0.24	<b>0.02</b> (0.10)	<b>0.02</b> (0.10)	0.64	0.16	0.06 (0.07)	0.81	0.10
Leptophlebiidae (0.6%)	0.24	0.15	0.38	0.15	0.56	0.25	0.38	0.56	0.77	0.77	0.56	0.25	0.56	0.77	1.00
Chironomidae (48.1%)	0.17	<b>0.01</b> (0.13)	0.76	0.24	0.45	0.12	0.39	0.88	0.12	<b>0.01</b> (0.12)	<b>0.01</b> (0.11)	0.98	0.58	0.23	0.56
Empididae (0.4%)	0.71	1.00	0.46	0.46	1.00	0.46	0.27	0.46	0.27	0.27	0.27	0.07 (0.07)	0.71	1.00	1.00
Tipulidae	0.73	0.04	0.31	0.18	0.18	0.73	1.00	0.18	0.02	0.04	0.18	0.73	1.00	0.73	0.31

(0.6%)		(0.08)							(0.10)	(0.08)					
Dipteran pupae (1.9%)	0.96	0.63	0.42	<b>0.01</b> (0.13)	0.63	0.55	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	0.26	0.12	0.55	0.55	0.63	0.55	0.42	0.42
Leptoceridae (1.7%)	0.40	<b>0.02</b> (0.10)	0.61	0.50	0.18	0.13	0.74	0.18	0.87	0.18	0.50	0.07 (0.07)	0.50	0.24	0.87
Hydroptilidae (0.5%)	0.49	0.07 (0.06)	0.71	0.28	1.00	0.47	0.72	0.47	0.72	0.72	0.47	1.00	1.00	0.72	0.15
Elmidae (3.5%)	0.84	0.61	0.54	0.10	1.00	0.36	0.54	0.61	0.84	0.26	0.61	0.76	0.15	0.47	0.54
Perlidae (0.4%)	0.75	0.34	0.75	0.21	0.53	1.00	0.53	0.34	0.34	0.34	0.75	0.21	0.53	0.53	0.75
Nemouridae (0.6%)	<b>0.01</b> (0.12)	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	0.39	0.60	0.60	0.23	<b>0.01</b> (0.12)	0.12	0.60	0.39	0.86	0.39	0.23	0.86	0.86
Acari (0.5%)	0.26	0.45	0.26	0.26	0.70	0.14	0.26	0.45	0.26	0.45	1.00	0.45	0.06 (0.07)	0.45	0.70
Gordiidae (0.5%)	0.29	0.14	0.06 (0.07)	0.83	0.29	0.83	0.06 (0.07)	0.53	0.53	0.83	<b>0.02</b> (0.10)	0.29	0.53	0.83	0.14
Nematoda (1.9%)	0.62	0.67	0.92	0.72	0.92	0.62	0.97	0.31	0.62	0.31	0.20	0.20	0.67	0.97	0.62

# 4.4.4. Functional diversity and traits

Two of the four functional diversity metrics were affected by sediment as a main effect, while none showed main effects for flow velocity reduction or nutrient enrichment. Functional evenness increased when sediment was added whereas functional redundancy declined (Table 4.4). Nutrients increased functional redundancy after two weeks of enrichment but not after three weeks (Fig. 4.4, Table 4.4), and redundancy also increased with time regardless of the stressor treatments. Further, functional redundancy showed a complex three-stressor interaction (Fig. 4.4). Nutrient addition increased functional redundancy at fast flow combined with added sediment but decreased redundancy at fast flow without sediment, whereas the opposite patterns occurred at slow flow.

The multivariate results of the trait analysis indicated that trait community composition (based on the 19 widespread trait categories) changed in response to sediment addition (Table 4.5); further, trait composition changed from week 2 to week 3 independently of the stressor treatments. Sediment (10 trait categories affected) and flow velocity (9) were the most pervasive stressors, followed by nutrients (2) (Table 4.5). Semivoltinism, plurivoltinism, burrowing and sprawling mobilities, predation, tegumentary respiration, non-streamlined morphology were favoured in the sediment treatments mesocosms whereas medium adult size, brachial respiration and streamlined bodies were hindered. Flow velocity reduction favoured univoltinism, borrowing and sprawling mobilities, predation, tegumentary respiration, and non-streamlined morphology. The opposite was found for swimmers, streamlined morphology and brachial respiration. Flow velocity deposition also triggered the only temporal response observed in the trait dataset with a positive influence on the abundance of shredders only observed after the first two weeks of exposure to the stressor (Fig S4.10). Finally, nutrient enrichment favoured the settlement of individuals with a large adult body size whilst reducing the smaller ones.

Interactions between stressors were not very frequent (16% less than for the common taxa) but all involved flow velocity reduction (Fig S4.11-13).



Figure 4.4: Nutrient main effects across sampling dates and three-stressor plots (averaged across both dates) for functional redundancy (Error Bars = +/- SE).

Table 4.4: Summary (p-values and effect sizes) of linear model results of the functional diversity measurements. FRic = Functional richness; FEve = Functional evenness; FDiv = Functional divergence; FR = Functional redundancy. For all manipulated factors, main effects are classified directionally as positive (+) or negative (-). P-values are bolded where p < 0.05. Effect sizes (partial- $\eta^2$  values; range 0–1) are shown in parentheses for all cases where p < 0.1.

Response	Nutrient	Sediment	Flow	Time	Nutrient X Sediment	Nutrient X Flow	Sediment X Flow	Nutrient X Time	Sediment X Time	Flow X Time	Nutrient X Sediment X Flow	Nutrient X Sediment X Time	Nutrient X Flow X Time	Sediment X Flow X Time	Nutrient X Sediment X Flow X
															Time
FRic (log10+1)	0.39	0.185	0.45	0.81	0.97	0.71	0.19	0.76	0.50	0.91	0.98	0.94	0.55	0.68	0.15
FEve	0.12	<0.001 (0.24) +	0.33	0.42	0.99	0.29	0.17	0.62	0.62	0.1003	0.92	0.41	0.14	0.98	0.44
FDiv	0.82	0.09 (0.06)	0.37	0.41	0.86	0.88	0.73	0.54	0.73	0.68	0.13	0.65	0.17	0.47	0.68
FR	0.39	< <b>0.001</b> (0.25)	0.81	<b>0.01</b> (0.13) +	0.26	0.69	0.36	<b>0.02</b> (0.11)	0.78	0.20	<b>0.001</b> (0.14)	0.65	0.91	0.11	0.39

Table 4.5: Summary (p-values and effect sizes) of multi- and univariate linear model results for the widespread trait categories (with percentage across all samples). For all manipulated factors, significant main effects are classified directionally as positive (+) or negative (-). P-values are in bold font where p < 0.05. Effect sizes (partial- $\eta^2$  values; range 0–1) are shown in parentheses for all cases where p < 0.1.

Response	Nutrient	Sediment	Flow	Time	Nutrient X Sediment	Nutrient X Flow	Sediment X Flow	Nutrient X Time	Sediment X Time	Flow X Time	Nutrient X Sediment X Flow	Nutrient X Sediment X Time	Nutrient X Flow X Time	Sediment X Flow X Time	Nutrient X Sediment X Flow X Time
Trait community (MANOVA)	0.053 (0.55)	<b>0.03</b> (0.58)	0.17	<b>&lt;0.001</b> (0.74)	0.83	0.87	0.50	0.51	0.15	0.16	0.63	0.35	0.78	0.86	0.65
Semivoltine (4.4%)	0.46	<b>0.04</b> (0.09) +	0.51	<b>0.006</b> (0.15)	0.80	0.72	0.86	0.90	0.14	0.59	0.65	0.54	0.23	1.00	0.48
Univoltine (6.8%)	0.41	0.27	< <b>0.001</b> (0.24) +	0.17	0.23	0.57	0.64	0.36	0.11	0.77	0.20	0.66	0.19	0.74	0.62
Plurivoltine (73.3%)	0.49	<b>0.01</b> (0.12) +	0.66	0.55	0.80	073	0.51	0.50	0.052 (0.08)	0.31	0.36	0.99	0.37	0.39	0.84
Burrower (50.4%)	0.71	< <b>0.001</b> (0.26) +	<b>0.003</b> (0.17) +	0.96	0.46	0.63	0.48	0.34	0.70	0.33	0.09 (0.05)	0.56	0.97	0.44	0.52
Sprawler (64.8%)	0.79	<0.001 (0.21) +	<0.001 (0.25) +	0.35	0.72	0.86	0.096 (0.06)	0.65	0.81	0.54	0.89	0.77	0.95	0.59	0.67
Clinger (89.4%)	0.43	0.51	0.08 (0.06)	0.20	0.53	0.63	0.07 (0.07)	0.25	0.59	0.57	0.15	0.84	0.95	0.79	0.94
Swimmer (25.8%)	0.80	0.051 (0.08)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.24)	0.77	0.14	0.65	0.07 (0.06)	0.59	0.12	0.84	0.37	0.51	0.59	0.67	0.52

Streamlined (30.3%)	0.68	< <b>0.001</b> (0.22)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.28)	0.46	0.51	0.62	<b>0.008</b> (0.14)	0.72	0.69	0.35	0.84	0.76	0.77	0.76	0.47
Not streamlined (67%)	0.70	< <b>0.001</b> (0.22) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.31) +	0.99	0.58	0.62	<b>0.04</b> (0.08)	0.93	0.99	0.34	0.81	0.68	0.68	0.83	0.41
Small (86.3%)	<b>0.03</b> (0.09)	0.53	0.11	0.13	0.98	0.63	0.08 (0.06)	0.66	0.49	0.58	0.26	0.21	0.17	0.94	0.65
Medium (18.8%)	0.65	<b>0.001</b> (0.20)	0.74	0.17	0.51	0.85	0.61	0.91	0.24	0.45	0.08 (0.06)	0.63	0.11	0.60	0.59
Large (1.7%)	<b>0.02</b> (0.10) +	0.63	0.22	0.48	0.98	0.33	0.92	0.89	0.41	0.73	0.91	0.83	0.85	0.66	0.11
Gatherer (81.9%)	0.78	0.106	0.77	0.55	0.53	0.91	0.42	0.78	0.36	0.17	0.59	0.19	0.78	0.51	0.68
Filterer (0.8%)	0.08 (0.06)	0.90	0.86	0.34	0.65	0.67	0.056 (0.07)	0.69	0.25	0.70	0.32	0.98	0.88	0.59	0.33
Scraper (15.8%)	0.51	0.08 (0.06)	0.91	0.75	0.68	0.78	0.52	0.49	0.35	0.94	0.43	0.27	0.97	0.36	0.59
Predator (53.6%)	0.73	<0.001 (0.29) +	< <b>0.001</b> (0.22) +	0.68	0.57	0.54	0.38	0.58	0.78	0.50	0.21	0.17	0.98	0.43	0.65
Shredder (3.2%)	0.41	0.34	0.09 (0.06)	<b>0.004</b> (0.13)	0.20	<b>0.02</b> (0.10)	0.34	0.72	0.35	<b>0.03</b> (0.08)	0.69	0.08 (0.06)	0.70	0.39	0.67
Brachial (44.1%)	0.80	< <b>0.001</b> (0.25)	<b>0.01</b> (0.20)	0.92	0.35	0.56	0.07 (0.07)	0.98	0.52	0.35	0.32	0.25	0.87	0.48	0.45
Tegumentary (53.9%)	1.00	<0.001 (0.27)	< <b>0.001</b> (0.26)	0.79	0.38	0.48	0.24	0.75	0.86	0.44	0.29	0.18	0.78	0.59	0.39

# 4.5. Discussion

# 4.5.1. Stressor main effects on the invertebrate community

Our first hypothesis - sedimentation and flow velocity reduction have the most pervasive effects on macroinvertebrate community assemblage and trait composition - was supported. Moreover, all observed effects of both these stressors on invertebrate community-level metrics and abundances of common taxa were negative. This results differs from previous similar experiments which could be related to the fact that the source community for this experiment came from a truly "near-pristine" stream compared to agricultural stream elsewhere (Beermann et al., 2018a; Davis et al., 2018; Elbrecht et al., 2016; Piggott et al., 2015c). Fine sediment deposition caused a decrease in total invertebrate abundance irrespective of invertebrate size categories. We attribute this response to habitat homogenisation (Petsch et al., 2017), decrease in food availability (Matthaei et al., 2010) and physical damage to the breathing apparatus of gilled invertebrates (Piggott et al., 2015b; Wagenhoff et al., 2012; Wood and Armitage, 1997). The likely detrimental effect on brachial respiration is further supported by our univariate trait analysis, which displayed an increase in integumentary respiration concomitant to a decrease in brachial respiration when sediment was added. Further, abundance and richness of EPT taxa decreased with sediment addition overall, which was also reflected in the individual taxon responses. The lower abundances of these taxa in mesocosms with added fine sediment are likely due to increased emigration rates via drift and/or emergence (Beermann et al., 2018a; Piggott et al., 2015c).

Flow velocity reduction was the second-most pervasive stressor and displayed the largest number of changes with time in its effects on invertebrate community-level metrics and abundances of common taxa. Thus, the negative effect of flow velocity reduction after two weeks of stressor exposure on total invertebrate abundance and abundances of small individuals, Chironomidae, Tipulidae and Caenidae was no longer observed after three weeks. We suggest that interspecific microhabitat differences within these families led to an increased short-term drift response to reduced flow velocity, which was later masked by recolonisation of individuals belonging to different species within the same families that can tolerate or prefer slow flows (Harding et al., 2019; Zhang and Malmqvist, 1997). Previous studies have shown that flow velocity reduction often increases drift propensity, especially of swimming taxa, which is supported by our finding of fewer swimming taxa at reduced flow velocity (see

*Functional diversity* discussion below) (Beermann et al., 2018a; Piggott et al., 2015c). Further drift experiments should be done to confirm these patterns (Beermann et al., 2018a; Davis et al., 2018; Piggott et al., 2015c).

Our second hypothesis – enhancement of the biomass accumulation potential in response to nutrient enrichment either via increased carrying capacity or a shift towards larger-bodied organisms - was largely supported. Abundance of large-bodied individuals increased in nutrient-enriched mesocosms whereas small-sized organisms became rarer after 3 weeks of enrichment, despite total invertebrate abundance and community composition being similar (except for Nemouridae). Because immigration rates by drift into the mesocosms can be expected to be similar for all mesocosms (see Magbanua et al., 2013), this suggests invertebrate in nutrient-enriched mesocosms grew faster, with small individuals becoming medium-sized and medium-sized ones becoming large (Frost and Elser, 2002). Based on our findings, influx and outflux of medium-sized invertebrates more or less evened out, whereas outflux of large individuals exceeded the influx. Further, individual trait information indicates that nutrientenriched mesocosms can harbour taxa with a larger maximum body size, supporting the idea that moderate nutrient enrichment act as a subsidy, favouring the growth of macroinvertebrates with higher metabolic requirements (Cross et al., 2003). Based on a related experiment by Wagenhoff et al (2012), our relatively low level of nutrient enrichment was probably already past the subsidy threshold for abundances of EPT and Chironomidae, two of the most abundant taxa in our experiment. Thus, we attribute the observed nutrient effects in our system to faster invertebrate growth rates combined with a capacity to support larger organisms rather than an increase in total carrying capacity.

# 4.5.2. Stressor main effects on functional diversity and trait categories

In agreement with previous studies, sedimentation and flow velocity reduction were key stressors driving functional diversity and trait category responses (Buendia et al., 2013; Calapez et al., 2018). However, because the colonising invertebrate species pool is the same for all experimental units and total taxon richness remained similar across all stressor treatments, it is not surprising that functional richness and dispersion were also unaffected by the treatments. Traits were neither 'lost' or 'gained', but rather relative abundances were shifted to reflect changes in the dominance patterns of the taxa best adapted to the new environmental conditions. Consequently, the reduction in functional redundancy associated

with sedimentation suggests that the community is more vulnerable to further 'functional loss' (Cummins, 2016; Pillar et al., 2013). Additionally, nutrient enrichment increased functional redundancy and seemed to stabilise it over time, probably by allowing species with similar resource needs to coexist via an increase in quantity and quality of resources (Piggott et al., 2015b; Sterner et al., 1993).

Shifts in feeding behaviours were also observed, with an increase in the relative abundances of predatory species when sediment was added or current velocity reduced. This result differs from Rabení et al. (2005) who reported a decline in total predator density when sediment cover increased, although these authors observed a broad predatory taxon-specific tolerance spectrum linked to their mobility. It is therefore possible that sediment deposition favoured individuals capable of burrowing or crawling without becoming prey themselves (Ding et al., 2017; Li et al., 2019; Rabení et al., 2005); our system lacked higher-order predators. Further, we speculate that reduced hiding space due to sediment deposition filling interstitial spaces in the mesocosm beds, combined with an increased mobility of sprawling predators, most likely facilitated their prey-catching success rate explaining their increased density under these conditions in our experiment. We also observed an increase in the relative abundance of shredders after two weeks of reduced flow velocity, which could be related to an increase in CPOM retention with velocity reduction (Death et al., 2009). In our experimental setup, CPOM variations are highly dependent on the source stream CPOM load fluctuations, which were not recorded but could help explain the temporal pattern observed.

Interestingly, trait responses to added fine sediment and reduced current velocity were often concomitant. For example, we observed a reduction in streamlined individuals, while the opposite response occurred for non-streamlined individuals associated with an increase in burrowing and sprawling individuals in mesocosms with both sediment addition and reduced flow velocity. Slower flow velocities facilitate sedimentation of fine particles but also make it easier for less aerodynamic organisms to move around. This suggests that, in our experiment, taxa adapted to reduced velocities also usually possessed features associated with increased sedimentation and *vice versa*.

#### 4.5.3. Interactive effects on community and functionality

Interaction between two or all three manipulated stressors affected 6 of 17 common taxa and 3 of 19 widespread trait categories. Five of these interactions occurred between flow velocity and sediment, two between flow velocity and nutrients, and two were interactions between all three stressors, thus partially supporting our third hypothesis that interactions involving nutrient enrichment should be least common. Previous experiments have highlighted the importance of flow velocity and sediment deposition in shaping stream invertebrate community structure and functionality (Buendia et al., 2013; Dolédec et al., 2011; Elbrecht et al., 2016). Even though nutrient enrichment appeared to be relatively less important in shaping invertebrate responses in our experiment, past studies have shown that the effects of nutrient enrichment can differ strongly along an increasing gradient of concentration (Wagenhoff et al., 2012). Our enrichment treatment was fairly low compared to some previous similar experiments (Elbrecht et al., 2016); thus, it was perhaps not high enough (or long enough, at only 3 weeks of enrichment) to trigger strong responses of both community structure and trait composition. On the other hand, our enrichment might have already exceeded the subsidy threshold of our system, resulting in a decline in many response variables compared to their peak subsidy enrichment point (Wagenhoff et al., 2012). Distinguishing between the two outcomes would require further work involving a finer scale of nutrient (N + P) enrichment, to identify which side of the subsidy-stress gradient our results fall into.

In our datasets, interactive effects between stressors occurred most often in the abundance patterns of individual common taxa. Past experiments using the same stream mesocosm setup in Ireland and Germany also observed a similar trend (Davis et al., 2018; Elbrecht et al., 2016). In all three studies, moreover, EPT taxa were more sensitive than other taxa to two-way interactive effects between flow velocity reduction and either nutrient enrichment or sedimentation, as one might expect according to their high sensitivity to environmental changes (Bonada et al., 2006). The only taxon-specific three-way interaction observed in our experiment was a negative response of Chironomidae when exposed to all three stressors simultaneously. This result may seem surprising because this family is usually considered to be fairly tolerant to agricultural and urbanisation stressors (Li et al., 2019; Mor et al., 2019). However, we suspect this intricate three-way interaction to stem from the complexity of the Chironomidae family, which encompasses a diverse range of genera and species that vary widely in their microhabitat preferences and tolerance of various stressors. Thus, it is possible that whilst some midge species were more tolerant to one or two stressors, the overall family responded negatively to all three stressors combined. This results lends more weight to the

recommendation of Elbrecht et al. (2016) and Beermann et al. (2018a) that Chironomidae should be studied with a finer taxonomical resolution, for example by using DNA metabarcoding (Beermann et al., 2018b), to fully understand their response patterns to interacting anthropogenic stressors.

# 4.5.4. Trait and functional diversity vs. taxonomic and community-level metrics

Our experiment demonstrates the complexity of macroinvertebrate community dynamics and individual taxon responses to multiple agricultural stressors. Although traits and functional diversity showed a higher proportion of stressor main effects (74% of functional variables affected compared to 58% for community/taxon variables), invertebrate community and taxon responses were more sensitive to stressor interactions effects (31% vs 17%). Thus, taxonomical and trait approaches are highly complementary, even over short spatial and temporal scales (Cummings 2019). Whilst community abundance patterns can help us investigate macroinvertebrates dynamics, trait-based approaches give a mechanical indication of the reason why. Finally, functional diversity facilitates predictions about the stability of a given system to multiple stressors (Pillar et al., 2013). Further studies, ideally repeated over different seasons, spatial scales and incorporating ecosystem processes such as energy transfer between trophic levels, should be considered to improve our knowledge of macroinvertebrate community adaptation to multiple stressors (Kardol et al., 2018).

# 5. Chapter 5: Disconnected: How to integrate spatiotemporal complexity in riverine multiple stressor research

# 5.1. Abstract

Diverse anthropogenic stressors acting at the local, regional and global scale are reorganising species distributions, assemblages and biotic interactions over time and space. Although the importance of biotic interactions is acknowledged in shaping the species distribution and community structure, and tools to evaluate biotic interactions already exist, investigation approaches used in multiple stressor research have tended place more emphasis on abiotic drivers rather than biotic ones. Stressor research has thus implicitly focused on abiotic local selection processes filtering the density of species and their distribution. However, full abiotic selection (environmental filtering) is an extreme case along a continuum between abiotic and biotic drivers of biodiversity. The reality is more variable, and it has been argued that abiotic drivers alone cannot fully explain biodiversity patterns. For instance, well established bioticabiotic feedbacks, such as how important species shape the physical environment then used by other organisms, also need to be incorporated into a more comprehensive modelling framework of multiple stressor effects. Exploiting the recent advances in inferring ecological networks, i.e. our ability to identify and quantify biotic interactions between species forming a community, we aim to demonstrate how incorporating biotic, spatial and temporal components into stressor research could increase our explanatory and predictive capacity and change how we implement conservation strategies. Network ecology, which is the structural description of the set of species interactions in an ecosystem, has already started to spread into the field of evolutionary biology and spatial dynamics. Because species linkages are important for ecosystem stability, and because the loss of these interactions could act as an early warning of instability, network theory could broaden our mechanistic understanding of multiple stressor interactions.
### 5.2. From a static to a dynamic multiple stressors research framework

The multidimensional response of communities to environmental changes and how it relates to ecosystem functioning are amongst the most central questions in ecology. Environmental stressors are the product of human activities and interact with each other, impacting communities and worsening the provision of ecosystem processes and services (Piggott et al., 2015b, 2015a). For instance, land use changes are often associated with new flow-velocity regimes, sediment loads or dissolved nutrient concentrations (Allan, 2004). Further, flow velocity reduction facilitates the local accumulation of fine sediment and chemicals whilst decreasing re-oxygenation levels (Calapez et al., 2018). Our current understanding of the effects of multiple stressors is largely focussed on the statistical properties of their interactions (synergistic, antagonistic or additive), and on their influence on aggregate community or ecosystem process measurements such as abundance, diversity or biomass accumulation (Bruder et al., 2019). In this context, the role of biotic interactions over time and space has been largely neglected despite feedbacks between community structure, stressors and biological parameters being well recognised (Bruder et al., 2017; Griffiths et al., 2018; Kraft et al., 2015). In parallel, the food web and network research community has recently been a very active think-tank in community ecology to understand species distribution, interactions and co-existence patterns (Barbier and Loreau, 2019; Barnes et al., 2018; Morales-Castilla et al., 2015). Simulation models of community assembly and several ways to incorporate biotic interactions have been proposed to investigate patterns of diversity, function and stability of ecosystems over spatial and temporal extents (Barbier et al., 2018; Kissling et al., 2012; Wisz et al., 2013). Further, in many cases a clear attribution of species distributions to environmental filtering (abiotic factors) is not possible (only in 15% of the cases) and it has been argued that biotic interactions play a stronger role in shaping the observed patterns (Kraft et al., 2015). However, biotic interactions have seldom been considered in multiple stressor studies. Effectively, there is a knowledge gap between the interactive effects of stressors and the underlying mechanisms across levels of biological organisation which calls for new modelling approaches or theoretical advances with a better integration of these so far distinct fields of ecology (Bracewell et al., 2019; Schäfer and Piggott, 2018; Thompson et al., 2018).

Community response to stress is implicitly linked to restructuring ecological networks stemming from changes in population densities, interactions and assembly processes. An ecological network approach to multiple stressors facilitates the identification of how perturbations diffuse through the trophic assemblages and modify their functioning over space and time. It then informs on the direct and indirect pathways of multiple stressors effects (Calizza et al., 2019; O'Gorman et al., 2019, 2012). Thus far, multiple stressor research has disproportionally prioritised the investigation of change in density-weighted diversity indices in communities. However, feedbacks between biotic and abiotic drivers also affect population dynamics. For instance, the response of populations to stressors is modulated by biotic interactions. As an example, White et al. (2018) found that the identity of a predator mediated the response of community net productivity to both the single and combined effects of nutrient enrichment and warming. Lenihan et al. (2018) also found that predators modulated taxonspecific responses to stressor interactions. Equally, population densities modulate the abiotic parameters of an environment via ecosystem engineer species (Crain and Bertness, 2006; Jones et al., 1997; Wright and Gribben, 2017). These points acknowledge two things: that (1) not all trophic interactions are equal in holding communities together over time and space and consequently their response to multiple stressors (Tylianakis and Morris, 2017; Wootton and Stouffer, 2016), and (2) that the impact of stressors is likely to be disproportionate if affecting central or specialised nodes, triggering important trophic cascade reactions and rearranging the hierarchical organisation of communities (Griffith et al., 2018, 2017; O'Dowd et al., 2003). For instance, Ullah et al. (2018) showed in a marine system that a combination of warming and acidification changed the bottom trophic level towards cyanobacteria production which was then converted into detritus rather than biomass at upper trophic levels. By contrast, acidification alone enhanced the trophic flow between detritus and primary producer which translated into greater biomass accumulation in upper trophic levels (carnivores).



Figure 5.1: Diagram of stressor interactions in relation to community dynamics and organisational structure. The population density changes observed in response to stress are mediated by inter- and intraspecific biotic interactions which themselves depend on species functional traits. The trophic dynamics observed then influence how energy and resources are

made available to the different layers in the food-chain and thus regulate the emergent ecological properties of the system.

Further, biotic interactions are not fixed in space and time, neither are stressors and their levels. Rather, changes in biotic interactions underlie the adaptive capacity of populations to respond to multiple stressors. Whilst some species may have a broad tolerance to stressor gradients via behavioural, genetic, phenotypic or co-evolutionary responses, others more specialised may not (Gibert and Yeakel, 2019; Griffiths et al., 2018; Pauwels et al., 2010; Prunier et al., 2018). Altogether, empirical and theoretical progress in inferring biotic interactions, such as the use of eDNA, stable isotopes or machine learning and Bayesian frameworks, have rendered possible the construction of complex ecological networks over time and space, facilitating the upscaling of local responses (Godoy et al., 2018; Hutchinson et al., 2019; Morales-Castilla et al., 2015). They still remain to be largely validated empirically. Upscaling local responses is particularly important as diversity indices used in multiple stressor research do not upscale well over time and space. For instance, Chase et al. (2019) skilfully demonstrated how the magnitude of species richness change through time fluctuates across spatial scales. Further, community assembly patterns are modulated by the spatiotemporal scales used (Viana and Chase, 2019). Indeed, ecosystems are usually not isolated but rather connected through the exchange of resources and individuals in the landscape matrix over time (Gounand et al., 2018a). Therefore, indirect effects of stressors can diffuse over space and time; i.e what happens in one local patch is likely to influence the neighbouring ones by facilitating, or preventing, the movement of individuals (Tait and Larson, 2018). Equally, because of priority and legacy effects, observations made from one point in time to the next are likely to be linked (Baumgartner and Robinson, 2015; Busse et al., 2019). For instance, the presence of keystone species in an environment influences the spatiotemporal diversity of species. Booth et al (2019) recently reported that the diel movements of Sonora sucker fish (Catostomus insignis) are modulated by water turbidity fluctuations following discharge changes over time. The fish foraging behaviour then dictates the spatial arrangement of habitat heterogeneity directly impacting the invertebrate abundance and diversity over time. It becomes apparent that the spatiotemporal complexity needs to be embraced to reach the next level of understanding of the effects of stressors. Indeed community emergent properties (i.e the products of causal mechanisms, for instance species interactions, at lower levels of organization) such as network connectivity matter to emergent ecosystem properties such as net productivity (Newman et al., 2019; Tait and Larson, 2018).

In this chapter we use aquatic systems to outline how multiple stressor research can benefit from spatiotemporal considerations of biotic interactions to provide new insight into their effects. First, we assess how to give a temporal and spatial dimension to multiple stressor research using both spatial and trophic networks. Then, we explore how the spatiotemporal context can be used to develop new research questions and improve conservation incentives.

#### 5.3. Spatiotemporal considerations in ecological networks under multiple stressors

Ecological networks are implicitly spatial, with higher trophic levels connecting lower trophic levels across space. Therefore, a consideration of spatial dynamics is essential in understanding how multiple stressors might affect the structure and functioning of ecological networks. Thus far for logistical reasons, most, if not all, multiple stressor manipulative studies have been done at a local scale (Mustonen et al., 2016; Piggott et al., 2015c). This focus on local scale conceptually narrows down the number of ways by which multiple stressors can influence biotic communities. For instance, most studies assume that all stressors occur at the same location and at the same time. Such assumptions greatly simplify the possible end point of the community structure that will either be an additive, multiplicative, dominant, neutral or reversal function of all the stressors considered. We argue that in many cases it is unlikely to happen this way in nature. Because most anthropogenic stressors are associated with land use change (IPBES, 2019), they are more likely to happen at different temporal scales and at landscape scale. For instance, a river flowing across a landscape would be influenced by different stressors along its length as a function of land-use change from upstream to downstream reaches. A local perspective in that case would suggest that one single stressor is affecting each portion of the river, but at the landscape scale, the structure of the riverine dendritic network and the species interacting and moving through that spatial network will influence how the effects of those stressors will unfold.

Stressors affecting the biotic community in the upstream reaches of a river network are likely to trigger spatial cascades by influencing biomass distribution in the local food web and thus ultimately the quantity and quality of the inorganic or organic material that will flow and subsidize downstream reaches (Gounand et al., 2017; Harvey et al., 2017a; Vannote et al., 1980). Those indirect spatial effects also include the passive or active movement of consumers

that could trigger important changes at the regional scale (Guzman et al., 2019; McCann et al., 2005; Pillai et al., 2011). For instance, Karatayev and Baskett (2020) showed that the arrival of external organisms in a system can modify the community trajectory following disturbance. Further, the introduction of exotic species can lead to change in the competitive patterns and trigger the collapse of whole trophic networks (Grosholz, 2005; O'Dowd et al., 2003). Ultimately the shape, particularly connectivity and modularity, of the spatial network will modulate how those spatial cascades play out and thus eventually drive the spread of the effect of those multiple stressors interacting across space (Gilarranz et al., 2017; Terui et al., 2018; Terui and Nishijima, 2019). Spatial networks are already known to constrain biodiversity patterns (Altermatt and Fronhofer, 2018; Carrara et al., 2012; Harvey et al., 2018), influence the spread of exotic invaders (Morel-Journel et al., 2019), and affect ecosystem stability (Marleau et al., 2014). In a spatial multiple stressor context, unless one is dealing with a global stressor such as climate warming, there is a distinction to be made between the place where the stressor is introduced (point-source) and where its effects take place (stressor diffusion). We thus make a distinction between point source direct effects and diffuse indirect effects. Indirect effects require a vector to propagate, whether it is via the water flow or the movement of individuals (McClain et al., 2003; Schiesari et al., 2018). So far, for logistical reasons most of the multiple stressor research has focused on the direct effect of stressors (Juvigny-Khenafou et al., 2019; Manning et al., 2018; Mustonen et al., 2016). However, stressors are also likely to indirectly interact at central and well-connected nodes in the landscape away from their pointsource (Figure 5.2; McClain et al., 2003). Those interactions would unfold mainly by the sum of the indirect effects with inorganic and organic suspended materials in the water columns varying in quantity and quality as well as species dispersing at varying density from connected patches under the influence of different stressors. The end result of those stressors interacting in space at those central nodes would be defined largely by species interactions with dispersing consumers influencing the strength of top-down trophic cascades and dissolved resources influencing the strength of bottom-up trophic cascades, with yet unknown effects on ecosystem functioning.



Figure 5.2: Stressor (S1 and S2) effects considering either (a) a static effect of stressors not influencing species richness over time (T1 -> T2), (b) temporally (T1 -> T2 -> T3) dynamic effect of stressors or (c) a spatially dynamic effect of stressors. In (b) the stressors are asynchronous and influence the density of distinct species in the trophic assemblage leading to a reduction in the food chain over time. In (c) stressors also influence the density of species but this time their actions occur in different patches resulting in a modification of species densities in downstream nodes.

In a spatial context, the same set of stressors could potentially lead to different endpoint communities and ecosystems. For instance, in a riverine dendritic network, the state of each downstream patch will depend on the nested accumulation of those multiple stressor interactions across the spatial network and will be defined by starting conditions, species interactions, abiotic interactions and the order at which the different stressors occur along the dendritic network. This means that the same stressors occurring in upstream reaches (e.g., wood harvesting, dam, agricultural pressure) could lead to a high degree of divergence in community structure and functioning among downstream patches. The fundamental difference with standard approaches to multiple stressors is that in a spatial network where each stressor affects single patches that are connected to more central patches, the interaction among the stressors will be mainly mediated by spatial dynamics of species, resources and other abiotic features and thus will be contingent on the nature of species interactions and energy pathways.

In a temporal context, the temporal distribution of stressor action, i.e. their frequency, order and magnitude, and the original community status matter throughout the river network by creating varying levels of temporally structured heterogeneity (Baumgartner and Robinson, 2015; Mantyka-Pringle et al., 2019; Tucker and Fukami, 2014). How stressors influence the assembly processes depends on a threshold between niche (what species need), legacy (what the previous conditions were) and priority (the successional order of species arrival) effects as well as the degree of instability created by interacting stressors (Busse et al., 2019; Grainger et al., 2019). For river networks and biotic interactions this implies that the filtering effect stressors have on communities from one point in time to the next is modulated by the strength and the degree of asymmetry found in biotic interactions (Figure 5.3). Biotic interactions are not static, and organisms, most notably generalist organisms, can adapt to match the evolution of resources depending on their needs over time (Price et al., 2019). Species at well-connected and symmetrical nodes in a trophic network are more likely to be resistant to perturbations, irrespective of the order in which they occur, whereas overly dependent species are more prone to secondary extinctions (Pearse and Altermatt, 2013). In other words, species having a lot of trophic interactions can cope better with the loss of some of them. Similarly, in a two species interaction, a balanced symmetrical interaction, i.e. an interaction where species 1 depends and species 2 and species 2 depends on species 1, both with equal strength, implies that both parties are equally dependent on each other favoring stability. Further, the position of species in the trophic assemblage is likely to affect the resulting cascading effects from stressors temporal patterns with well-connected species more likely to spread the effect of stressors over time (Calizza et al., 2019). Whilst bottom-up and top-down population dynamic regulations are quite well understood for higher and lower trophic levels, central and connected species have the potential to generate both simultaneously. How the temporal diffusion of stressors unfolds depends on the strength of the synchronous relationships existing between dependent species as well as the magnitude of the impact. For instance, Sato et al. (2016) found that the effect of terrestrial invertebrate subsidies changed according to the subsidy timing in relation to the growing period of cutthroat trout (Oncorhynchus clarki). Further, long-lived organisms are more likely to persist over time in a stressed environment, if it is non-lethal, despite being functionally extinct, i.e. no longer reproducing (He et al., 2019). Additionally, individuals within species can have life-stage and life-history based sensitivity to stressors with younger individual often being more sensitive than older ones. Wagenhoff et al. (2011) found different stressors (sediment and nutrients) sensitivities between stream macroinvertebrates with different reproductive cycles (uni- vs multivoltines). Finally, the behavioral response of species to stressors may induce a temporal decoupling between the occurrence of stressors and the biological response. For example, many organisms can induce dormancy to 'weather the storm'

(Chesson, 1986). Once they resume their normal activity, they potentially can impact the other trophic levels e.g. increased grazing pressure or resource competition. Phenological changes in the development of stream organisms modifies, in theory, the degree of synchrony with their consumers (Sato et al., 2016).

High variability in space and time between localities can lead to divergent impacts of stressors. Thus, the way the stressors interact in the landscape and over time cannot only be understood from the usual statistical description of effects as being additive or interactive. Shifting the focus of multiple stressor studies from a time-fixed local perspective to a more continuous one such as discrete patches or reaches (Campbell Grant et al., 2007; Peterson et al., 2013), would help to bring the field into a more mechanistic framework that would make it easier to bridge with existing spatial and temporal ecological theory (meta-community and meta-ecosystem), to develop testable predictions. Much remains to be done but thinking about multiple stressors from a spatial and temporal perspective could lead to a re-definition of the way we generally think about stressor interactions and push the field toward a better understanding of anthropogenic influence on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning at landscape extent. In return, adopting an ecosystem approach to multiple stressors facilitates the development of transboundary managerial decisions which are currently limited.



Figure 5.3: Landscape network representation of biotic connected in a river network. Interconnected biotic networks under stress undergo a rearrangement of their internal organisation as a local response to stress. This is usually translated in diversity changes and population density fluctuations. This reorganisation leads to a variation in inter-network exchanges reshaping the ecosystem functioning space through time; there are connections between patches either via the landscape matrix or the river network.

#### 5.4. Adaptive bio-management of riverine systems

The high proportion of stressed versus pristine systems and the great diversity of stressors make the development of conservation strategies a priority (Craig et al., 2017; Harvey et al., 2017b; Mantyka-Pringle et al., 2016). Although we have accumulated a lot of specific knowledge on stressors and their impacts, we are not yet any closer to generating a global synthesis that is transferable into management actions. The high spatiotemporal heterogeneity in the communities, environment and stressor regimes complicate things greatly (Trøjelsgaard and Olesen, 2016). Equally, a case by case approach is neither viable nor cost efficient. Nevertheless, river and stream conservation incentives have never been more needed to protect freshwater biota and ecosystem services; the heterogeneity of stressors will continue to increase, and the transboundary nature of river and stream networks hinders the efficiency of local scale stressor management policies (Hering et al., 2015; Reid et al., 2019).

When managing environments, we aim to maintain or enhance their integrity by safeguarding their biological structure and functioning. Our approach to conservation usually assumes that once habitats are restored or protected, biodiversity will remain or come back. This is however very simplistic and there is compelling evidence showing that the evaluation of the success of conservation actions cannot be solely reduced to species or habitat inventories (Craven et al., 2018; Frainer et al., 2018; Mantyka-Pringle et al., 2016). Depending on conservation objectives the focus may change and a great deal of flexibility is required in conservation plans, with population densities connecting biotic networks through time and space (Hutchinson et al., 2019; Mantyka-Pringle et al., 2016; Perino et al., 2019; Raimundo et al., 2018; Ryo et al., 2019). We argue that by not placing enough emphasis on temporal, spatial and functional concepts, our conservation actions are limited and cannot accurately pinpoint where and when stability changes resulting from multiple stressors are in motion in the landscape matrix.

Bracewell et al. (2019) suggested to adopt a hypothesis driven network building approach, based on trophic linkage, to circumvent the aforementioned limitations and allow flexible conservation actions. Although it represents some improvements, it might rely too much on a priori knowledge. For instance, there are too many stochastic elements which cannot be accounted for when trophic interactions are pre-determined (Perino et al., 2019). Further, stressors also have their own regime and spatial distribution which influences the efficiency of conservation actions (Cardinale and Palmer, 2002; Davis et al., 2019; Perino et al., 2019). We suggest that the only way to unravel these changes, and to account for them in our modelling of stressors effects, is to track down the transfer of energy and material in the spatiotemporal heterogenous landscape matrix (Figure 5.4; Gounand et al., 2018b; Harvey et al., 2019; Kato et al., 2018). Indeed, empirical evidence shows that common 'ecological currency' pathways, such as O<sub>2</sub>, C, nutrient budgets or stable isotopes, change under stress and underlie species traits and interactions (Kato et al., 2018; Price et al., 2019). Following this principle, ecological networks can be built and universally summarised into relevant metrics for conservation (Dormann et al., 2017; Hutchinson et al., 2019). By doing so, both the complexity of biodiversity assemblages and biotic interactions will be reduced and linked to ecosystem functioning in a framework applicable across systems in space and time, improving our understanding of multiple stressor effects.



Is it working?

Figure 5.4: Tri-network approach and conservation trade-offs. The river environment is split in three layers with fluxes connecting different patches: the biotic component with the trophic networks, the anthropogenic component with the stressor correlation network and the abiotic component with the river network architecture. Conservation trade-offs can then weight in for each individual network layer (2a) to assess stressors effects at the different spatiotemporal scales and evaluate the efficiency of the different conservation actions (2b).

Additionally, management plans need to identify the most effective ways to alleviate the effect of multiple stressors especially when correlations exist. This point is often omitted from the current multiple stressor research directions (Mantyka-Pringle et al., 2016). For example, Geary et al. (2019) recently argued that to optimise conservation actions, understanding the relationships between co-occurring stressors through interaction 'threat webs' would help managers decide where to most efficiently apply their action. This gives an initial insight into how stressors are more likely to be present in the same landscape and how they might interact. Similarly to how changes in biotic interactions cascade through trophic assemblages, threat webs focus on correlations between co-occurring stressors to see how their regimes influence each other's across space and time benefiting the development of efficient mitigation strategies. Thus, we argue that in order to design effective conservation strategies, multiple stressor research needs to simultaneously have a dual approach: one focusing on the multiscale biotic interactions and ecosystem functioning and another one focusing conservation objectives and stressor mitigation strategies in order to derive maximum information to identify the mechanisms of species-environment (abiotic filter) and species-species (biotic filter) interactions in their natural dispersal/colonisation context (Figure 5.4).

There is a logistical trade-off between the degree of complexity that can be included in conservation schemes in a landscape context. Indeed, the difficulty of making sound assessments as well as interpreting results increases exponentially with the number of species and spatial scale. Recent spatial considerations advocate to include as many components of biodiversity as possible to understand spatial biodiversity patterns (Altermatt et al., 2020). Equally, our interpretation of stressor effects differs with spatial scale. What creates a strong instability at the local scale may be minimal in a regional meta-network with patch dynamics (Townsend, 1989; Weise et al., 2020). To synthesise the concepts explored in this paper, we propose a tri-network approach concentrating on (1) the relationships between network architecture changes and stressors accumulation, and (2) the conservation applications of network and meta-ecosystem concepts (Figure 5.4). The central aims are to: (i) identify the

relationships between stressors operating in the spatiotemporal boundaries and set targets; (ii) anticipate cost-effective strategies to remediate stressors to match the conservation targets; (iii) create trophic networks and identify the strength of interactions based on the observed flow of energy and matter; (iv) contextualise meta-networks in space and time to understand how communities and traits respond to the stressors; (v) evaluate the results of the implemented strategies and update overtime. We believe these different steps provide managers with the ability to modulate their actions over time and to implement pre-emptive actions as soon as changes are can be detected (Tylianakis et al., 2010).

## 5.5. Final remarks

The development of new analysis tools and theory is making network inference easier to us (Hudson et al., 2013; Poisot et al., 2016; Tikhonov et al., 2017). Combined with the parallel development of spatial analysis and monitoring techniques such as eDNA (Elbrecht and Steinke, 2019) the future of network theory integration into ecology and conservation studies is looking promising. After 20 years of field and laboratory exploration, we now have the technical tools, the empirical experience and the theoretical knowledge to push the boundaries of multiple stressor research. It's time to act on it.

# 6. Chapter 6: Synthesis and future work

#### 6.1. Comparison among the three stressors

In this thesis the individual and combined effects of nutrient enrichment, fine sediment deposition and flow velocity reduction on pristine stream benthic communities were investigated. I conducted a single large-scale field mesocosm experiment and explored the responses of three key trophic levels supporting life in freshwater systems. I enriched nutrient concentrations to  $2.19 \pm 0.09$  [SE] mg/L N-NO<sub>3</sub>- and  $0.12 \pm 0.005$  mg/L P-PO<sub>4+</sub> compared to  $0.57 \pm 0.02$  [SE] mg/L N-NO<sub>3</sub>- and  $0.01 \pm 0.001$  [SE] in the control units. I covered 100% of the benthic floor with 300mL of fine sediment and finally we set two flow velocities; fast (0.10  $\pm 0.008$  [SE] m.s-1) and low (below the detection limit of our instrument). All of the these treatments and levels are known to have an impact on benthic communities (Elbrecht et al., 2016; Salis et al., 2017). I also sampled at two different time scale; after two weeks of exposure to the stressors and after three weeks. In chapter 2, I focused on fungal and bacterial communities involved in the decomposition of leaf litter. This community was predominantly influenced by nutrient enrichment followed by flow velocity reduction; two factors known to modulate the activity of microbial decomposers (Table 6.1). This ranking of stressor impacts is in stark contrast with that from chapters 3 and 4, focussing on biofilm and macroinvertebrates respectively, which were most strongly influenced by fine sediment deposition followed by flow velocity reduction.

Table 6.1: Frequencies (in %) of significant responses of community structure and abundance of dominant taxa (with mean effect sizes; partial  $\eta^2$  values, range 0-1; Garson, 2015) to the three stressors (nutrient enrichment, fine sediment deposition and flow velocity reduction) and time of exposure, as major effects and as interactions

	MICROBES (LEAF LITTER)	BACTERIA (BIOFILM)	INVERTEBRATES
NUTRIENT	21.2	17.4	8.2
	(0.22)	(0.13)	(0.12)
SEDIMENT	0	87	53.1
		(0.53)	(0.23)
FLOW	12.1	87	28.6
	(0.15)	(0.46)	(0.23)
TIME	15.2	34.8	14.3
	(0.13)	(0.18)	(0.13)
NUTRIENT	9.1	0	8.2
X	(0.09)		(0.1)
TIME			
SEDIMENT	3	8.7	4.1
X	(0.08)	(0.09)	(0.1)
TIME			

FLOW X TIME	3 (0.09)	13 (0.22)	12.2 (0.11)
NUTRIENT X SEDIMENT	6.1 (0.08)	56.5 (0.14)	0
NUTRIENT X FLOW	3 (0.08)	8.7 (0.10)	4.1 (0.09)
FLOW X SEDIMENT	0	87 (0.33)	10.2 (0.33)
NUTRIENT X SEDIMENT X TIME	15.2 (0.11)	0	0
NUTRIENT X FLOW X TIME	6.1 (0.10)	0	0
FLOW X SEDIMENT X TIME	0	0	0
NUTRIENT X SEDIMENT X FLOW	3 (0.09)	34.8 (0.10)	6.1 (0.12)
NUTRIENT X SEDIMENT X FLOW X TIME	9.1 (0.08)	13 (0.11)	0

This first cross-chapter comparison (Table 6.1) reveals that the target trophic level or ecosystem function used for the observation of stressor effects can influence how we interpret their importance. This shift in the importance of nutrient enrichment over the different chapters (leaf microbes > biofilm bacteria > invertebrates) reflects the direct and indirect effects that stressors have in a system (Halstead et al., 2014). For instance, dissolved nutrients are easily directly assimilated by microbes and algae (Battin et al., 2016; Danger et al., 2016). However, uptake of these nutrients by invertebrates is less direct, as the nutrients need to be fixed in tissues at lower trophic levels to then be assimilated via feeding (Frost and Elser, 2002).

Similarly, the importance of the sediment addition impact differed markedly among the three different ecosystem components (Table 6.1). Sediment is often considered as a master stressor negatively influencing all trophic levels (Blöcher et al., 2020; Lange et al., 2016; Mustonen et al., 2016; Wagenhoff et al., 2011). However, in the present experiment, only a thin layer of

sediment was deposited, and the alpha diversities and densities of abundant taxa across the different trophic levels were not as uniformly impacted (Table 6.1). Whereas invertebrates and biofilm largely followed the negative expected trends, the leaf decomposer microbes were unaffected by the sediment deposition (Table 6.1; Chapters 2,3,4). The direct/indirect mode of action is this time different to the response to nutrient enrichment observed in chapter 2. Sediment directly buried biofilm. But in contrast to the direct effect of nutrient enrichment on leaf litter decomposers, sediment had a less direct effect, as these microbes are largely found inside plant tissue, and are thus sheltered from the smothering and physical abrasion. The effect of sedimentation is expected to be indirect via an alteration of their resource exchange with the water column (Cornut et al., 2014). The lack of susceptibility to sedimentation by the decomposer microbes observed in our experiment indicates that unless the thickness of the benthic sediment layer is deep enough to create a clear physical barrier altering the diffusion of resources, leaf litter microbial decomposers remain largely unaffected by fine sediment deposition.

The biofilm communities (Chapter 3) were the most sensitive to any form of sediment deposition which most likely stems from their overall sessile nature and inability to remove the sediment cover smothering them. Numerous reviews have highlighted the importance of sedimentation in controlling biofilm communities by changing the physical property of the substrate (smaller surface area to attach) but also the resource exchanges (Battin et al., 2016; Besemer, 2015; Zeglin, 2015).

Invertebrates have been known to strongly react to sedimentation, selecting for species with traits capable of coping with this new environment, as observed in Chapter 4 (Dolédec et al., 2011; Wagenhoff et al., 2012). For instance, I observed an increase in tegumentary respiration in parallel with a decrease in brachial respiration in the treatments in which sediment was added. My results are therefore in accordance with observations in the field (Ding et al., 2017).

Flow velocity reduction has also been considered as a key stressor (Matthaei et al., 2010), but unlike the other two stressors its effects were observed on all three ecosystem components (Chapters 2-4). A reduction in flow velocity hindered the efficiency of microbial decomposition of leaf litter (Chapter 2), modified community structures and/or population abundances (Chapter 2-4), and also affected the relative distribution of specific traits in both microbes and macroinvertebrates (Chapter 3 & 4). These wide-ranging impacts, therefore, suggest that the hydrology of riverine networks may be a particularly important factor to be considered in multiple stressor studies (Widder et al., 2014).

Overall, sedimentation directly impacted two trophic levels (Chapter 3 and 4) and an average of 46.7% (0.25 effect size) of the community structure and abundance of dominant taxa across the three chapters. However, the effects of flow-velocity reduction were more widespread (Chapters 2 - 4) and slightly more pervasive although less biological variables responded on average (42.6%, 0.28). Sediment effects were more variable than the effects of flow velocity reduction. Indeed, across all of our treatments, higher and lower extreme values in the percentage of biological variables impacted as well as effect sizes were found in the sediment treatment (Table 6.1).

#### 6.2. Stressor interactions

Stressor interactions were quite frequent across the different trophic levels, with the biofilm being the most susceptible to stressor diversity (Chapter 3). This susceptibility may be attributed to the mixture of trophic levels involved in biofilm development and consumption. Specifically, biofilms include a mix of autotrophic, heterotrophic and detrital food chains (Halvorson et al., 2019, 2017; Raghupathi et al., 2018). Biofilms fix resources from the water column and are highly sensitive to the abiotic parameters (Sabater et al., 2007). Autotrophic production is then a food source for the heterotrophic microbes and the whole biofilm material acts as a food source for the macroinvertebrates (grazers and gatherers). Later, dead biofilm and macroinvertebrate cells enter the detrital food chain releasing inorganic resources that can once again be assimilated by the autotrophic food chains and so on (Fig 6.1). All three stressors have the potential to affect any layer of this complex interactome. Sedimentation and flowvelocity reduction can modify microbial cell attachment to the substrate as well as resource exchanges linked with activity rates (Battin et al., 2016; Besemer et al., 2009, 2007). Nutrient enrichment mainly impact the activity rates of decomposition or primary production (Bruder et al., 2016b; Fernandes et al., 2014; Manning et al., 2018; Piggott et al., 2015b). Because of this high diversity of trophic interactions and the positive and negative feedbacks existing among the different components of the biofilm community, there are multiple scenarios which can generate an imbalance in the system. The imbalance in the flow of resources can then cascade up and down the trophic assemblage via multiple pathways to modify bacterial community structure.



Figure 6.1: Trophic interactions among the different agents in biofilm community dynamics. The primary producers assimilate dissolved inorganic resources using an inorganic energy source before being fed on by the microbial consumers and the macro-consumers. Macro-consumers fed on the total biofilm material. Dead matter from both microbial and macro-consumers then enters the detrital pathway which releases dissolved resources.

On the other hand, the decomposer microbes (Chapter 2) largely feed on dead leaf litter (Gessner et al., 2010; Gessner and Chauvet, 1994; Kuehn, 2016). This resource is always present irrespective the stressor status. Organic leaf litter only fluctuates in abundance according to seasons (Gounand et al., 2018b) but in our experiment, I fixed this parameter with our leaf bags. Further, my experiment only occurred in one autumn when the riparian vegetation naturally shed its leaves and the microbial diversity in streams is expected to be at its highest. Additionally, similar to the main stressor effects, leaf litter microbial decomposers are sheltered from physical stressors: thus, I expected stressor interactions modifying the resource availability of microbial decomposers to be the most common interactions detected. This was confirmed in Chapter 2 with all 2- and 3-way stressor interactions involving nutrient enrichment (Table 6.1).

In our experiment, the susceptibility of macroinvertebrates to interacting stressors overall was qualitatively similar to that of the microbial decomposers (see interacting stressors in Table 6.1). However, flow-velocity reduction is the key parameter driving the susceptibility to stressor interactions rather than nutrient concentrations as in the microbial decomposers (Chapter 4; Table 6.1). This result indicates that a small difference between faster and reduced

flow velocity can have large impacts, highlighting the importance of flow regimes in modulating invertebrate communities. Placed in a global change context this importance is particularly relevant, as managerial measures altering flow regimes are expected to increase, but also climate variations in temperature and precipitation patterns are likely to severely change river flow patterns (Gordon et al., 2008; Lange et al., 2018; Suen, 2010). Furthermore, from our three experimental data chapters, I deduce that community structure of biofilm is more prone to changes under stressor accumulation compared to that of microbial leaf decomposers and macroinvertebrates. Biofilms are often considered as the 'skin of rivers' (Battin et al., 2016). Thus, following this logic important changes in composition and structure could have significant consequences for the entire lotic ecosystem. The position that biofilms occupy in stream trophic network assemblages makes them particularly important, as a change in their activity could rapidly trigger bottom-up and top-down trophic cascades via changes in primary production (energy source for both higher trophic levels but also decomposers), whereas in our experimental system I anticipate macroinvertebrates to generate top-down cascading trophic reactions and leaf litter decomposition producing bottom-up effects (Ullah et al., 2018).

## 6.3. Temporal patterns

The main effects of the stressors often changed over time and sometimes so did multiple stressor interaction effects. Specifically, the main stressors effects changed over time in at least one response variable except the nutrients on biofilm (Chapter 3, Table 6.1). Several mechanisms could explain these changes over time depending on which trophic level is considered. For the microbial communities (Chapters 2 & 3) this effect may be the result of successional changes occurring over short temporal scales (Duarte et al., 2010; Wey et al., 2012). However, for the macroinvertebrate community (Chapter 4) the change over time is likely to be due to intraspecific immediate response followed by phenotypic adaptive plasticity (De Laender et al., 2014; Musseau et al., 2019). In our experiment, adaptive responses between week 2 and week 3 that influence community dynamics likely include behavioural adaptations (induced drift) (Elbrecht et al., 2016) and phenotypic variability favouring individuals within species with certain traits (Zhang and Malmqvist, 1997).

Furthermore, my thesis emphasises that to understand the effect of multiple stressors on biodiversity we cannot restrict our assessment to single time points and finer successive temporal measurements should be conducted (Chapters 2-5). Indeed, as mentioned in section 6.2, stressors have direct and indirect effects which operate over different time scales. Whilst direct effects occur immediately, indirect effects may need a longer time period to be recorded. Placed in an ecosystem context, indirect effects may upset the synchrony in population dynamics underlying ecological processes (Townsend, 1989). In return, upsetting population dynamics could jeopardise the long-term stability of the system and increase its susceptibility to further stressor events or taking it into a new intermediate stable state (Gordon et al., 2008; Karatayev and Baskett, 2020). Temporal questions in stressor regimes also raise the question of chronic vs acute stress events as well as their variance (Davis et al., 2019). Variance and frequency have less often been incorporated in stressor research and deserve more consideration (Benedetti-Cecchi, 2003; McCabe and Gotelli, 2000). Furthermore, as indicated in Chapter 5, spatial and temporal mismatches between stressors need to be investigated further. Indeed, in a natural context many stressors are likely to be temporally and spatially disconnected, however they can still be interacting in downstream river segments (Fagan, 2002; McClain et al., 2003). For instance, chemical stressors get carried along the river network via the river flow and interact with other stressors at connection nodes between distinct river branches (McClain et al., 2003; Schiesari et al., 2018). As a result, the spatial pattern of disturbances is likely to have a strong effect on population connectivity in river network (Campbell Grant et al., 2007).

#### 6.4. Merits of taxonomic and functional diversity assessments over time

As observed in Chapters 2, 3 & 4, the high variability in the responses to stressors, both singly and in combination, makes it difficult to generate a general model of stressor effects, especially as the trophic complexity increases. However, by combining functional and taxonomic assessments at multiple trophic levels we are able to better reveal the mechanisms of stressor responses at the population level and extrapolate to ecosystem functions (Chapters 3 & 4). Indeed, understanding the effects of trait variability on ecological mechanisms is a fundamental goal of functional ecology (Musseau et al., 2019). Equally, understanding population dynamics in response to environmental parameters is a tenet of population ecology (De Laender, 2018). Combining functional and community ecology in stressor research may allow us to make more accurate interpretations of species coexistence and changes in activities leading to ecosystem processes (Cummins, 2016).

Biodiversity assessments have become a global political priority (IPBES, 2019) and are also closely linked to ecosystem functioning measurements in ecological research (Biodiversity -Ecosystem Functioning theory, B-EF; Naeem et al., 1994; Tilman and Downing, 1994). However, biodiversity assessments tend to rely a lot on aggregate metrics such as alpha, beta and gamma diversities. To encompass the complexity of stressor interactions, aggregate metrics appear to be not fully appropriate (Chapters 2 - 5). Indeed, whilst alpha diversity overall displayed fewer significant effects, the work of this thesis indicates complex responses in the individual abundant taxa with temporal variability. Further, stressor studies can be highly context dependent depending on which taxonomic group is investigated as shown in this thesis. Additionally, different regions have different species, different abiotic parameters and different stressors and stressor levels, which can result in further variability of outcomes in multiple stressor research. The underlying concept of the B-EF is that an increase in taxonomical diversity increases functionality (Soliveres et al., 2016). However, as seen in this thesis, significant changes in function or functional traits can be observed in the absence of taxonomical diversity changes (Chapters 2 & 4). Thus, I argue that the strength of biodiversity assessments is only proportional to the extent to which functional diversity is also considered (Fonseca and Ganade, 2001).

## 6.5. Management implications and future research orientations

The amount of known and unknown stressors influencing riverine network communities is too high to make it logistically feasible to evaluate the responses of aquatic communities to each individual stressor and their combinations (Dudgeon et al., 2006; Halstead et al., 2014; Reid et al., 2019). Despite this need, research has largely described the emerging properties rather than been mechanistic (Halstead et al., 2014). In this thesis I aimed to combine current trending quantitative approaches to investigate the biodiversity response to interacting stressors with field manipulative experimentation. By combining molecular with taxonomic and functional approaches it may be possible to develop a more integrative platform to provide river health assessments (Altermatt et al., 2020). In particular, molecular approaches can be used to sample all trophic levels simultaneously. Whilst there are still technical pitfalls that need to be addressed, I suggest that the scientific community could also focus on how molecular techniques currently complement existing biomonitoring practices. One obvious example is that for many taxa, such as Diptera, taxonomic assessment can be difficult and prone to errors (Beermann et al., 2018b). Further, molecular techniques also enable the assessment of

functional genes and their expression (Vacher et al., 2016). Therefore, where multiple laboratory assays are needed, such as the enzymatic assays of microbial activity (Sinsabaugh and Findlay, 1995), molecular techniques allow the simultaneous mapping of taxonomic and functional diversity found in stream communities. As their cost continues to reduce, molecular techniques represent promising tools that enable fast and extensive sampling schemes with fewer specialist staff.

One key message of this thesis is that trophic levels display a high variability in how they react to stressors, both individually and combined. Another message is that temporal scale is an important factor in determining how stressor effects are perceived. Finally, there is a need to combine biodiversity measurement with functionality measures of communities. Therefore, I advocate that decision-makers adopt an ecosystem approach to effects of multiple stressors on river and stream biodiversity and health, sampling all trophic levels (or at least as many as possible) (Altermatt et al., 2020; Barnes et al., 2018; Gounand et al., 2018a). Indeed, most monitoring schemes focus more specifically on target groups such as Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichopetra (EPT) (Bonada et al., 2006). However, the extrapolation of the responses seen in these orders is far from being suitable to other taxonomic units, and withinorder variations also exist (Altermatt et al., 2020). Further, sampling different taxonomic units, such as invertebrate, fish or microbes, requires different techniques, spatial scales and sampling effort, which can introduce multiple biases in multi-trophic assessment. There is often a mismatch between the life-cycle of populations and the adopted spatiotemporal sampling strategy adopted in stressor research where sampling is often conducted over short period of time and spatial extent (Altermatt et al., 2020; He et al., 2019). Whereas microbial communities exhibit changes over hours and days with hundreds of generations at the local scale, it can be a much slower process for invertebrates and vertebrates, across a wider spatial scale; up to several years with much fewer generations over several kilometres (He et al., 2019). However, monitoring schemes often tend to be done over timeframe ranging from months to years and most multiple stressor studies only consider a single time point. Maybe a nested temporal approach where multiple successive fine spatiotemporal scale recording repeated at intermediate frequencies over a long period of time would help fill that gap. Further, because of the directed connectivity existing in riverine networks there is a spatial autocorrelation element to be considered (Fagan, 2002).

Altogether these current methodological problems make it difficult to extrapolate of low- or inadequate resolution effects on biodiversity to whole ecosystems and to larger spatiotemporal scales difficult: one ends up comparing 'oranges to apples', making it hard to understand biodiversity patterns in changing environments (Chase et al., 2019; Viana and Chase, 2019). Therefore, in order to drive multiple stressor research forward, spatial, temporal and manipulative studies should become more dominant in the research agenda to untangle multiple stressor effects originating at different times and places, but still have important combined effects such as heavy metals accumulating in biomass and being transported to be released in different places or at different times via a vector (McClain et al., 2003; Schiesari et al., 2018).

## References

- Abdel-Raheem, A., Shearer, C.A., 2002. Extracellular enzyme production by freshwater ascomycetes. Fungal Divers. 11, 1–19.
- Allan, J.D., 2004. Landscapes and riverscapes: The influence of land use on stream ecosystems. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 35, 257–284. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.35.120202.110122
- Altermatt, F., Fronhofer, E.A., 2018. Dispersal in dendritic networks: Ecological consequences on the spatial distribution of population densities. Freshw. Biol. 63, 22– 32. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12951
- Altermatt, F., Little, C.J., M\u00e4chler, E., Wang, S., Zhang, X., Blackman, R.C., 2020. Uncovering the complete biodiversity structure in spatial networks - the example of riverine systems. Oikos 00, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.06806
- Anderson, M.J., 2006. Distance-based tests for homogeneity of multivariate dispersions. Biometrics 62, 245–253. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0420.2005.00440.x
- Antwis, R.E., Griffiths, S.M., Harrison, X.A., Aranega-Bou, P., Arce, A., Bettridge, A.S., Brailsford, F.L., de Menezes, A., Devaynes, A., Forbes, K.M., Fry, E.L., Goodhead, I., Haskell, E., Heys, C., James, C., Johnston, S.R., Lewis, G.R., Lewis, Z., Macey, M.C., McCarthy, A., McDonald, J.E., Mejia-Florez, N.L., O'Brien, D., Orland, C., Pautasso, M., Reid, W.D.K., Robinson, H.A., Wilson, K., Sutherland, W.J., 2017. Fifty important research questions in microbial ecology. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 93, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fix044
- Arndt, D., Xia, J., Liu, Y., Zhou, Y., Guo, A.C., Cruz, J.A., Sinelnikov, I., Budwill, K., Nesbø, C.L., Wishart, D.S., 2012. METAGENassist: A comprehensive web server for comparative metagenomics. Nucleic Acids Res. 40, 88–95. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks497
- Artigas, J., Romaní, A.M., Sabater, S., 2008. Effect of nutrients on the sporulation and diversity of aquatic hyphomycetes on submerged substrata in a Mediterranean stream. Aquat. Bot. 88, 32–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquabot.2007.08.005
- Ayayee, P.A., Cosgrove, C.R., Beckwith, A., Roberto, A.A., Leff, L.G., 2018. Gut bacterial assemblages of freshwater macroinvertebrate functional feeding groups. Hydrobiologia 822, 157–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-018-3671-3
- Baltar, F., Palovaara, J., Vila-Costa, M., Salazar, G., Calvo, E., Pelejero, C., Marrasé, C., Gasol, J.M., Pinhassil, J., 2015. Response of rare, common and abundant bacterioplankton to anthropogenic perturbations in a Mediterranean coastal site. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 91, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiv058
- Barberán, A., Bates, S.T., Casamayor, E.O., Fierer, N., 2012. Using network analysis to explore co-occurrence patterns in soil microbial communities. ISME J. 6, 343–351. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.119
- Barbier, M., Arnoldi, J.-F., Bunin, G., Loreau, M., 2018. Generic assembly patterns in complex ecological communities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 115, 2156–2161. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1710352115
- Barbier, M., Loreau, M., 2019. Pyramids and cascades: a synthesis of food chain functioning and stability. Ecol. Lett. 22, 405–419. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13196

- Barker Jømgensen, B., Des Marais, D.J., 1990. The diffusive boundary layer of sediments: Oxygen microgradients over a microbial mat. Limnol. Ocean. 35, 1343–135.
- Bärlocher, F., 2016. Aquatic fungal ecology. Fungal Ecol. 19, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2015.10.002
- Barnes, A.D., Jochum, M., Lefcheck, J.S., Eisenhauer, N., Scherber, C., O'Connor, M.I., de Ruiter, P., Brose, U., 2018. Energy Flux: The Link between Multitrophic Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning. Trends Ecol. Evol. 33, 186–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2017.12.007
- Battin, T.J., Besemer, K., Bengtsson, M.M., Romani, A.M., Packmann, A.I., 2016. The ecology and biogeochemistry of stream biofilms. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 14, 251–263. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2016.15
- Baumgartner, S.D., Robinson, C.T., 2015. Land-use legacy and the differential response of stream macroinvertebrates to multiple stressors studied using in situ experimental mesocosms. Freshw. Biol. 60, 1622–1634. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12594
- Bêche, L.A., McElvary, E.P., Resh, V.H., 2006. Long-term seasonal variation in the biological traits of benthic-macroinvertebrates in two Mediterranean-climate streams in California, U.S.A. Freshw. Biol. 51, 56–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2005.01473.x
- Beermann, A.J., Elbrecht, V., Karnatz, S., Ma, L., Matthaei, C.D., Piggott, J.J., Leese, F., 2018a. Multiple-stressor effects on stream macroinvertebrate communities: A mesocosm experiment manipulating salinity, fine sediment and flow velocity. Sci. Total Environ. 610–611, 961–971. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.08.084
- Beermann, A.J., Zizka, V.M.A., Elbrecht, V., Baranov, V., Leese, F., 2018b. DNA metabarcoding reveals the complex and hidden responses of chironomids to multiple stressors. Environ. Sci. Eur. 30. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-018-0157-x
- Bell, T., Newman, J.A., Silverman, B.W., Turner, S.L., Lilley, A.K., 2005. The contribution of species richness and composition to bacterial services. Nature 436, 1157–60. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03891
- Bender, S.F., Wagg, C., van der Heijden, M.G.A., 2016. An Underground Revolution: Biodiversity and Soil Ecological Engineering for Agricultural Sustainability. Trends Ecol. Evol. 31, 440–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2016.02.016
- Benedetti-Cecchi, L., 2003. The importance of the variance around the mean effect size of ecological processes. Ecology 84, 2335–2346.
- Benjamini, Y., Hochberg, Y., 1995. Controlling the False Discovery Rate A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. J. R. Stat. Soc. Ser. B 57, 289–300. https://doi.org/10.2307/2346101
- Besemer, K., 2015. Biodiversity, community structure and function of biofilms in stream ecosystems. Res Microbiol. 166, 774–781. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2015.05.006.Biodiversity
- Besemer, K., Singer, G., Hödl, I., Battin, T.J., 2009. Bacterial community composition of stream biofilms in spatially variable-flow environments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75, 7189–7195. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01284-09
- Besemer, K., Singer, G., Limberger, R., Chlup, A.K., Hochedlinger, G., Hödl, I., Baranyi, C., Battin, T.J., 2007. Biophysical controls on community succession in stream biofilms. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73, 4966–4974. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00588-07

- Bissett, A., Brown, M. V., Siciliano, S.D., Thrall, P.H., 2013. Microbial community responses to anthropogenically induced environmental change: Towards a systems approach. Ecol. Lett. 16, 128–139. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12109
- Blöcher, J.R., Ward, M.R., Matthaei, C.D., Piggott, J.J., 2020. Multiple stressors and stream macroinvertebrate community dynamics: Interactions between fine sediment grain size and flow velocity. Sci. Total Environ. 717, 137070. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137070
- Bonada, N., Prat, N., Resh, V.H., Statzner, B., 2006. DEVELOPMENTS IN AQUATIC INSECT BIOMONITORING: A Comparative Analysis of Recent Approaches. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 51, 495–523. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ento.51.110104.151124
- Booth, M.T., Hairston, N.G., Flecker, A.S., 2019. Consumer movement dynamics as hidden drivers of stream habitat structure: suckers as ecosystem engineers on the night shift. Oikos 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.06396
- Bowen, J.L., Ward, B.B., Morrison, H.G., Hobbie, J.E., Valiela, I., Deegan, L.A., Sogin, M.L., 2011. Microbial community composition in sediments resists perturbation by nutrient enrichment. ISME J. 5, 1540–1548. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.22
- Bracewell, S., Verdonschot, R.C.M., Schäfer, R.B., Bush, A., Lapen, D.R., Van den Brink, P.J., 2019. Qualifying the effects of single and multiple stressors on the food web structure of Dutch drainage ditches using a literature review and conceptual models. Sci. Total Environ. 684, 727–740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.03.497
- Brooks, A.J., Chessman, B.C., Haeusler, T., 2011. Macroinvertebrate traits distinguish unregulated rivers subject to water abstraction. J. North Am. Benthol. Soc. 30, 419–435. https://doi.org/10.1899/10-074.1
- Brosed, M., Jabiol, J., Gessner, M.O., 2017. Nutrient stoichiometry of aquatic hyphomycetes: Interstrain variation and ergosterol conversion factors. Fungal Ecol. 29, 96–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2017.04.008
- Bruder, A., Frainer, A., Rota, T., Primicerio, R., 2019. The Importance of Ecological Networks in Multiple-Stressor Research and Management. Front. Environ. Sci. 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2019.00059
- Bruder, A., Salis, R.K., Jones, P.E., Matthaei, C.D., 2017. Biotic interactions modify multiple-stressor effects on juvenile brown trout in an experimental stream food web. Glob. Chang. Biol. 23, 3882–3894. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13696
- Bruder, A., Salis, R.K., McHugh, N.J., Matthaei, C.D., 2016a. Multiple-stressor effects on leaf litter decomposition and fungal decomposers in agricultural streams contrast between litter species. Funct. Ecol. 30, 1257–1266. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12598
- Bruder, A., Salis, R.K., McHugh, N.J., Matthaei, C.D., 2016b. Multiple-stressor effects on leaf litter decomposition and fungal decomposers in agricultural streams contrast between litter species. Funct. Ecol. 30, 1257–1266. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12598
- Bruno, D., Gutiérrez-Cánovas, C., Velasco, J., Sánchez-Fernández, D., 2016. Functional redundancy as a tool for bioassessment: A test using riparian vegetation. Sci. Total Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.186
- Buendia, C., Gibbins, C.N., Vericat, D., Batalla, R.J., Douglas, A., 2013. Detecting the structural and functional impacts of fine sediment on stream invertebrates. Ecol. Indic.

25, 184–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2012.09.027

- Burgmer, T., Reiss, J., Wickham, S., Hillebrand, H., 2010. Effects of snail grazers and light on the benthic microbial food web in periphyton communities. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 61, 163–178. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame01449
- Busse, A., Schoreisz, J.J., Petermann, J.S., 2019. Predators and priority effects suggested as potential drivers of microfauna communities in a community transplantation experiment along an elevational gradient. Oikos 128, 929–942. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.05894
- Cadotte, M.W., Tucker, C.M., 2017. Should Environmental Filtering be Abandoned? Trends Ecol. Evol. 32, 429–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2017.03.004
- Calapez, A.R., Serra, S.R.Q., Santos, J.M., Branco, P., Ferreira, T., Hein, T., Brito, A.G., Feio, M.J., 2018. The effect of hypoxia and flow decrease in macroinvertebrate functional responses: A trait-based approach to multiple-stressors in mesocosms. Sci. Total Environ. 637–638, 647–656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.05.071
- Calizza, E., Rossi, L., Careddu, G., Sporta Caputi, S., Costantini, M.L., 2019. Species richness and vulnerability to disturbance propagation in real food webs. Sci. Rep. 9, 2–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-55960-8
- Campbell Grant, E.H., Lowe, W.H., Fagan, W.F., 2007. Living in the branches: Population dynamics and ecological processes in dendritic networks. Ecol. Lett. 10, 165–175. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.01007.x
- Canhoto, C., Gonçalves, A.L., Bärlocher, F., 2016. Biology and ecological functions of aquatic hyphomycetes in a warming climate. Fungal Ecol. 19, 201–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2015.09.011
- Cardinale, B.J., Palmer, M.A., 2002. Disturbance moderates biodiversity-ecosystem function relationships: experimental evidence from caddisflies in stream mesocosms. Ecology 83, 1915–1927.
- Carr, A., Diener, C., Baliga, N.S., Gibbons, S.M., 2019. Use and abuse of correlation analyses in microbial ecology. ISME J. 13, 2647–2655. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-019-0459-z
- Carrara, F., Altermatt, F., Rodriguez-Iturbe, I., Rinaldo, A., 2012. Dendritic connectivity controls biodiversity patterns in experimental metacommunities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109, 5761–5766. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1119651109
- Carreiro, M.M., Sinsabaugh, R.L., Repert, D.A., Parkhurst, D.F., 2000. Microbial enzyme shifts explain litter decay responses to simulated nitrogen deposition. Ecology 81, 2359–2365. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2000)081
- Chao, A., Jost, L., 2012. Coverage-based rarefaction and extrapolation: Standardizing samples by completeness rather than size. Ecology 93, 2533–2547. https://doi.org/10.1890/11-1952.1
- Chase, J.M., McGill, B.J., Thompson, P.L., Antão, L.H., Bates, A.E., Blowes, S.A., Dornelas, M., Gonzalez, A., Magurran, A.E., Supp, S.R., Winter, M., Bjorkman, A.D., Bruelheide, H., Byrnes, J.E.K., Cabral, J.S., Elahi, R., Gomez, C., Guzman, H.M., Isbell, F., Myers-Smith, I.H., Jones, H.P., Hines, J., Vellend, M., Waldock, C., O'Connor, M., 2019. Species richness change across spatial scales. Oikos 1079–1091. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.05968
- Chauvet, E., Ferreira, V., Giller, P.S., McKie, B.G., Tiegs, S.D., Woodward, G., Elosegi, A., Dobson, M., Fleituch, T., Graça, M.A.S., Gulis, V., Hladyz, S., Lacoursière, J.O.,

Lecerf, A., Pozo, J., Preda, E., Riipinen, M., Rîşnoveanu, G., Vadineanu, A., Vought, L.B.M., Gessner, M.O., 2016. Litter Decomposition as an Indicator of Stream Ecosystem Functioning at Local-to-Continental Scales: Insights from the European RivFunction Project, in: Advances in Ecological Research. pp. 99–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2016.08.006

- Chesson, P.L., 1986. Environmental variation and the coexistence of species, in: Diamond, J.M., Case, T.J. (Eds.), Community Ecology. Harper and Row, New York, pp. 240–256.
- Chevalier, M., Lindström, Å., Pärt, T., Knape, J., 2019. Changes in forest bird abundance, community structure, and composition following a hurricane in Sweden. Ecography (Cop.). 42, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.04578
- Chislock, M., Doster, E., Zitomer, R., Wilson, A., 2013. Eutrophication: causes, consequences, and controls in aquatic ecosystems. Nat. Educ. Knowl. 4, 10. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0958344007000237
- Cornut, J., Chauvet, E., Mermillod-Blondin, F., Assemat, F., Elger, A., 2014. Aquatic hyphomycete species are screened by the hyporheic zone of woodland streams. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 80, 1949–1960. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03024-13
- Costantini, M.L., Rossi, L., 2010. Species diversity and decomposition in laboratory aquatic systems: The role of species interactions. Freshw. Biol. 55, 2281–2295. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2010.02433.x
- Côté, I.M., Darling, E.S., Brown, C.J., 2016. Interactions among ecosystem stressors and their importance in conservation. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 283, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.2592
- Craig, L.S., Olden, J.D., Arthington, A.H., Entrekin, S., Hawkins, C.P., Kelly, J.J., Kennedy, T.A., Maitland, B.M., Rosi, E.J., Roy, A.H., Strayer, D.L., Tank, J.L., West, A.O., Wooten, M.S., 2017. Meeting the challenge of interacting threats in freshwater ecosystems: A call to scientists and managers. Elem Sci Anth 5, 72. https://doi.org/10.1525/elementa.256
- Crain, C.M., Bertness, M.D., 2006. Ecosystem Engineering across Environmental Gradients : Implications for Conservation and Management. Bioscience 56, 211–218.
- Crain, C.M., Kroeker, K., Halpern, B.S., 2008. Interactive and cumulative effects of multiple human stressors in marine systems. Ecol. Lett. 11, 1304–1315. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01253.x
- Craven, D., Eisenhauer, N., Pearse, W.D., Hautier, Y., Isbell, F., Roscher, C., Bahn, M., Beierkuhnlein, C., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Craine, J.M., De Luca, E., Ebeling, A., Griffin, J.N., Hector, A., Hines, J., Jentsch, A., Kattge, J., Kreyling, J., Lanta, V., Lemoine, N., Meyer, S.T., Minden, V., Onipchenko, V., Polley, W.H., Reich, P.B., Van Ruijven, J., Schamp, B., Smith, M.D., Soudzilovskaia, N.A., Tilman, D., Weigelt, A., Wilsey, B., Manning, P., 2018. Multiple facets of biodiversity drive the diversity-stability relationship. Nat. Ecol. Evol. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-018-0647-7
- Cristescu, M.E., 2014. From barcoding single individuals to metabarcoding biological communities: Towards an integrative approach to the study of global biodiversity. Trends Ecol. Evol. 29, 566–571. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.08.001
- Cross, W.F., Benstead, J.P., Rosemond, A.D., Wallace, J.B., 2003. Consumer-resource stoichiometry in detritus-based streams. Ecol. Lett. 6, 721–732. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2003.00481.x

- Cross, W.F., Hood, J.M., Benstead, J.P., Huryn, A.D., Nelson, D., 2015. Interactions between temperature and nutrients across levels of ecological organization. Glob. Chang. Biol. 21, 1025–1040. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12809
- Cummins, K.W., 2016. Combining taxonomy and function in the study of stream macroinvertebrates. J. Limnol. 75, 235–241. https://doi.org/10.4081/jlimnol.2016.1373
- Danger, M., Chauvet, E., 2013. Elemental composition and degree of homeostasis of fungi: are aquatic hyphomycetes more like metazoans, bacteria or plants? Fungal Ecol. 6, 453– 457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2013.05.007
- Danger, M., Daufresne, T., Lucas, F., Pissard, S., Lacroix, G., 2008. Does Liebig's law of the minimum scale up from species to communities? Oikos 117, 1741–1751. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2008.16793.x
- Danger, M., Gessner, M.O., Bärlocher, F., 2016. Ecological stoichiometry of aquatic fungi: current knowledge and perspectives. Fungal Ecol. 19, 100–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2015.09.004
- Das, M., Royer, T. V., Leff, L.G., 2007. Diversity of fungi, bacteria, and actinomycetes on leaves decomposing in a stream. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73, 756–767. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01170-06
- Davis, J., Sim, L., Chambers, J., 2010. Multiple stressors and regime shifts in shallow aquatic ecosystems in antipodean landscapes. Freshw. Biol. 55, 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02376.x
- Davis, S.J., Ó hUallacháin, D., Mellander, P.-E., Kelly, A.-M., Matthaei, C.D., Piggott, J.J., Kelly-Quinn, M., 2018. Multiple-stressor effects of sediment, phosphorus and nitrogen on stream macroinvertebrate communities. Sci. Total Environ. 637–638, 577–587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.05.052
- Davis, S.J., Ó hUallacháin, D., Mellander, P.E., Matthaei, C.D., Piggott, J.J., Kelly-Quinn, M., 2019. Chronic nutrient inputs affect stream macroinvertebrate communities more than acute inputs: An experiment manipulating phosphorus, nitrogen and sediment. Sci. Total Environ. 683, 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.05.031
- De Filippis, F., Laiola, M., Blaiotta, G., Ercolini, D., 2017. Different amplicon targets for sequencing-based studies of fungal diversity. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 83, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00905-17
- De Laender, F., 2018. Community- and ecosystem-level effects of multiple environmental change drivers: Beyond null model testing. Glob. Chang. Biol. 24, 5021–5030. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14382
- De Laender, F., Melian, C.J., Bindler, R., Van den Brink, P.J., Daam, M., Roussel, H., Juselius, J., Verschuren, D., Janssen, C.R., 2014. The contribution of intra- and interspecific tolerance variability to biodiversity changes along toxicity gradients. Ecol. Lett. 17, 72–81. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12210
- Death, R.G., Dewson, Z.S., James, A.B.W., 2009. Is structure or function a better measure of the effects of water abstraction on ecosystem integrity? Freshw. Biol. 54, 2037–2050. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02182.x
- Díaz, S., Purvis, A., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Mace, G.M., Donoghue, M.J., Ewers, R.M., Jordano, P., Pearse, W.D., 2013. Functional traits, the phylogeny of function, and ecosystem service vulnerability. Ecol. Evol. 3, 2958–2975. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.601

- Ding, N., Yang, W., Zhou, Y., González-Bergonzoni, I., Zhang, J., Chen, K., Vidal, N., Jeppesen, E., Liu, Z., Wang, B., 2017. Different responses of functional traits and diversity of stream macroinvertebrates to environmental and spatial factors in the Xishuangbanna watershed of the upper Mekong River Basin, China. Sci. Total Environ. 574, 288–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.09.053
- Dolédec, S., Phillips, N., Townsend, C., 2011. Invertebrate community responses to land use at a broad spatial scale: Trait and taxonomic measures compared in New Zealand rivers. Freshw. Biol. 56, 1670–1688. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2011.02597.x
- Dormann, C.F., Fründ, J., Schaefer, H.M., 2017. Identifying Causes of Patterns in Ecological Networks: Opportunities and Limitations. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 48, 559–584. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110316-022928
- Du, L., Trinh, X., Chen, Q., Wang, C., Wang, H., Xia, X., Zhou, Q., Xu, D., Wu, Z., 2018. Enhancement of microbial nitrogen removal pathway by vegetation in Integrated Vertical-Flow Constructed Wetlands (IVCWs) for treating reclaimed water. Bioresour. Technol. 249, 644–651. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.10.074
- Duarte, S., Pascoal, C., Alves, A., Correia, A., Cássio, F., 2010. Assessing the dynamic of microbial communities during leaf decomposition in a low-order stream by microscopic and molecular techniques. Microbiol. Res. 165, 351–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2009.06.002
- Duarte, S., Pascoal, C., Cássio, F., Bärlocher, F., 2006. Aquatic hyphomycete diversity and identity affect leaf litter decomposition in microcosms. Oecologia 147, 658–666. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-005-0300-4
- Dudgeon, D., 2011. Asian river fishes in the Anthropocene: threats and conservation challenges in an era of rapid environmental change. J. Fish Biol. 79, 1487–1524. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2011.03086.x
- Dudgeon, D., Arthington, A.H., Gessner, M.O., Kawabata, Z.-I., Knowler, D.J., Lévêque, C., Naiman, R.J., Prieur-Richard, A.-H., Soto, D., Stiassny, M.L.J., Sullivan, C.A., 2006. Freshwater biodiversity: importance, threats, status and conservation challenges. Biol. Rev. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1464793105006950
- Edgar, R.C., 2010. Search and clustering orders of magnitude faster than BLAST. Bioinformatics 26, 2460–2461. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btq461
- Edgar, R.C., Haas, B.J., Clemente, J.C., Quince, C., Knight, R., 2011. UCHIME improves sensitivity and speed of chimera detection. Bioinformatics 27, 2194–2200. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btr381
- Elbrecht, V., Beermann, A.J., Goessler, G., Neumann, J., Tollrian, R., Wagner, R., Wlecklik, A., Piggott, J.J., Matthaei, C.D., Leese, F., 2016. Multiple-stressor effects on stream invertebrates: A mesocosm experiment manipulating nutrients, fine sediment and flow velocity. Freshw. Biol. 61, 362–375. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12713
- Elbrecht, V., Steinke, D., 2019. Scaling up DNA metabarcoding for freshwater macrozoobenthos monitoring. Freshw. Biol. 64, 380–387. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.13220
- European Environment Agency, 2015. SOER 2015 Cross-country comparisons Freshwater quality nutrients in rivers.
- Fagan, W.F., 2002. Connectivity, fragmentation, and extinction risk in dendritic metapopulations. Ecology 83, 3243–3249. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-

9658(2002)083[3243:CFAERI]2.0.CO;2

- Fernandes, I., Seena, S., Pascoal, C., Cássio, F., 2014. Elevated temperature may intensify the positive effects of nutrients on microbial decomposition in streams. Freshw. Biol. 59, 2390–2399. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12445
- Ferreira, V., Castagneyrol, B., Koricheva, J., Gulis, V., Chauvet, E., Graça, M.A.S., 2015. A meta-analysis of the effects of nutrient enrichment on litter decomposition in streams. Biol. Rev. 90, 669–688. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12125
- Ferreira, V., Chauvet, E., 2012. Changes in dominance among species in aquatic hyphomycete assemblages do not affect litter decomposition rates. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 66, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame01556
- Folt, C.L., Chen, C.Y., Moore, M. V, Burnaford, J., 1999. Synergism and antagonism among multiple stressors. Limnol. Ocean. 44, 864–877.
- Fonseca, C.R., Ganade, G., 2001. Species functional redundancy, random extinctions and the stability of ecosystems. J. Ecol. 89, 118–125. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2745.2001.00528.x
- Frainer, A., Jabiol, J., Gessner, M.O., Bruder, A., Chauvet, E., McKie, B.G., 2016. Stoichiometric imbalances between detritus and detritivores are related to shifts in ecosystem functioning. Oikos 125. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.02687
- Frainer, A., Polvi, L.E., Jansson, R., McKie, B.G., 2018. Enhanced ecosystem functioning following stream restoration: The roles of habitat heterogeneity and invertebrate species traits. J. Appl. Ecol. 55, 377–385. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12932
- Freilich, M.A., Wieters, E., Broitman, B.R., Marquet, P.A., Navarrete, S.A., 2018. Species co-occurrence networks: Can they reveal trophic and non-trophic interactions in ecological communities? Ecology 99, 690–699. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2142
- Frey-Klett, P., Burlinson, P., Deveau, A., Barret, M., Tarkka, M., Sarniguet, A., 2011. Bacterial-Fungal Interactions : Hyphens between Agricultural , Clinical , Environmental , and Food Microbiologists. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 75, 583–609. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00020-11
- Frost, P.C., Elser, J.J., 2002. Growth responses of littoral mayflies to the phosphorus content of their food. Ecol. Lett. 5, 232–240. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2002.00307.x
- Gardeström, J., Ermold, M., Goedkoop, Willem Op, G., Mckie, B.G., 2016. Disturbance history influences stressor impacts: effects of a fungicide and nutrients on microbial diversity and litter decomposition. Freshw. Biol. 61, 2171–2184. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12698
- Garson, D., 2015. MULTIVARIATE GLM, MANOVA, AND MANCOVA 2015 Edition.
- Geary, W.L., Nimmo, D.G., Doherty, T.S., Ritchie, E.G., Tulloch, A.I.T., 2019. Threat webs: Reframing the co-occurrence and interactions of threats to biodiversity. J. Appl. Ecol. 1992–1997. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13427
- Gessner, M.O., 1991. Differences in processing dynamics of fresh and dried leaf litter in a stream ecosystem. Freshw. Biol. 26, 387–398. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.1991.tb01406.x
- Gessner, M.O., Chauvet, E., 1994. Importance of stream microfungi in controlling breakdown rates of leaf litter. Ecology 75, 1807–1817. https://doi.org/10.2307/1939639
- Gessner, M.O., Swan, C.M., Dang, C.K., McKie, B.G., Bardgett, R.D., Wall, D.H.,

Hättenschwiler, S., 2010. Diversity meets decomposition. Trends Ecol. Evol. 25, 372–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2010.01.010

- Gibert, J.P., Yeakel, J.D., 2019. Eco-evolutionary origins of diverse abundance, biomass, and trophic structures in food webs. Front. Ecol. Evol. 7, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00015
- Gilarranz, L.J., Rayfield, B., Liñán-Cembrano, G., Bascompte, J., Gonzalez, A., 2017.
  Effects of network modularity on the spread of perturbation impact in experimental metapopulations. Science (80-.). 357, 199–201. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aal4122
- Godoy, O., Bartomeus, I., Rohr, R.P., Saavedra, S., 2018. Towards the Integration of Niche and Network Theories. Trends Ecol. Evol. 33, 287–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2018.01.007
- Gordon, L.J., Peterson, G.D., Bennett, E.M., 2008. Agricultural modifications of hydrological flows create ecological surprises. Trends Ecol. Evol. 24, 211–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2007.11.011
- Gounand, I., Harvey, E., Ganesanandamoorthy, P., Altermatt, F., 2017. Subsidies mediate interactions between communities across space. Oikos 126, 972–979. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.03922
- Gounand, I., Harvey, E., Little, C.J., Altermatt, F., 2018a. Meta-Ecosystems 2.0: Rooting the Theory into the Field. Trends Ecol. Evol. 33, 36–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2017.10.006
- Gounand, I., Little, C.J., Harvey, E., Altermatt, F., 2018b. Cross-ecosystem carbon flows connecting ecosystems worldwide. Nat. Commun. 9, 4825. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-07238-2
- Graça, M.A.S., Bärlocher, F., Gessner, M.O., 2005. Methods to Study Litter Decomposition. Springer, Dordrecht The Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-3466-0
- Grainger, T.N., Letten, A.D., Gilbert, B., Fukami, T., 2019. Applying modern coexistence theory to priority effects. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 116, 201803122. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1803122116
- Griffith, G.P., Strutton, P.G., Semmens, J.M., 2017. Climate change alters stability and species potential interactions in a large marine ecosystem. Glob. Chang. Biol. 24, 90–100. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13891
- Griffith, G.P., Strutton, P.G., Semmens, J.M., Fulton, E.A., 2018. Identifying important species that amplify or mitigate the interactive effects of human impacts on marine food webs. Conserv. Biol. 33, 403–412. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13202
- Griffiths, J.I., Petchey, O.L., Pennekamp, F., Childs, D.Z., 2018. Linking intraspecific trait variation to community abundance dynamics improves ecological predictability by revealing a growth–defence trade-off. Funct. Ecol. 32, 496–508. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12997
- Grosholz, E.D., 2005. Recent biological invasion may hasten invasional meltdown by accelerating historical introductions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 102, 1088–1091. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0308547102
- Guilini, K., Oevelen, D. Van, Soetaert, K., Middelburg, J.J., Vanreusel, A., 2010. Nutritional importance of benthic bacteria for deep-sea nematodes from the Arctic ice margin : Results of an isotope tracer experiment. Limnol. Oceanogr. 55, 1977–1989. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2010.55.5.1977

- Gulis, V., Kuehn, K.A., Schoettle, L.N., Leach, D., Benstead, J.P., Rosemond, A.D., 2017. Changes in nutrient stoichiometry, elemental homeostasis and growth rate of aquatic litter-associated fungi in response to inorganic nutrient supply. ISME J. 11, 2729–2739. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2017.123
- Gulis, V., Suberkropp, K., 2004. Effects of whole-stream nutrient enrichment on the concentration and abundance of aquatic hyphomycete conidia in transport. Mycologia 96, 57–65. https://doi.org/10.2307/3761988
- Gulis, V., Suberkropp, K., 2003. Effect of Inorganic Nutrients on Relative Contributions of Fungi and Bacteria to Carbon Flow from Submerged Decomposing Leaf Litter. Microb Ecol 45, 11–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-002-1032-1
- Güsewell, S., Gessner, M.O., 2009. N:P ratios influence litter decomposition and colonization by fungi and bacteria in microcosms. Funct. Ecol. 23, 211–219. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01478.x
- Gustave, W., Yuan, Z.F., Sekar, R., Toppin, V., Liu, J.Y., Ren, Y.X., Zhang, J., Chen, Z., 2019. Relic DNA does not obscure the microbial community of paddy soil microbial fuel cells. Res. Microbiol. 170, 97–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2018.11.002
- Guzman, L.M., Germain, R.M., Forbes, C., Straus, S., O'Connor, M.I., Gravel, D., Srivastava, D.S., Thompson, P.L., 2019. Towards a multi-trophic extension of metacommunity ecology. Ecol. Lett. 22, 19–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13162
- Haglund, A.L., Hillebrand, H., 2005. The effect of grazing and nutrient supply on periphyton associated bacteria. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 52, 31–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.femsec.2004.10.003
- Halstead, N.T., Mcmahon, T.A., Johnson, S.A., Raffel, T.R., Romansic, J.M., Crumrine, P.W., Rohr, J.R., 2014. Community ecology theory predicts the effects of agrochemical mixtures on aquatic biodiversity and ecosystem properties. Ecol. Lett. 17, 932–941. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12295
- Halvorson, H.M., Barry, J.R., Lodato, M.B., Findlay, R.H., Francoeur, S.N., Kuehn, K.A., 2019. Periphytic algae decouple fungal activity from leaf litter decomposition via negative priming. Funct. Ecol. 33, 188–201. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13235
- Halvorson, H.M., Sperfeld, E., Evans-White, M.A., 2017. Quantity and quality limit detritivore growth: mechanisms revealed by ecological stoichiometry and co-limitation theory. Ecology 98, 2995–3002. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2026
- Hamilton, A.T., Schäfer, R.B., Pyne, M.I., Chessman, B., Kakouei, K., Boersma, K.S., Verdonschot, P.F.M., Verdonschot, R.C.M., Mims, M., Khamis, K., Bierwagen, B., Stamp, J., 2019. Limitations of Trait-Based Approaches for Stressor Assessment: the Case of Freshwater Invertebrates and Climate Drivers. Glob. Chang. Biol. 00, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14846
- Han, D., Currell, M.J., Cao, G., 2016. Deep challenges for China's war on water pollution. Environ. Pollut. 218, 1222–1233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.08.078
- Harding, H.R., Gordon, T.A.C., Eastcott, E., Simpson, S.D., Radford, A.N., 2019. Causes and consequences of intraspecific variation in animal responses to anthropogenic noise. Behav. Ecol. 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arz114
- Hartwig, M., Borchardt, D., 2015. Alteration of key hyporheic functions through biological and physical clogging along a nutrient and fine-sediment gradient. Ecohydrology 8, 961–975. https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.1571

- Harvey, E., Altermatt, F., 2019. Regulation of the functional structure of aquatic communities across spatial scales in a major river network. Ecology 100, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2633
- Harvey, E., Gounand, I., Fronhofer, E.A., Altermatt, F., 2019. Metaecosystem dynamics drive community composition in experimental, multi-layered spatial networks. Oikos 00, oik.07037. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.07037
- Harvey, E., Gounand, I., Fronhofer, E.A., Altermatt, F., 2018. Disturbance reverses classic biodiversity predictions in river-like landscapes. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 285, 20182441. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.2441
- Harvey, E., Gounand, I., Little, C.J., Fronhofer, E.A., Altermatt, F., 2017a. Upstream trophic structure modulates downstream community dynamics via resource subsidies. Ecol. Evol. 7, 5724–5731. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3144
- Harvey, E., Gounand, I., Ward, C.L., Altermatt, F., 2017b. Bridging ecology and conservation: from ecological networks to ecosystem function. J. Appl. Ecol. 54, 371– 379. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12769
- He, F., Zarfl, C., Bremerich, V., David, J.N.W., Hogan, Z., Kalinkat, G., Tockner, K., Jähnig, S.C., 2019. The global decline of freshwater megafauna. Glob. Chang. Biol. gcb.14753. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14753
- Heathwaite, A.L., 2010. Multiple stressors on water availability at global to catchment scales: Understanding human impact on nutrient cycles to protect water quality and water availability in the long term. Freshw. Biol. 55, 241–257. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02368.x
- Hering, D., Carvalho, L., Argillier, C., Beklioglu, M., Borja, A., Cardoso, A.C., Duel, H., Ferreira, T., Globevnik, L., Hanganu, J., Hellsten, S., Jeppesen, E., Kodeš, V., Solheim, A.L., Nõges, T., Ormerod, S., Panagopoulos, Y., Schmutz, S., Venohr, M., Birk, S., 2015. Managing aquatic ecosystems and water resources under multiple stress — An introduction to the MARS project. Sci. Total Environ. 503–504, 10–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.06.106
- Hering, D., Johnson, R.K., Kramm, S., Schmutz, S., Szoszkiewicz, K., Verdonschot, P.F.M., 2006. Assessment of European streams with diatoms, macrophytes, macroinvertebrates and fish: A comparative metric-based analysis of organism response to stress. Freshw. Biol. 51, 1757–1785. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2006.01610.x
- Herren, C.M., Webert, K.C., Mcmahon, D., 2016. Environmental Disturbances Decrease the Variability of Microbial Populations within Periphyton. mSystems 1, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00013-16.Editor
- Horváth, Z., Ptacnik, R., Vad, C.F., Chase, J.M., 2019. Habitat loss over six decades accelerates regional and local biodiversity loss via changing landscape connectance. Ecol. Lett. 22, 1019–1027. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13260
- Hu, B.Q., Yang, Z.S., Wang, H.J., Sun, X.X., Bi, N.S., 2009. Sedimentation in the Three Gorges Dam and its impact on the sediment flux from the Changjiang (Yangtze River), China. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. Discuss. 6, 5177–5204. https://doi.org/10.5194/hessd-6-5177-2009
- Hudson, L.N., Emerson, R., Jenkins, G.B., Layer, K., Ledger, M.E., Pichler, D.E., Thompson, M.S.A., Gorman, E.J.O., Woodward, G., Reuman, D.C., 2013. Cheddar : analysis and visualisation of ecological communities in R. Methods Ecol. Evol. 4, 99– 104. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12005

- Hutchinson, M.C., Bramon Mora, B., Pilosof, S., Barner, A.K., Kéfi, S., Thébault, E., Jordano, P., Stouffer, D.B., 2019. Seeing the forest for the trees: Putting multilayer networks to work for community ecology. Funct. Ecol. 33, 206–217. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13237
- IPBES, 2019. Summary for Policymakers of the Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.
- Johnston, S.R., Boddy, L., Weightman, A.J., 2016. Bacteria in decomposing wood and their interactions with wood-decay fungi. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 92, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/iw179
- Jones, C.G., Lawton, J.H., Shachak, M., 1997. Positive and Negative Effects of Organisms as Physical Ecosystem Engineers. Ecology 78, 1946–1957.
- Juvigny-Khenafou, N.P.D., Zhang, Y., Piggott, J.J., Atkinson, D., Matthaei, C.D., Van Bael, S.A., Wu, N., 2019. Anthropogenic stressors affect fungal more than bacterial communities in decaying leaf litter: A stream mesocosm experiment. Sci. Total Environ. 135053. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135053
- Karatayev, V.A., Baskett, M.L., 2020. At what spatial scales are alternative stable states relevant in highly interconnected ecosystems? Ecology 101. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2930
- Kardol, P., Fanin, N., Wardle, D.A., 2018. Long-term effects of species loss on community properties across contrasting ecosystems. Nature 557, 710–715.
- Karp, P.D., 2002. The MetaCyc Database. Nucleic Acids Res. 30, 59–61. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/30.1.59
- Kato, Y., Kondoh, M., Ishikawa, N.F., Togashi, H., Kohmatsu, Y., Yoshimura, M., Yoshimizu, C., Haraguchi, T.F., Osada, Y., Ohte, N., Tokuchi, N., Okuda, N., Miki, T., Tayasu, I., 2018. Using food network unfolding to evaluate food–web complexity in terms of biodiversity: theory and applications. Ecol. Lett. 21, 1065–1074. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12973
- Kerekes, J., Kaspari, M., Stevenson, B., Nilsson, R.H., Hartmann, M., Amend, A., Bruns, T.D., 2013. Nutrient enrichment increased species richness of leaf litter fungal assemblages in a tropical forest. Mol. Ecol. 22, 2827–2838. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12259
- Khan, M.A.W., Bohannan, B.J.M., Nüsslein, K., Tiedje, J.M., Tringe, S.G., Parlade, E., Barberán, A., Rodrigues, J.L.M., 2019. Deforestation Impacts Network Co-occurrence Patterns of Microbial Communities in Amazon Soils, FEMS Microbiology Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiy230
- Kissling, W.D., Dormann, C.F., Groeneveld, J., Hickler, T., Kühn, I., Mcinerny, G.J., Montoya, J.M., Römermann, C., Schiffers, K., Schurr, F.M., Singer, A., Svenning, J.C., Zimmermann, N.E., O'Hara, R.B., 2012. Towards novel approaches to modelling biotic interactions in multispecies assemblages at large spatial extents. J. Biogeogr. 39, 2163– 2178. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2011.02663.x
- Knelman, J.E., Schmidt, S.K., Lynch, R.C., Darcy, J.L., Castle, S.C., Cleveland, C.C., Nemergut, D.R., 2014. Nutrient addition dramatically accelerates microbial community succession. PLoS One 9, e102609. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0102609
- Kominoski, J.S., D.rosemond, A.M.Y., Benstead, J.P., Gulis, V., C.maerz, J., Manning,

D.W.P., 2015. Low-to-moderate nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations accelerate microbially driven litter breakdown rates. Ecol. Appl. 25, 856–865. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-1113.1.sm

- Kraft, N.J.B., Adler, P.B., Godoy, O., James, E.C., Fuller, S., Levine, J.M., 2015. Community assembly, coexistence and the environmental filtering metaphor. Funct. Ecol. 29, 592–599. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12345
- Kuehn, K.A., 2016. Lentic and lotic habitats as templets for fungal communities: Traits, adaptations, and their significance to litter decomposition within freshwater ecosystems. Fungal Ecol. 19, 135–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2015.09.009
- Kuehn, K.A., Ohsowski, B.M., Francoeur, S.N., Neely, R.K., 2011. Contributions of fungi to carbon flow and nutrient cycling from standing dead Typha angustifolia leaf litter in a temperate freshwater marsh. Limnol. Ocean. 56, 529–539. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2011.56.2.0529
- Laliberté, E., Legendre, P., 2010. A distance-based framework for measuring functional diversity from multiple traits. Ecology 91, 299–305.
- Lange, K., Meier, P., Trautwein, C., Schmid, M., Robinson, C.T., Weber, C., Brodersen, J., 2018. Basin-scale effects of small hydropower on biodiversity dynamics. Front. Ecol. Environ. 16, 397–404. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.1823
- Lange, K., Richard Townsend, C., David Matthaei, C., Katharina Lange, C., 2016. A traitbased framework for stream algal communities. Ecol. Evol. 6, 23–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1822
- Lau, K.E.M., Washington, V.J., Fan, V., Neale, M.W., Lear, G., Curran, J., Lewis, G.D., 2015. A novel bacterial community index to assess stream ecological health. Freshw. Biol. 60, 1988–2002. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12625
- Lear, G., Anderson, M.J., Smith, J.P., Boxen, K., Lewis, G.D., 2008. Spatial and temporal heterogeneity of the bacterial communities in stream epilithic biofilms. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 65, 463–473. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2008.00548.x
- Lear, G., Boothroyd, I.K.G., Turner, S.J., Roberts, K., Lewis, G.D., 2009. A comparison of bacteria and benthic invertebrates as indicators of ecological health in streams. Freshw. Biol. 54, 1532–1543. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02190.x
- Legendre, P., Gallagher, E.D., 2001. Ecologically meaningful transformations for ordination of species data. Oecologia 129, 271–280. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420100716
- Lemly, A.D., 1982. Modification of benthic insect communities in polluted streams: combined effects of sedimentation and nutrient enrichment. Hydrobiologia 87, 229–245. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00007232
- Lenihan, H.S., Peterson, C.H., Miller, R.J., Kayal, M., Potoski, M., 2018. Biotic disturbance mitigates effects of multiple stressors in a marine benthic community. Ecosphere 9. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2314
- Li, K., Zhu, C., Wu, L., Huang, L., 2013. Problems caused by the Three Gorges Dam construction in the Yangtze River basin: A review. Environ. Rev. 21, 127–135. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2012-0051
- Li, Z., Wang, J., Liu, Z., Meng, X., Heino, J., Jiang, Xuankong, Xiong, X., Jiang, Xiaoming, Xie, Z., 2019. Different responses of taxonomic and functional structures of stream macroinvertebrate communities to local stressors and regional factors in a subtropical biodiversity hotspot. Sci. Total Environ. 655, 1288–1300.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.222

- Lima-Mendez, G., Faust, K., Henry, N., Decelle, J., Colin, S., Carcillo, F., Chaffron, S., Ignacio-Espinosa, J.C., Roux, S., Vincent, F., Bittner, L., Darzi, Y., Wang, J., Audic, S., Berline, L., Bontempi, G., Cabello, A.M., Coppola, L., Cornejo-Castillo, F.M., d'Ovidio, F., De Meester, L., Ferrera, I., Garet-Delmas, M.-J., Guidi, L., Lara, E., Pesant, S., Royo-Llonch, M., Salazar, G., Sanchez, P., Sebastian, M., Souffreau, C., Dimier, C., Picheral, M., Searson, S., Kandels-Lewis, S., Gorsky, G., Not, F., Ogata, H., Speich, S., Stemmann, L., Weissenbach, J., Wincker, P., Acinas, S.G., Sunagawa, S., Bork, P., Sullivan, M.B., Karsenti, E., Bowler, C., de Vargas, C., Raes, J., 2015. Determinants of community structure in the global plankton interactome. Science (80-.). 348, 1262073–1262073. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1262073
- Lin, L., Webster, J.R., 2014. Detritus decomposition and nutrient dynamics in a forested headwater stream. Ecol. Modell. 293, 58–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2013.12.013
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Likens, G.E., Krebs, C.J., Hobbs, R.J., 2010. Improved probability of detection of ecological "surprises." Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 107, 21957–21962. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1015696107
- Liu, J., Diamond, J., 2005. China's environment in a globalizing world. Nature 435, 1179–1186.
- Liu, S., Xie, G., Wang, L., Cottenie, K., Liu, D., Wang, B., 2016. Different roles of environmental variables and spatial factors in structuring stream benthic diatom and macroinvertebrate in Yangtze River Delta, China. Ecol. Indic. 61, 602–611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.10.011
- Lloyd, K.G., Steen, A.D., Ladau, J., Yin, J., Crosby, L., 2018. Phylogenetically Novel Uncultured Microbial Cells Dominate Earth Microbiomes. mSystems 3. https://doi.org/10.1128/msystems.00055-18
- MacDougall, A.S., Harvey, E., McCune, J.L., Nilsson, K.A., Bennett, J., Firn, J., Bartley, T., Grace, J.B., Kelly, J., Tunney, T.D., McMeans, B., Matsuzaki, S.I.S., Kadoya, T., Esch, E., Cazelles, K., Lester, N., McCann, K.S., 2018. Context-dependent interactions and the regulation of species richness in freshwater fish. Nat. Commun. 9, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03419-1
- Magbanua, F.S., Townsend, C.R., Hageman, K.J., Matthaei, C.D., 2013. Individual and combined effects of fine sediment and the herbicide glyphosate on benthic macroinvertebrates and stream ecosystem function. Freshw. Biol. 58, 1729–1744. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12163
- Manning, D.W.P., Rosemond, A.D., Gulis, V., Benstead, J.P., Kominoski, J.S., 2018. Nutrients and temperature additively increase stream microbial respiration. Glob. Chang. Biol. 24, e233–e247. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13906
- Manning, D.W.P., Rosemond, A.D., Gulis, V., Benstead, J.P., Kominoski, J.S., Maerz, J.C., 2016. Convergence of detrital stoichiometry predicts thresholds of nutrient-stimulated breakdown in streams. Ecol. Appl. 26, 1745–1757. https://doi.org/10.1890/15-1217.1
- Mantyka-Pringle, C.S., Martin, T.G., Moffatt, D.B., Udy, J., Olley, J., Saxton, N., Sheldon, F., Bunn, S.E., Rhodes, J.R., 2016. Prioritizing management actions for the conservation of freshwater biodiversity under changing climate and land-cover. Biol. Conserv. 197, 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.02.033

Mantyka-Pringle, C., Leston, L., Messmer, D., Asong, E., Bayne, E.M., Bortolotti, L.E.,

Sekulic, G., Wheater, H., Howerter, D.W., Clark, R.G., 2019. Antagonistic, synergistic and direct effects of land use and climate on Prairie wetland ecosystems: Ghosts of the past or present? Divers. Distrib. 00, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12990

- Marleau, J.N., Guichard, F., Loreau, M., 2014. Meta-ecosystem dynamics and functioning on finite spatial networks. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 281, 20132094. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.2094
- Martínez, A., Canhoto, C., 2019. Functional redundancy in leaf-litter-associated aquatic hyphomycetes : Fine sediment alters community composition but hardly decomposer activity Functional redundancy in leaf litter associated aquatic hyphomycetes : Fine sediment alters community comp. Int. Rev. Hydrobiol. https://doi.org/10.1002/iroh.201901997
- Mason, N.W.H., De Bello, F., Mouillot, D., Pavoine, S., Dray, S., 2013. A guide for using functional diversity indices to reveal changes in assembly processes along ecological gradients. J. Veg. Sci. 24, 794–806. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.12013
- Mason, N.W.H., Pavoine, S., 2013. Does trait conservatism guarantee that indicators of phylogenetic community structure will reveal niche-based assembly processes along stress gradients? J. Veg. Sci. 24, 820–833. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.12033
- Matthaei, C.D., Piggott, J.J., Townsend, C.R., 2010. Multiple stressors in agricultural streams: Interactions among sediment addition, nutrient enrichment and water abstraction. J. Appl. Ecol. 47, 639–649. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2010.01809.x
- Maza-Márquez, P., Vilchez-Vargas, R., Kerckhof, F.M., Aranda, E., González-López, J., Rodelas, B., 2016. Community structure, population dynamics and diversity of fungi in a full-scale membrane bioreactor (MBR) for urban wastewater treatment. Water Res. 105, 507–519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.09.021
- McCabe, D.J., Gotelli, N.J., 2000. Effects of disturbance frequency, intensity, and area on assemblages of stream macroinvertebrates. Oecologia 124, 270–279. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420000369
- McCann, K.S., Rasmussen, J.B., Umbanhowar, J., 2005. The dynamics of spatially coupled food webs. Ecol. Lett. 8, 513–523. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00742.x
- McClain, M.E., Boyer, E.W., Dent, C.L., Gergel, S.E., Grimm, N.B., Groffman, P.M., Hart, S.C., Harvey, J.W., Johnston, C.A., Mayorga, E., McDowell, W.H., Pinay, G., 2003.
  Biogeochemical Hot Spots and Hot Moments at the Interface of Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecosystems. Ecosystems 6, 301–312. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-003-0161-9
- McMurdie, P.J., Holmes, S., 2014. Waste Not, Want Not: Why Rarefying Microbiome Data Is Inadmissible. PLoS Comput. Biol. 10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1003531
- McRae, L., Deinet, S., Freeman, R., 2017. The diversity-weighted living planet index: Controlling for taxonomic bias in a global biodiversity indicator. PLoS One 12, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0169156
- Menezes, S., Baird, D.J., Soares, A.M.V.M., 2010. Beyond taxonomy: a review of macroinvertebrate trait-based community descriptors as tools for freshwater biomonitoring. J. Appl. Ecol. 47, 711–719. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2010.01819.x
- MEP, 2002. Environmental Quality Standard of Surface Water (GB3838-2002\_.
- Merritt, R., Cummins, K., Berg, M., 2008. An Introduction to the Aquatic Insects of North

America, 4th ed. Kendall Hunt Publishing, Dubuque.

- Mor, J.-R., Dolédec, S., Acuña, V., Sabater, S., Muñoz, I., 2019. Invertebrate community responses to urban wastewater effluent pollution under different hydromorphological conditions. Environ. Pollut. 252, 483–492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.05.114
- Morales-Castilla, I., Matias, M.G., Gravel, D., Araújo, M.B., 2015. Inferring biotic interactions from proxies. Trends Ecol. Evol. 30, 347–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.03.014
- Morel-Journel, T., Assa, C.R., Mailleret, L., Vercken, E., 2019. Its all about connections: hubs and invasion in habitat networks. Ecol. Lett. 22, 313–321. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13192
- Musseau, C., Vincenzi, S., Santoul, F., Boulêtreau, S., Jesenšek, D., Crivelli, A.J., 2019. Within-individual trophic variability drives short-term intraspecific trait variation in natural populations. J. Anim. Ecol. 1–12. https://doi.org/10.2307/2256344
- Mustonen, K.-R., Mykrä, H., Louhi, P., Markkola, A., Tolkkinen, M., Huusko, A., Alioravainen, N., Lehtinen, S., Muotka, T., 2016. Sediments and flow have mainly independent effects on multitrophic stream communities and ecosystem functions. Ecol. Appl. 26, 2116–2129. https://doi.org/10.1890/15-1841.1
- Naeem, S., Thompson, L.J., Lawler, S.P., Lawton, J.H., Woodfin, R.M., 1994. Declining biodiversity can alter the performance of ecosystems. Nature 368, 734–737. https://doi.org/10.1038/368734a0
- Nakagawa, S., 2004. A farewell to Bonferroni: the problems of low statistical power and publication bias. Behav. Ecol. 15, 1044–1045. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arh107
- Nakagawa, S., Cuthill, I.C., 2007. Effect size, confidence interval and statistical significance: A practical guide for biologists. Biol. Rev. 82, 591–605. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2007.00027.x
- Newman, E.A., Kennedy, M.C., Falk, D.A., McKenzie, D., 2019. Scaling and complexity in landscape ecology. Front. Ecol. Evol. 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00293
- Newman, M.M., Liles, M.R., Feminella, J.W., 2015. Litter breakdown and microbial succession on two submerged leaf species in a small forested stream. PLoS One 10, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0130801
- Niyogi, D.K., Simon, K.S., Townsend, C.R., 2003. Breakdown of tussock grass in streams along a gradient of agricultural development in New Zealand. Freshw. Biol. 48, 1698–1708.
- Nõges, P., Argillier, C., Borja, Á., Garmendia, J.M., Hanganu, J., Kodeš, V., Pletterbauer, F., Sagouis, A., Birk, S., 2016. Quantified biotic and abiotic responses to multiple stress in freshwater, marine and ground waters. Sci. Total Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.06.045
- Nuy, J.K., Lange, A., Beermann, A.J., Jensen, M., Elbrecht, V., Röhl, O., Peršoh, D., Begerow, D., Leese, F., Boenigk, J., 2018. Responses of stream microbes to multiple anthropogenic stressors in a mesocosm study. Sci. Total Environ. 633, 1287–1301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.077
- O'Dowd, D.J., Green, P.T., Lake, P.S., 2003. Invasional "meltdown" on an oceanic island. Ecol. Lett. 6, 812–817. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2003.00512.x
- O'Gorman, E.J., Fitch, J.E., Crowe, T.P., 2012. Multiple anthrogenic stressors and the structural properties of food webs. Ecology 93, 441–448.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.1931

- O'Gorman, E.J., Petchey, O.L., Faulkner, K.J., Gallo, B., Gordon, T.A.C., Neto-Cerejeira, J., Ólafsson, J.S., Pichler, D.E., Thompson, M.S.A., Woodward, G., 2019. A simple model predicts how warming simplifies wild food webs. Nat. Clim. Chang. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0513-x
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H., Wagner, H., 2015. Community ecology package vegan [WWW Document]. URL http://www.r-project.org
- Ott, D., Digel, C., Rall, B.C., Maraun, M., Scheu, S., Brose, U., 2014. Unifying elemental stoichiometry and metabolic theory in predicting species abundances. Ecol. Lett. 17, 1247–1256. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12330
- Pascoal, C., Cássio, F., 2004. Contribution of Fungi and Bacteria to Leaf Litter Decomposition in a Polluted River Contribution of Fungi and Bacteria to Leaf Litter Decomposition in a Polluted River. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70, 5266–5273. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.9.5266
- Pauwels, K., Stoks, R., De Meester, L., 2010. Enhanced anti-predator defence in the presence of food stress in the water flea Daphnia magna. Funct. Ecol. 24, 322–329. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2009.01641.x
- Pearse, I.S., Altermatt, F., 2013. Extinction cascades partially estimate herbivore losses in a complete Lepidoptera-plant food web. Ecology 94, 1785–1794. https://doi.org/10.1890/12-1075.1
- Perino, A., Pereira, H.M., Navarro, L.M., Fernández, N., Bullock, J.M., Ceauşu, S., Cortés-Avizanda, A., van Klink, R., Kuemmerle, T., Lomba, A., Pe'er, G., Plieninger, T., Rey Benayas, J.M., Sandom, C.J., Svenning, J.-C., Wheeler, H.C., 2019. Rewilding complex ecosystems. Science (80-. ). 364, eaav5570. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aav5570
- Peterson, E.E., Ver Hoef, J.M., Isaak, D.J., Falke, J.A., Fortin, M.J., Jordan, C.E., McNyset, K., Monestiez, P., Ruesch, A.S., Sengupta, A., Som, N., Steel, E.A., Theobald, D.M., Torgersen, C.E., Wenger, S.J., 2013. Modelling dendritic ecological networks in space: An integrated network perspective. Ecol. Lett. 16, 707–719. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12084
- Petsch, D.K., Schneck, F., Melo, A.S., 2017. Substratum simplification reduces beta diversity of stream algal communities. Freshw. Biol. 62, 205–213. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12863
- Piggott, J.J., Niyogi, D.K., Townsend, C.R., Matthaei, C.D., 2015a. Multiple stressors and stream ecosystem functioning: Climate warming and agricultural stressors interact to affect processing of organic matter. J. Appl. Ecol. 52, 1126–1134. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12480
- Piggott, J.J., Salis, R.K., Lear, G., Townsend, C.R., Matthaei, C.D., 2015b. Climate warming and agricultural stressors interact to determine stream periphyton community composition. Glob. Chang. Biol. 21, 206–222. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12861
- Piggott, J.J., Townsend, C.R., Matthaei, C.D., 2015c. Climate warming and agricultural stressors interact to determine stream macroinvertebrate community dynamics. Glob. Chang. Biol. 21, 1887–1906. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12861
- Piggott, J.J., Townsend, C.R., Matthaei, C.D., 2015d. Reconceptualizing synergism and antagonism among multiple stressors. Ecol. Evol. 5, 1538–1547.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1465

- Pillai, P., Gonzalez, A., Loreau, M., 2011. Metacommunity theory explains the emergence of food web complexity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 19293–19298. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1106235108
- Pillar, V.D., Blanco, C.C., Müller, S.C., Sosinski, E.E., Joner, F., Duarte, L.D.S., 2013. Functional redundancy and stability in plant communities. J. Veg. Sci. 24, 963–974. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.12047
- Poff, N.L., 1997. Landscape Filters and Species Traits : Towards Mechanistic Understanding and Prediction in Stream Ecology. J. North Am. Benthol. Soc. 16, 391–409.
- Poff, N.L., Olden, J.D., Vieira, N.K.M., Finn, D.S., Mark, P., Kondratieff, B.C., Poff, N.L., Olden, J.D., 2006. Functional trait niches of North American lotic insects : traits-based ecological applications in light of phylogenetic relationships Published by : The University of Chicago Press on behalf of the Society for Freshwater Science Stable URL : http://www.js. J. North Am. Benthol. Soc. 25, 730–755.
- Poisot, T., Cirtwill, A.R., Cazelles, K., Gravel, D., Fortin, M.J., Stouffer, D.B., 2016. The structure of probabilistic networks. Methods Ecol. Evol. 7, 303–312. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12468
- Price, E.L., Sertić Perić, M., Romero, G.Q., Kratina, P., 2019. Land use alters trophic redundancy and resource flow through stream food webs. J. Anim. Ecol. 88, 677–689. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12955
- Prunier, J.G., Dubut, V., Loot, G., Tudesque, L., Blanchet, S., 2018. The relative contribution of river network structure and anthropogenic stressors to spatial patterns of genetic diversity in two freshwater fishes: A multiple-stressors approach. Freshw. Biol. 63, 6– 21. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.13034
- Purahong, W., Wubet, T., Lentendu, G., Schloter, M., Pecyna, M.J., Kapturska, D., Hofrichter, M., Krüger, D., Buscot, F., 2016. Life in leaf litter: novel insights into community dynamics of bacteria and fungi during litter decomposition. Mol. Ecol. 25, 4059–4074. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13739
- Quinn, G.P., Keough, M.J., 2002. Experimental design and data analysis for biologists. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Rabení, C.F., Doisy, K.E., Zweig, L.D., 2005. Stream invertebrate community functional responses to deposited sediment. Aquat. Sci. 67, 395–402. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-005-0793-2
- Raghupathi, P.K., Liu, W., Sabbe, K., Houf, K., Burmølle, M., Sørensen, S.J., 2018. Synergistic interactions within a multispecies biofilm enhance individual species protection against grazing by a pelagic protozoan. Front. Microbiol. 8, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.02649
- Raimundo, R.L.G., Guimarães, P.R., Evans, D.M., 2018. Adaptive Networks for Restoration Ecology. Trends Ecol. Evol. 33, 664–675. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2018.06.002
- Reid, A.J., Carlson, A.K., Creed, I.F., Eliason, E.J., Gell, P.A., Johnson, P.T., Kidd, K.A., MacCormack, T.J., Olden, J.D., Ormerod, S.J., Smol, J.P., Taylor, W.W., Tockner, K., Vermaire, J.C., Dudgeon, D., Cooke, S.J., 2019. Emerging threats and persistent conservation challenges for freshwater biodiversity. Biol. Rev. 94, 849–873. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12480
- Reiss, J., Bailey, R.A., Cássio, F., Woodward, G., Pascoal, C., 2010. Assessing the

contribution of micro-organisms and macrofauna to biodiversity-ecosystem functioning relationships in freshwater microcosms. Adv. Ecol. Res. 43, 151–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385005-8.00004-6

- Röhl, O., Peršoh, D., Mittelbach, M., Elbrecht, V., Brachmann, A., Nuy, J., Boenigk, J., Leese, F., Begerow, D., 2017. Distinct sensitivity of fungal freshwater guilds to water quality. Mycol. Prog. 16, 155–169. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11557-016-1261-1
- Romaní, A.M., Fischer, H., Mille-Lindblom, C., Tranvik, L.J., 2006. Interactions of bacteria and fungi on decomposing litter: Differential extracellular enzyme activities. Ecology 87, 2559–2569. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87
- Romero, F., Acuña, V., Font, C., Freixa, A., Sabater, S., 2019a. Effects of multiple stressors on river biofilms depend on the time scale. Sci. Rep. 9, 15810. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-52320-4
- Romero, F., Sabater, S., Font, C., Balcázar, J.L., Acuña, V., 2019b. Desiccation events change the microbial response to gradients of wastewater effluent pollution. Water Res. 151, 371–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.12.028
- Romero, F., Sabater, S., Timoner, X., Acuña, V., 2018. Multistressor effects on river biofilms under global change conditions. Sci. Total Environ. 627, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.01.161
- Ryo, M., Aguilar-Trigueros, C.A., Pinek, L., Muller, L.A.H., Rillig, M.C., 2019. Basic Principles of Temporal Dynamics. Trends Ecol. Evol. 2524, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2019.03.007
- Saaristo, M., Brodin, T., Balshine, S., Bertram, M.G., Brooks, B.W., Ehlman, S.M., McCallum, E.S., Sih, A., Sundin, J., Wong, B.B.M., Arnold, K.E., 2018. Direct and indirect effects of chemical contaminants on the behaviour, ecology and evolution of wildlife. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 285, 20181297. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.1297
- Sabater, S., Elosegi, A., Ludwig, R., 2019. Multiple Stressors in River Ecosystems: Status Impacts and Prospects for the Future. Elsevier.
- Sabater, S., Guasch, H., Ricart, M., Romaní, A., Vidal, G., Klünder, C., Schmitt-Jansen, M., 2007. Monitoring the effect of chemicals on biological communities. The biofilm as an interface. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 387, 1425–1434. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-006-1051-8
- Salis, R.K., Bruder, A., Piggott, J.J., Summerfield, T.C., Matthaei, C.D., 2017. Highthroughput amplicon sequencing and stream benthic bacteria: Identifying the best taxonomic level for multiple-stressor research. Sci. Rep. 7, 44657. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep44657
- Santschi, F., Gounand, I., Harvey, E., Altermatt, F., 2018. Leaf litter diversity and structure of microbial decomposer communities modulate litter decomposition in aquatic systems. Funct. Ecol. 32, 522–532. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12980
- Sato, T., El-Sabaawi, R.W., Campbell, K., Ohta, T., Richardson, J.S., 2016. A test of the effects of timing of a pulsed resource subsidy on stream ecosystems. J. Anim. Ecol. 85, 1136–1146. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12516
- Schäfer, R.B., Piggott, J.J., 2018. Advancing understanding and prediction in multiple stressor research through a mechanistic basis for null models. Glob. Chang. Biol. 24, 1817–1826. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14073

- Schiesari, L., Leibold, M.A., Burton, G.A., 2018. Metacommunities, metaecosystems and the environmental fate of chemical contaminants. J. Appl. Ecol. 55, 1553–1563. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13054
- Schindler, D.W., 2006. Recent advances in the understanding and management of eutrophication. Limnol. Oceanogr. 51, 356–363. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2006.51.1\_part\_2.0356
- Schuwirth, N., Dietzel, A., Reichert, P., Ferrari, M., 2016. The importance of biotic interactions for the prediction of macroinvertebrate communities under multiple stressors. Funct. Ecol. 30, 974–984. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12605
- Shimadzu, H., 2018. On species richness and rarefaction: size- and coverage-based techniques quantify different characteristics of richness change in biodiversity. J. Math. Biol. 77, 1363–1381. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00285-018-1255-5
- Sih, A., Bell, A.M., Kerby, J.L., 2004. Two stressors are far deadlier than one. Trends Ecol. Evol. 19, 274–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2004.02.010
- Sinsabaugh, R.L., Findlay, S., 1995. Microbial Production, Enzyme Activity, and Carbon Turnover in Surface Sediments of the Hudson River Estuary. Microb. Ecol. 30, 127– 141.
- Soliveres, S., Van Der Plas, F., Manning, P., Prati, D., Gossner, M.M., Renner, S.C., Alt, F., Arndt, H., Baumgartner, V., Binkenstein, J., Birkhofer, K., Blaser, S., Blüthgen, N., Boch, S., Böhm, S., Börschig, C., Buscot, F., Diekötter, T., Heinze, J., Hölzel, N., Jung, K., Klaus, V.H., Kleinebecker, T., Klemmer, S., Krauss, J., Lange, M., Morris, E.K., Müller, J., Oelmann, Y., Overmann, J., Pašalić, E., Rillig, M.C., Schaefer, H.M., Schloter, M., Schmitt, B., Schöning, I., Schrumpf, M., Sikorski, J., Socher, S.A., Solly, E.F., Sonnemann, I., Sorkau, E., Steckel, J., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Stempfhuber, B., Tschapka, M., Türke, M., Venter, P.C., Weiner, C.N., Weisser, W.W., Werner, M., Westphal, C., Wilcke, W., Wolters, V., Wubet, T., Wurst, S., Fischer, M., Allan, E., 2016. Biodiversity at multiple trophic levels is needed for ecosystem multifunctionality. Nature 536, 456–459. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature19092
- Speed, R.A., Li, Y., Tickner, D., Huang, H., Naiman, R.J., Cao, J., Lei, G., Yu, L., Sayers, P., Zhao, Z., Wei, Y., 2016. A framework for strategic river restoration in China. Water Int. 41, 998–1015. https://doi.org/10.1080/02508060.2016.1247311
- Statzner, B., Bêche, L.A., 2010. Can biological invertebrate traits resolve effects of multiple stressors on running water ecosystems? Freshw. Biol. 55, 80–119. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02369.x
- Steen, A.D., Crits-Christoph, A., Carini, P., DeAngelis, K.M., Fierer, N., Lloyd, K.G., Cameron Thrash, J., 2019. High proportions of bacteria and archaea across most biomes remain uncultured. ISME J. 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-019-0484-y
- Steiner, C.F., Long, Z.T., Krumins, J.A., Morin, P.J., 2005. Temporal stability of aquatic food webs: Partitioning the effects of species diversity, species composition and enrichment. Ecol. Lett. 8, 819–828. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00785.x
- Sterner, R.W., Hagemeier, D.D., Smith, W.L., Smith, R.F., 1993. Phytoplankton nutrient limitation and food quality for Daphnia. Limnol. Oceanogr. 38, 857–871. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1999.tb00573.x
- Stevens, C.L., Kurd, C.L., 1997. Boundary-layers around bladed aquatic macrophytes. Hydrobiologia 346, 119–128.

- Strokal, M., Ma, L., Bai, Z., Luan, S., Kroeze, C., Oenema, O., Velthof, G., Zhang, F., 2016. Alarming nutrient pollution of Chinese rivers as a result of agricultural transitions. Environ. Res. Lett. 11, 024014. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/11/2/024014
- Suberkropp, K., 1998. Effect of dissolved nutrients on two aquatic hyphomycetes growing on leaf litter. Mycol. Res. 102, 998–1002. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0953756297005807
- Suen, J.-P., 2010. Potential impacts to freshwater ecosystems caused by flow regime alteration under changing climate conditions in Taiwan. Hydrobiologia 649, 115–128. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-010-0234-7
- Tait, M., Larson, B.M.H., 2018. Entropy and the conceit of biodiversity management. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 27, 642–646. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12733
- Taniwaki, R.H., Matthaei, C.D., Cardoso, T.K.M., Ferraz, S.F.B., Martinelli, L.A., Piggott, J.J., 2019. The effect of agriculture on the seasonal dynamics and functional diversity of benthic biofilm in tropical headwater streams. Biotropica 51, 18–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/btp.12617
- Tank, J.L., Rosi-Marshall, E.J., Griffiths, N.A., Entrekin, S.A., Stephen, M.L., 2013. A review of allochthonous organic matter dynamics and metabolism in streams. J. North Am. Benthol. Soc. 29, 118–146. https://doi.org/10.1899/08-170.1
- Terui, A., Ishiyama, N., Urabe, H., Ono, S., Finlay, J.C., Nakamura, F., 2018. Metapopulation stability in branching river networks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 115, E5963–E5969. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1800060115
- Terui, A., Nishijima, S., 2019. Spatial disturbance synchrony alters the association of food chain length and ecosystem size. Ecol. Res. 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1703.12056
- Thompson, P.L., MacLennan, M.M., Vinebrooke, R.D., 2018. An improved null model for assessing the net effects of multiple stressors on communities. Glob. Chang. Biol. 24, 517–525. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13852
- Tiegs, S.D., Costello, D.M., Isken, M.W., Woodward, G., McIntyre, P.B., Gessner, M.O., Chauvet, E., Griffiths, N.A., Flecker, A.S., Acuña, V., Albariño, R., Allen, D.C., Alonso, C., Andino, P., Arango, C., Aroviita, J., Barbosa, M.V.M., Barmuta, L.A., Baxter, C. V., Bell, T.D.C., Bellinger, B., Boyero, L., Brown, L.E., Bruder, A., Bruesewitz, D.A., Burdon, F.J., Callisto, M., Canhoto, C., Capps, K.A., Castillo, M.M., Clapcott, J., Colas, F., Colón-Gaud, C., Cornut, J., Crespo-Pérez, V., Cross, W.F., Culp, J.M., Danger, M., Dangles, O., de Eyto, E., Derry, A.M., Villanueva, V.D., Douglas, M.M., Elosegi, A., Encalada, A.C., Entrekin, S., Espinosa, R., Ethaiya, D., Ferreira, V., Ferriol, C., Flanagan, K.M., Fleituch, T., Follstad Shah, J.J., Frainer Barbosa, A., Friberg, N., Frost, P.C., Garcia, E.A., García Lago, L., García Soto, P.E., Ghate, S., Giling, D.P., Gilmer, A., Gonçalves, J.F., Gonzales, R.K., Graça, M.A.S., Grace, M., Grossart, H.-P., Guérold, F., Gulis, V., Hepp, L.U., Higgins, S., Hishi, T., Huddart, J., Hudson, J., Imberger, S., Iñiguez-Armijos, C., Iwata, T., Janetski, D.J., Jennings, E., Kirkwood, A.E., Koning, A.A., Kosten, S., Kuehn, K.A., Laudon, H., Leavitt, P.R., Lemes da Silva, A.L., Leroux, S.J., LeRoy, C.J., Lisi, P.J., MacKenzie, R., Marcarelli, A.M., Masese, F.O., McKie, B.G., Oliveira Medeiros, A., Meissner, K., Miliša, M., Mishra, S., Miyake, Y., Moerke, A., Mombrikotb, S., Mooney, R., Moulton, T., Muotka, T., Negishi, J.N., Neres-Lima, V., Nieminen, M.L., Nimptsch, J., Ondruch, J., Paavola, R., Pardo, I., Patrick, C.J., Peeters, E.T.H.M., Pozo, J., Pringle, C., Prussian, A., Ouenta, E., Quesada, A., Reid, B., Richardson, J.S., Rigosi, A., Rincón, J., Rîşnoveanu, G., Robinson, C.T., Rodríguez-Gallego, L., Royer, T. V., Rusak, J.A., Santamans, A.C.,

Selmeczy, G.B., Simiyu, G., Skuja, A., Smykla, J., Sridhar, K.R., Sponseller, R., Stoler, A., Swan, C.M., Szlag, D., Teixeira-de Mello, F., Tonkin, J.D., Uusheimo, S., Veach, A.M., Vilbaste, S., Vought, L.B.M., Wang, C.-P., Webster, J.R., Wilson, P.B., Woelfl, S., Xenopoulos, M.A., Yates, A.G., Yoshimura, C., Yule, C.M., Zhang, Y.X., Zwart, J.A., 2019. Global patterns and drivers of ecosystem functioning in rivers and riparian zones. Sci. Adv. 5, eaav0486. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aav0486

- Tikhonov, G., Abrego, N., Dunson, D., Ovaskainen, O., 2017. Using joint species distribution models for evaluating how species-to-species associations depend on the environmental context. Methods Ecol. Evol. 8, 443–452. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12723
- Tilman, D., Downing, J.A., 1994. Biodiversity and stability in grasslands. Nature 367, 363–365.
- Tolkkinen, M., Mykrä, H., Annala, M., Markkola, A.M., Vuori, K.M., Muotka, T., 2015a. Multi-stressor impacts on fungal diversity and ecosystem functions in streams: Natural vs. anthropogenic stress. Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-0743.1.sm
- Tolkkinen, M., Mykrä, H., Annala, M., Markkola, A.M., Vuori, K.M., Muotka, T., 2015b. Multi-stressor impacts on fungal diversity and ecosystem functions in streams: natural vs. anthropogenic stress. Ecology 96, 672–683. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-0743.1
- Tolonen, K.E., Leinonen, K., Marttila, H., Erkinaro, J., Heino, J., 2017. Environmental predictability of taxonomic and functional community composition in high-latitude streams. Freshw. Biol. 62, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12832
- Tonkin, J.D., Altermatt, F., Finn, D.S., Heino, J., Olden, J.D., Pauls, S.U., Lytle, D.A., 2018. The role of dispersal in river network metacommunities: Patterns, processes, and pathways. Freshw. Biol. 63, 141–163. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.13037
- Townsend, C.R., 1989. The Patch Dynamics Concept of Stream Community Ecology. J. North Am. Benthol. Soc. 8, 36–50.
- Townsend, C.R., Hildr, 1994. Species traits in relation to a habitat templet for river systems. Freshw. Biol. 31, 265–275. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.1994.tb01740.x
- Trøjelsgaard, K., Olesen, J.M., 2016. Ecological networks in motion: micro- and macroscopic variability across scales. Funct. Ecol. 30, 1926–1935. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12710
- Tucker, C.M., Fukami, T., 2014. Environmental variability counteracts priority effects to facilitate species coexistence : Evidence from nectar microbes Environmental variability counteracts priority effects to facilitate species coexistence : evidence from nectar microbes. Proc. R. Soc. B 281, 20132637. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.2637
- Tylianakis, J.M., Laliberté, E., Nielsen, A., Bascompte, J., 2010. Conservation of species interaction networks. Biol. Conserv. 143, 2270–2279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2009.12.004
- Tylianakis, J.M., Morris, R.J., 2017. Ecological Networks Across Environmental Gradients. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 48, 25–48. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110316-022821
- Ullah, H., Nagelkerken, I., Goldenberg, S.U., Fordham, D.A., 2018. Climate change could drive marine food web collapse through altered trophic flows and cyanobacterial proliferation. PLoS Biol. 16, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2003446
- Vacher, C., Tamaddoni-Nezhad, A., Kamenova, S., Peyrard, N., Moalic, Y., Sabbadin, R., Schwaller, L., Chiquet, J., Smith, M.A., Vallance, J., Fievet, V., Jakuschkin, B., Bohan,

D.A., 2016. Learning Ecological Networks from Next-Generation Sequencing Data, Advances in Ecological Research. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2015.10.004

- Vannote, R.L., Minshall, G.W., Cummins, K.W., Sedell, J.R., Cushing, C.E., 1980. The River Continuum Concept. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 37, 130–137. https://doi.org/10.1139/f80-017
- Viana, D.S., Chase, J.M., 2019. Spatial scale modulates the inference of metacommunity assembly processes. Ecology 100, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2576
- Villéger, S., Mason, N.H., Mouillot, D., 2008. New Multidimentional Functional Diversity Indices for a Multifaceted Framework in Functional Ecology. Ecology 89, 2290–2301.
- Vinebrooke, R.D., Cottingham, K.L., Norberg, J., Scheffer, M., Dodson, S.I., Maberly, S.C., Sommer, U., 2004. Impacts of multiple stressors on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: The role of species co-tolerance. Oikos 104, 451–457. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2004.13255.x
- Vizza, C., Pechal, J.L., Benbow, M.E., Lang, J.M., Chaloner, D.T., Jones, S.E., Lamberti, G.A., 2018. Nitrate amendment reduces biofilm biomass and shifts microbial communities in remote, oligotrophic ponds. Freshw. Sci. 37, 251–263. https://doi.org/10.1086/697897
- von Schiller, D., Acuña, V., Aristi, I., Arroita, M., Basaguren, A., Bellin, A., Boyero, L., Butturini, A., Ginebreda, A., Kalogianni, E., Larrañaga, A., Majone, B., Martínez, A., Monroy, S., Muñoz, I., Paunović, M., Pereda, O., Petrovic, M., Pozo, J., Rodríguez-Mozaz, S., Rivas, D., Sabater, S., Sabater, F., Skoulikidis, N., Solagaistua, L., Vardakas, L., Elosegi, A., 2017. River ecosystem processes: A synthesis of approaches, criteria of use and sensitivity to environmental stressors. Sci. Total Environ. 596–597, 465–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.04.081
- Wagenhoff, A., Townsend, C.R., Matthaei, C.D., 2012. Macroinvertebrate responses along broad stressor gradients of deposited fine sediment and dissolved nutrients: a stream mesocosm experiment. J. Appl. Ecol. 49, 892–902. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2012.02162.x
- Wagenhoff, A., Townsend, C.R., Phillips, N., Matthaei, C.D., 2011. Subsidy-stress and multiple-stressor effects along gradients of deposited fine sediment and dissolved nutrients in a regional set of streams and rivers. Freshw. Biol. 56, 1916–1936. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2011.02619.x
- Wagner, K., Besemer, K., Burns, N.R., Battin, T.J., Bengtsson, M.M., 2015. Light availability affects stream biofilm bacterial community composition and function, but not diversity. Environ. Microbiol. 17, 5036–5047. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12913
- Webster, J.R., Newbold, J.D., Thomas, S.A., Valett, H.M., Mulholland, P.J., 2009. Nutrient uptake and mineralization during leaf decay in streams-a model simulation. Int. Rev. Hydrobiol. 94, 372–390. https://doi.org/10.1002/iroh.200811158
- Weise, H., Auge, H., Baessler, C., Bärlund, I., Bennett, E.M., Berger, U., Bohn, F., Bonn, A., Borchardt, D., Brand, F., Chatzinotas, A., Corstanje, R., De Laender, F., Dietrich, P., Dunker, S., Durka, W., Fazey, I., Groeneveld, J., Guilbaud, C.S.E., Harms, H., Harpole, S., Harris, J., Jax, K., Jeltsch, F., Johst, K., Joshi, J., Klotz, S., Kühn, I., Kuhlicke, C., Müller, B., Radchuk, V., Reuter, H., Rinke, K., Schmitt-Jansen, M., Seppelt, R., Singer, A., Standish, R.J., Thulke, H.-H., Tietjen, B., Weitere, M., Wirth, C., Wolf, C., Grimm, V., 2020. Resilience trinity: safeguarding ecosystem functioning and services across

three different time horizons and decision contexts. Oikos oik.07213. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.07213

- Wey, J.K., Jürgens, K., Weiterea, M., 2012. Seasonal and successional influences on bacterial community composition exceed that of protozoan grazing in river biofilms. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78, 2013–2024. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.06517-11
- White, L., Donohue, I., Emmerson, M.C., O'Connor, N.E., 2018. Combined effects of warming and nutrients on marine communities are moderated by predators and vary across functional groups. Glob. Chang. Biol. 24, 5853–5866. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14456
- Widder, S., Allen, R.J., Pfeiffer, T., Curtis, T.P., Wiuf, C., Sloan, W.T., Cordero, O.X., Brown, S.P., Momeni, B., Shou, W., Kettle, H., Flint, H.J., Haas, A.F., Laroche, B., Kreft, J.U., Rainey, P.B., Freilich, S., Schuster, S., Milferstedt, K., Van Der Meer, J.R., Grobkopf, T., Huisman, J., Free, A., Picioreanu, C., Quince, C., Klapper, I., Labarthe, S., Smets, B.F., Wang, H., Soyer, O.S., Allison, S.D., Chong, J., Lagomarsino, M.C., Croze, O.A., Hamelin, J., Harmand, J., Hoyle, R., Hwa, T.T., Jin, Q., Johnson, D.R., de Lorenzo, V., Mobilia, M., Murphy, B., Peaudecerf, F., Prosser, J.I., Quinn, R.A., Ralser, M., Smith, A.G., Steyer, J.P., Swainston, N., Tarnita, C.E., Trably, E., Warren, P.B., Wilmes, P., 2016. Challenges in microbial ecology: Building predictive understanding of community function and dynamics. ISME J. 10, 2557–2568. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2016.45
- Widder, S., Besemer, K., Singer, G.A., Ceola, S., Bertuzzo, E., Quince, C., 2014. Fluvial network organization imprints on microbial co-occurrence networks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111, 12799–12804. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1411723111
- Wilkinson, C.L., Yeo, D.C.J., Tan, H.H., Fikri, A.H., Ewers, R.M., 2018. Land-use change is associated with a significant loss of freshwater fish species and functional richness in Sabah, Malaysia. Biol. Conserv. 222, 164–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.04.004
- Wilson, M.C., Li, X.Y., Ma, Y.J., Smith, A.T., Wu, J., 2017. A Review of the economic, social, and environmental impacts of China's South–North Water Transfer Project: A sustainability perspective. Sustainability 9, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9081489
- Wisz, M.S., Pottier, J., Kissling, W.D., Pellissier, L., Lenoir, J., Damgaard, C.F., Dormann, C.F., Forchhammer, M.C., Grytnes, J.A., Guisan, A., Heikkinen, R.K., Høye, T.T., Kühn, I., Luoto, M., Maiorano, L., Nilsson, M.C., Normand, S., Öckinger, E., Schmidt, N.M., Termansen, M., Timmermann, A., Wardle, D.A., Aastrup, P., Svenning, J.C., 2013. The role of biotic interactions in shaping distributions and realised assemblages of species: Implications for species distribution modelling. Biol. Rev. 88, 15–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2012.00235.x
- Wood, P.J., Armitage, P.D., 1997. Biological effects of fine sediment in the lotic environment. Environ. Manage. 21, 203–217. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.7604
- Woodward, G., Bonada, N., Brown, L.E., Death, R.G., Durance, I., Gray, C., Hladyz, S., Ledger, M.E., Milner, A.M., Ormerod, S.J., Thompson, R.M., Pawar, S., 2016. The effects of climatic fluctuations and extreme events on running water ecosystems. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 371, 20150274. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2015.0274
- Woodward, G., Gessner, M.O., Giller, P.S., Gulis, V., Hladyz, S., Lecerf, A., Malmqvist, B., McKie, B.G., Tiegs, S.D., Cariss, H., Dobson, M., Elosegi, A., Ferreira, V., Graça, M.A.S., Fleituch, T., Lacoursière, J.O., Nistorescu, M., Pozo, J., Risnoveanu, G.,

Schindler, M., Vadineanu, A., Vought, L.B.-M., Chauvet, E., 2012. Continental-Scale Effects of Nutrient Pollution on Stream Ecosystem Functioning. Science (80-. ). 336, 1438–1440. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1219534

- Woodward, G., Perkins, D.M., Brown, L.E., 2010. Climate change and freshwater ecosystems: impacts across multiple levels of organization. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 365, 2093–2106. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0055
- Wootton, K.L., Stouffer, D.B., 2016. Many weak interactions and few strong; food-web feasibility depends on the combination of the strength of species' interactions and their correct arrangement. Theor. Ecol. 9, 185–195. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12080-015-0279-3
- Wright, J.T., Gribben, P.E., 2017. Disturbance-mediated facilitation by an intertidal ecosystem engineer. Ecology 98, 2425–2436. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.1932
- Wu, N., Thodsen, H., Andersen, H.E., Tornbjerg, H., Baattrup-Pedersen, A., Riis, T., 2019. Flow regimes filter species traits of benthic diatom communities and modify the functional features of lowland streams - a nationwide scale study. Sci. Total Environ. 651, 357–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.09.210
- Xiao, X., Liang, Y., Zhou, S., Zhuang, S., Sun, B., 2018. Fungal community reveals less dispersal limitation and potentially more connected network than that of bacteria in bamboo forest soils. Mol. Ecol. 27, 550–563. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.14428
- Zeglin, L.H., 2015. Stream microbial diversity in response to environmental changes: Review and synthesis of existing research. Front. Microbiol. 6, article 454. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00454
- Zhang, J., Wang, E.T., Singh, R.P., Guo, C., Shang, Y., Chen, J., Liu, C., 2019. Grape berry surface bacterial microbiome: impact from the varieties and clones in the same vineyard from central China. J. Appl. Microbiol. 126, 204–214. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.14124
- Zhang, Y., Juvigny-Khenafou, N.P.D., Xiang, H., Lin, Q., Wu, Z., 2019. Multiple Stressors in China's Freshwater Ecoregions, in: Sabater, S., Elosegi, A., Ludwig, R. (Eds.), Multiple Stressors in River Ecosystems. Elsevier, pp. 193–204.
- Zhang, Y., Malmqvist, B., 1997. Phenotypic plasticity in a suspension-feeding Insect, Simulium lundstromi (Diptera : Simuliidae), in response to current velocity. Oikos 78, 503–510.
- Zhao, S., Peng, C., Jiang, H., Tian, D., Lei, X., Zhou, X., 2006. Land use change in Asia and the ecological consequences. Ecol. Res. 21, 890–896. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-006-0048-2
- Zuo, D., Xu, Z., Yao, W., Jin, S., Xiao, P., Ran, D., 2016. Assessing the effects of changes in land use and climate on runoff and sediment yields from a watershed in the Loess Plateau of China. Sci. Total Environ. 544, 238–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.11.060

## Appendices



# Chapter 2

Figure S2.1: Relative abundances of the bacterial assemblages in decomposing leaf material at the class level after senescence, 2 weeks and 3 weeks of stressor exposure. C: Control; N: Nutrient enrichment; F: Flow velocity reduction; S: Sediment addition; NF: Nutrient + Flow; NS: Nutrient + Sediment; SF: Sediment + Flow; NFS: All three stressors; T: Terrestrial litter



Figure S2.2: Bacterial genera relative abundances in decomposing leaf material after senescence, 2 weeks and 3 weeks of stressor exposure. C: Control; N: Nutrient enrichment; F: Flow velocity reduction; S: Sediment addition; NF: Nutrient + Flow; NS: Nutrient + Sediment; SF: Sediment + Flow; NFS: All three stressors; T: Terrestrial litter





Taxonomy

Aequabiliella Alatospora Amphisphaeria Anguillospora Ascocoryne Aureobasidium Bartalinia Calcarisporium Caldosporium Colletotorichum Corynespora Currva Currva Curvularia Dothidea Epicoccum Glonium

Goniopila Hyponectria Knufia Lunulospora Macrophomina Microdochium Mycosphaerella Other fungi Penicillium Pestalotiopsis Phialemonium Pyrenochaeta unclassified Wiesneriomyces

Figure S2.3: Fungal genera relative abundances in decomposing leaf material after senescence, 2 weeks and 3 weeks of stressor exposure. C: Control; N: Nutrient enrichment; F: Flow velocity reduction; S: Sediment addition; NF: Nutrient + Flow; NS: Nutrient + Sediment; SF: Sediment + Flow; NFS: All three stressors; T: Terrestrial litter



Figure S2.4: Bacterial community genus richness in decomposing leaf material, Shannon's diversity index and Pielou's evenness index (with standard errors) in the experimental treatments.



Figure S2.5: Fungal community genus richness in decomposing leaf material, Shannon's diversity index and Pielou's evenness index (with standard errors) in the experimental treatments.

Response	Nutrient	Sediment	Flow	Time	Nutrient X	Nutrient X	Nutrient X	Sediment X	Sediment X	Flow X	Nutrient X	Nutrient X	Nutrient X	Sediment X	Nutrient X
					Sediment	Flow	Time	Flow	Time	Time	Sediment	Sediment	Flow	Flow	Sediment
											Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
											Flow	Time	Time	Time	Flow
															Х
															Time
Bacterial	0.92	0.72	0.33	0.54	0.82	0.49	0.63	0.63	0.77	0.38	0.29	0.15	0.35	0.70	0.13
community	F=0.49	F=0.66	F=1.12	F=1.25	F=0.60	F=0.91	F=0.75	F=0.65	F=1.49	F=1.04	F=1.19	F=1.45	F=1.09	F=0.74	F=1.52
-	R <sub>2</sub> =0.007	$R_2=0.01$	$R_2 = 0.02$	$R_2 = 0.02$	$R_2 = 0.01$	R2=0.01	R2=0.01	R2=0.01	$R_2=0.02$	$R_2=0.02$	$R_2=0.02$	R2=0.02	R2=0.02	R2=0.01	$R_2=0.02$
Fungal	0.001	0.88	0.04	0.04	0.20	0.98	0.70	0.15	0.70	0.17	0.85	0.99	0.46	0.83	0.66
community	F=8.76,	F=0.38,	F=2.45,	F=2.33,	F=1.44,	F=0.15	F=0.61	F=1.60	F=0.61	F=1.50	F=0.44	F=0.06	F=0.88	F=0.44	F=0.66
	$R_2=0.12$	$R_2=0.005$	$R_2=0.03$	$R_2 = 0.03$	$R_2 = 0.02$	$R_2=0.002$	$R_2=0.008$	$R_2=0.02$	$R_2=0.009$	$R_2=0.02$	$R_2=0.006$	$R_2=0.001$	$R_2=0.01$	$R_2=0.006$	$R_2=0.009$

Table S1: Multivariate PERMANOVA results (p-values, F-values and R2-values) for the total microbial communities (all genera, including rare ones).

Fig S2.6: Interaction plots and graphs needed for the *Community compositional changes* result section

Panels 1- 4, 12 - 21 are the 2-way interaction graphs to assess the direction of the response variable (y-axis) mean values to the different stressor 2-way combinations. The x-axis categorical code 0 and 1 refers to mesocosm without the stressor applied (0) and mesocosm with the stressor applied (1). The same applied for the legend box where the color line associated with 0 refers to mesocosms without the stressors and the line associated with 1 refers to mesocosms without the stressors and the line associated with 1 refers to mesocosms without the stressors and the line associated with 1 refers to mesocosms without the stressors and the line associated with 1 refers to mesocosms where the stressor is applied. The lines represent the direction of the interaction and not a continuous measurement along the x-axis. Therefore, taking panel 1 as an example, when there is no sediment and no nutrient applied to the mesocosm, the mean value of the Shannon diversity is ~3.64. When sediment is added this value decreases slightly below 3.64. When no sediment is added but nutrient concentration is enriched, the mean Shannon diversity of the mesocosms is ~3.65. This value decreases to below 3.61 when both nutrient and sediment are added.

Additional abbreviation used are as follow: w2, Week 2; w3, Week 3.

5-11 are the bar plots of the response variable mean values with standard errors under different stressor and temporal combinations.



Interaction Plot w2



Interaction Plot w2



Nutrient addition





Nutrient addition







Interaction Plot w2











## Chapter 3

### Detailed description of the interaction patterns for the abundant bacterial general:

Interactions among the stressors affected all but one (*Rhizobiales*) of the 13 abundant taxa. Nutrients x sediment interactions occurred in seven taxa (53.8%). Relative abundances of *Planctomycetales* (Fig. S3.13), *Spartobacteria\_uncl* (Fig. S3.21), *Sphingobacteriales* (Fig. S3.23) and *Xanthomonadales* (Fig. S3.30) all increased more strongly in nutrient-enriched than in non-enriched mesocosms when sediment was added. The opposite was seen in *Pseudomonadales* (faster decrease with sediment in nutrient-enriched mesocosms, Fig. S3.16). *Sphingomonadales* barely responded to sediment addition alone but decreased markedly when both sediment and nutrients were added (Fig. S3.25). Sediment alone decreased *Verrucomicrobiales*, but this effect was reversed when nutrients were also added (Fig. S3.27).

Nutrients x flow velocity interactions occurred in two taxa (15.4%). Both *Acidimicrobiales* (Fig. S3.7) and *Rhodabacterales* (Fig. S3.18) decreased in relative abundance at fast flow velocity when nutrients were added but this response was reversed at reduced flow velocity.

Sediment x flow velocity interactions occurred in 12 taxa (92.3%). *Acidimicrobiales* (Fig. S3.8, this interaction overrode the positive flow velocity reduction main effect) and *Actinomycetales* (Fig. S3.10) both increased more strongly with sediment addition in fast-flowing mesocosms. *Burkhodariales* (Fig. S3.11), *Rhodobacterales* (Fig. S3.19), *Rhodospirillales* (Fig. S3.20), *Verrucomicrobiales* (Fig. S3.28) and *Xanthomonadales* (Fig. S3.29) all increased when sediment alone was added but either lost this increase (*Burkhodariales, Xanthomonadales*; this interaction overrode the positive sediment main effect on these taxa) or decreased when added sediment was combined with flow velocity reduction. The opposite pattern (negative response to sediment lost when combined with flow velocity reduction) was observed in *Pseudomonadales* (Fig. S3.14) and *Sphingomonadales* (Fig. S3.26; this interaction overrode the negative sediment main effect for both taxa). *Planctomycetales* (Fig. S12), *Spartobacteria\_uncl* (Fig. S3.22) and *Sphingobacteriales* (Fig. S3.24) all increased with added sediment at fast flow velocity, but less so (or not at all: *Planctomycetales*) at reduced flow velocity.

Three-way interactions among all stressors occurred for four taxa (30.7%). All were relatively weak and did not override any lower-order interactions. *Acidimicrobiales* (Fig. S3.9), *Rhodobacterales* (Fig. S3.17) and *Xanthomonadales* (Fig. S3.31) all increased in relative abundance when flow velocity was reduced, especially in nutrient-enriched mesocosms, but this positive effect was diminished or disappeared in the presence of sediment (were relative abundances were similarly high at both flow velocities). By contrast, *Pseudomonadales* were most abundant in mesocosms without sediment and enriched in nutrients, but decreased strongly when flow velocity was reduced (Fig. S3.15). This negative effect was dampened in mesocosms with added sediment where the taxon was generally much less abundant.

#### Detailed description of the interaction patterns for the abundant function:

Stressor interactions were common, with four (57.1%) of the seven abundant bacterial functions showing nutrients x sediment, six (85.7%) sediment x flow velocity and three (42.8%)

nutrients x sediment x flow velocity interactions. Sulfide oxidizers (Fig. S3.36) and xylan degraders (Fig. S3.43) increased more strongly when sediment and nutrients were added together than when only sediment was added. Sulfate reducers (Fig. S3.47) and ammonia oxidizers (Fig. S3.49) showed the opposite pattern (stronger decrease when both sediment and nutrients added than for sediment alone).

Sulfide oxidizers (Fig. S3.35) & chitin degraders (Fig. S3.39) increased strongly with sediment addition at fast flow but much less so at reduced flow velocity. This interaction overrode the weaker flow velocity main effect on the two taxa. Xylan degraders (Fig. S3.42) and nitrogen fixers (Fig. S3.45) increased more markedly with sediment addition at fast than at reduced flow velocity. Sulfate reducers (Fig. S3.46) and ammonia oxidizers (Fig. S3.48) showed the opposite pattern (stronger decrease with sediment addition at fast than at reduced flow velocity).

Three-way interactions occurred for three of the seven bacterial functions (42.8%). All were weak and did not override any lower-order interactions. Chitin degraders (Fig. S3.38), xylan degraders (Fig. S3.41) and nitrogen fixers (Fig. S3.44) all increased in relative abundance when flow velocity was reduced, especially in nutrient-enriched mesocosms, but this positive effect was lessened or disappeared in the presence of sediment (where relative abundances were similarly high at both flow velocities).

Finally, two stressor main effects changed with time for sulfide oxidizers (flow velocity x time: positive effect of velocity reduction stronger after 3 weeks than after 2 weeks, Fig. S3.33; sediment x time: positive effect of added sediment weaker after 3 weeks, Fig. S3.34), and so did the shape of the 3-way interaction for three functions (chitin degraders, dehalogenizers, sulfide oxidizers). The latter two interactions occurred for functions where the three-way interaction itself was not significant, therefore these 4-way interactions will not be interpreted because they are unlikely to be biologically meaningful. For chitin degraders, in week 2 abundances in mesocosms with sediment addition were lower at reduced flow velocity than at fast flow in both nutrient treatments, but in week 3 this flow-velocity-related pattern was reversed in non-enriched mesocosms with added sediment (Fig. S3.37).



Figure S3.1: Interaction plot between the sediment and nutrient addition treatments for the Shannon diversity index.



Figure S3.2: Interaction plot between the sediment and nutrient addition treatments for Pielou's evenness index.



Figure S3.3: Interaction plot between the sediment and flow velocity reduction addition treatments for the Shannon diversity index.



Figure S3.4: Interaction plot between the sediment and flow velocity reduction treatments for Pielou's evenness index.



Figure S3.5: Relative abundance of Acidimicrobiales (mean +- SE) in the flow velocity treatments across the two sampling dates.



Figure S3.6: Actinomycetales relative abundance evolution through time of exposure to the sediment treatment.



Figure S3.7: Relative abundance of Acidimicrobiales: interaction plot between the flow velocity reduction and nutrient treatments.



Figure S3.8: Acidimicrobiales relative abundance interaction plot between the flow velocity reduction and sediment treatment.



Figure S3.9: Acidimicrobiales relative abundance interaction plot between the three stressors.



Figure S3.10: Actinomycetales relative abundance interaction plot between the flow velocity reduction and sediment treatment.



Figure S3.11: Burkholderiales relative abundance interaction plot between the flow velocity reduction and sediment treatment.



Figure S3.12: Planctomycetales relative abundance interaction plot between the flow velocity reduction and sediment treatment.



Figure S3.13: Planctomycetales relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment and nutrient treatment.



Figure S3.14: Pseudomonadales relative abundance interaction plot between the flow velocity reduction and sediment treatment.



Figure S3.15: Pseudomonadales relative abundance interaction plot between the three stressors.


Figure S3.16: Pseudomonadales relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment and nutrient treatment.



Figure S3.17: Rhodobacterales relative abundance interaction plot between the three stressors.



Figure S3.18: Rhodobacterales relative abundance interaction plot between the flow velocity reduction and nutrient treatment.



Figure S3.19: Rhodobacterales relative abundance interaction plot between the flow velocity reduction and sediment treatment.



Figure S3.20: Rhodospirillales relative abundance interaction plot between the flow velocity reduction and sediment treatment.



Figure S3.21: Spartobacteria\_uncl relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment and nutrient treatment.



Figure S3.22: Spartobacteria\_uncl relative abundance interaction plot between the flow velocity reduction and sediment treatment.



Figure S3.23: Sphingobacteriales relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment and nutrient treatment.



Figure S3.24: Sphingobacteriales relative abundance interaction plot between the flow velocity reduction and sediment treatment.



Figure S3.25: Sphingomonadales relative abundance interaction plot between the sedimentand nutrient treatment.



Figure S3.26: Sphingomonadales relative abundance interaction plot between the flow velocity reduction and sediment treatment.



Figure S3.27: Verrucomicrobiales relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment and nutrient treatment.



Figure S3.28: Verrucomicrobiales relative abundance interaction plot between the flow velocity reduction and sediment treatment.



Figure S3.29: Xanthomonadales relative abundance interaction plot between the flow velocity reduction and sediment treatment.



Figure S3.30: Xanthomonadales relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment and nutrient treatment.



Figure S3.31: Xanthomonadales relative abundance interaction plot between the three stressors.



Figure S3.32: Sulfide oxidation predicted function relative abundance changes to the three different stressors over time.



Figure S3.33: Sulfide oxidation predicted function relative abundance changes to the flow velocity reduction over time.



Figure S3.34: Sulfide oxidation predicted function relative abundance changes to the sediment addition over time.



Figure S3.35: Sulfide oxidation predicted function relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment addition and flow velocity reduction stressors.



Figure S3.36: Sulfide oxidation predicted function relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment addition and the nutrient enrichment stressors.



Figure S3.37: Chitin degradation predicted function relative abundance changes to the three different stressors over time.



Figure S3.38: Chitin degradation predicted function relative abundance changes to the three stressors.



Figure S3.39: Chitin degradation predicted function relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment addition and the flow velocity reduction stressors.



Figure S3.40: Dehalogenation predicted function relative abundance changes to the three different stressors over time.



Figure S3.41: Xylan degradation predicted function relative abundance changes to the three different stressors.



Figure S3.42: Xylan degradation predicted function relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment addition and the flow velocity reduction stressors.



Figure S3.43: Xylan degradation predicted function relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment addition and nutrient enrichment stressors.



Figure S3.44: Nitrogen fixation predicted function relative abundance changes to the three different stressors.



Figure S3.45: Nitrogen fixation predicted function relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment addition and the flow velocity reduction stressors.





Figure S3.46: Sulfate reduction predicted function relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment addition and the flow velocity reduction stressors.



Figure S3.47: Sulfate reduction predicted function relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment addition and nutrient enrichment stressors.

Ammonia.oxidizer interaction Plot



Figure S3.48: Ammonia oxidation predicted function relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment addition and the flow velocity reduction stressors.



Figure S3.49: Ammonia oxidation predicted function relative abundance interaction plot between the sediment addition and nutrient enrichment stressors.

Week	Treatment	Taxon	Individual	Cumulative
			contribution	contribution
2	Nutrient enrichment	Pseudomonadales	0.37	0.37
		Rhodobacterales	0.14	0.51
		Sphingomonadales	0.12	0.63
		Verrucomicrobiales	0.06	0.69
		Rhizobiales	0.05	0.74
	Sediment addition	Pseudomonadales	0.34	0.34
		Rhodobacterales	0.11	0.45
		Verrucomicrobiales	0.15	0.60
		Rhizobiales	0.04	0.64
		Planctomycetales	0.05	0.69
		Sphingobacteriales	0.04	0.73
	Flow reduction	Pseudomonadales	0.34	0.34
		Rhodobacterales	0.15	0.49
		Sphingomonadales	0.11	0.60
		Verrucomicrobiales	0.09	0.69
		Planctomycetales	0.05	0.74
	Nutrient	Pseudomonadales	0.32	0.32
	+ Sediment	Rhodobacterales	0.1	0.42
		Sphingomonadales	0.11	0.53
		Planctomycetales	0.09	0.62
		Verrucomicrobiales	0.08	0.70
		Rhizobiales	0.03	0.73
	Nutrient	Pseudomonadales	0.33	0.33
	+ Flow	Rhodobacterales	0.19	0.52
		Sphingomonadales	0.09	0.61
		Verrucomicrobiales	0.1	0.71
	Sediment	Pseudomonadales	0.33	0.33
	+ Flow	Rhodobacterales	0.12	0.45
		Sphingomonadales	0.1	0.55
		Verrucomicrobiales	0.06	0.61
		Planctomycetales	0.06	0.67
		Sphingobacteriales	0.06	0.73
	Nutrient	Pseudomonadales	0.33	0.33
	+ Flow + Sediment	Rhodobacterales	0.12	0.45
		Sphingomonadales	0.1	0.55
		Planctomycetales	0.06	0.61
		Verrucomicrobiales	0.07	0.68
		Sphingobacteriales	0.05	0.73
3	Nutrient	Pseudomonadales	0.37	0.37
	enrichment	Rhodobacterales	0.11	0.48

Table S3.1: SIMPER analysis results. The cumulative taxa accounted for >70% of the variation between the control treatment and the stressor treatments.

		Sphingomonadales	0.11	0.59
		Rhizobiales	0.08	0.67
		Planctomycetales	0.05	0.72
	Sediment addition	Pseudomonadales	0.36	0.36
		Sphingomonadales	0.11	0.47
		Rhodobacterales	0.09	0.56
		Planctomycetales	0.07	0.63
		Rhizobiales	0.06	0.69
		Verrucomicrobiales	0.04	0.73
	Flow reduction	Pseudomonadales	0.34	0.34
		Rhodobacterales	0.15	0.49
		Sphingomonadales	0.11	0.60
		Verrucomicrobiales	0.08	0.68
		Planctomycetales	0.07	0.75
	Nutrient	Pseudomonadales	0.37	0.37
	+ Sediment	Sphingomonadales	0.1	0.47
		Rhodobacterales	0.07	0.54
		Planctomycetales	0.07	0.61
		Sphingobacteriales	0.06	0.67
		Rhizobiales	0.04	0.71
	Nutrient + Flow	Pseudomonadales	0.35	0.35
		Rhodobacterales	0.19	0.54
		Sphingomonadales	0.1	0.64
		Rhizobiales	0.05	0.69
		Planctomycetales	0.06	0.75
	Sediment	Pseudomonadales	0.4	0.40
	+ Flow	Rhodobacterales	0.08	0.48
		Sphingomonadales	0.08	0.56
		Sphingobacteriales	0.07	0.63
		Rhizobiales	0.06	0.69
		Planctomycetales	0.06	0.75
	Nutrient	Pseudomonadales	0.38	0.38
	+ Flow +	Sphingomonadales	0.1	0.48
		Rhodobacterales	0.09	0.57
	Sediment	Planctomycetales	0.09	0.66
		Sphingobacteriales	0.05	0.71



Figure S4.1: Average number of benthic invertebrates in the two flow velocity treatments on the two sampling occasions (Error Bars =  $\pm - SE$ , n = 16).



Figure S4.2: Average evenness (Pielou's) of the benthic invertebrate community across the experimental treatments. (Error Bars = +/- SE, n = 8 per treatment combination).

## Common invertebrate taxa stressor interactions:

Numbers of Nemouridae (Fig. S4.3) and dipteran pupae (Fig. S4.4) remained stable or increased when sediment alone was added but decreased when flow velocity was reduced as well. For Nemouridae, this interaction overrode the weaker, negative sediment main effect (Table 4.3). Further, the negative effect of flow velocity reduction on Baetidae was stronger in the absence of fine sediment (Fig S4.5). Ephemerellidae increased in abundance in nutrient-enriched mesocosms at fast flow but decreased when enrichment was combined with reduced flow velocity (Fig S4.6). Finally, Chironomidae abundance increased with reduced flow velocity in non-enriched and sediment-free channels, whereas they decreased (or were unaffected) with reduced flow velocity in all other treatment combinations (Fig S4.7). By

contrast, Gordiidae abundance was highest when nutrients were added and flow velocity was reduced in the absence of sediment, but lowest when all three stressors were applied (Fig. S4.8).



Figure S4.3: Interactive effects of flow velocity reduction and sediment addition on the abundance of Nemouridae.



Figure S4.4: Interactive effects of flow velocity reduction and sediment addition on the abundance of Diptera pupae.



Figure S4.5: Interactive effects of flow velocity reduction and sediment addition on the abundance of Baetidae.



Figure S4.6: Interactive effects of flow velocity reduction and nutrient enrichment on the abundance of Ephemerillidae.



Figure S4.7: Average number of Chironomidae in the two flow velocity treatments on the two sampling occasions (Error Bars = +/- SE, n = 8).



Figure S4.9: Average number of Gordiidae in the two flow velocity treatments on the two sampling occasions (Error Bars = +/- SE, n = 8).

## Stressor effects on functional diversity and traits

Interactive stressor effects on trait variables were fairly rare, but interactions between sediment and current velocity reduction as well as between nutrients and velocity reduction were seen in the relative abundances of the two morphological traits and those of shredders, respectively. When flow velocity was reduced, the proportion of streamlined individual generally decreased; however, the slope was smaller in mesocosms with sediment added (Fig. S4.11). The opposite pattern was seen for non-streamlined organisms (Fig. S4.12). For shredders, relative abundance decreased when nutrients were added at fast flow velocities but this pattern was reversed at reduced flow velocity (Fig. S4.13).



Figure S4.10: Flow velocity main effects across sampling dates on the average relative abundance of shredding invertebrates (Error Bars =  $\pm$  - SE, n=16).



Figure S4.11: Interactive effects of flow velocity reduction and sediment addition on the relative abundance of streamlined macroinvertebrates.



Figure S4.12: Interactive effects of flow velocity reduction and sediment addition on the relative abundance of non-streamlined macroinvertebrates.



Figure S4.13: Interactive effects of flow velocity reduction and nutrient enrichment on the relative abundance of shredding macroinvertebrates.